School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science

## Biosystematic revision of the Spergularia echinosperma complex

Ph.D. Thesis

Mgr. Pavel Kúr

Supervisor: Ing. Milan Štech, Ph.D.

Department of Botany, Faculty of Science University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice

České Budějovice 2017

This thesis should be cited as:

Kúr, P. (2017): Biosystematic revision of the *Spergularia echinosperma* complex. Ph.D. Thesis Series, No. 1. University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 100 pp.

## Annotation

This thesis is focused on the biosystematic study of the Central-European endemic *Spergularia echinosperma*. With the combined use of morphometric analyses, genome size measurements and molecular tools, the taxonomic issues associated with this species have been clarified. The existence of *S. kurkae*, a stable allotetraploid hybrid between diploid *S. echinosperma* and tetraploid *S. rubra*, has been proven. Based on several lines of evidence, including distinct morphological separation and frequent occurrence in the absence of the parental species, treating *S. kurkae* as a separate species is proposed. In addition, two infraspecific taxa within *S. echinosperma*—*S. echinosperma* subsp. *echinosperma* and *S. echinosperma* subsp. *albensis*—differing in distributions and ecology have been described. A complete revision of the localities of *S. echinosperma*, *S. kurkae* and *S. rubra* in the Czech Republic is also presented. Furthermore, the development of 16 polymorphic microsatellite loci for *S. echinosperma* is reported.

## **Declaration** [in Czech]

Prohlašuji, že svoji disertační práci jsem vypracoval samostatně pouze s použitím pramenů a literatury uvedených v seznamu citované literatury.

Prohlašuji, že v souladu s § 47b zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. v platném znění souhlasím se zveřejněním své disertační práce, a to v úpravě vzniklé vypuštěním vyznačených částí archivovaných Přírodovědeckou fakultou elektronickou cestou ve veřejně přístupné části databáze STAG provozované Jihočeskou univerzitou v Českých Budějovicích na jejích internetových stránkách, a to se zachováním mého autorského práva k odevzdanému textu této kvalifikační práce. Souhlasím dále s tím, aby toutéž elektronickou cestou byly v souladu s uvedeným ustanovením zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. zveřejněny posudky školitele a oponentů práce i záznam o průběhu a výsledku obhajoby kvalifikační práce. Rovněž souhlasím s porovnáním textu mé kvalifikační práce s databází kvalifikačních prací Theses.cz provozovanou Národním registrem vysokoškolských kvalifikačních prací a systémem na odhalování plagiátů.

České Budějovice, 29. 12. 2016

Pavel Kúr

## **Financial support**

The work was supported by the Mattoni Awards for Studies of Biodiversity and Conservation Biology (2007), research project MSM6007665801 from the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic and project 138/2010/P from the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia.

## Acknowledgements

My greatest thanks belong to my supervisor Milan Štech who in 2005 initiated the study of *Spergularia echinosperma* for my Bachelor's thesis, probably having no idea this topic was going to remain relevant till my PhD and result in 5 impacted articles. I must also thank Kateřina Šumberová, the foremost living Czech wetland botanist, for her valuable advice and cooperation, and to Michal Ducháček, the busiest living Czech herbarium curator, for supporting my research. Further thanks belong to Alžběta Manukjanová for her help with field sampling, Eliška Vicherová for her help with experiment preparation, and Jana Piherová for performing some of the morphological measurements.

Dedicated to my mom (1947–2016) whom a malignant disease prevented from witnessing this day...

#### List of papers and author's contribution

The thesis is based on the following papers (listed chronologically):

- Kúr P., Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Morphological and cytological I. variation in Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. - Preslia 84: 905–924 (IF = 2.989). Pavel Kúr participated in the field sampling and flow cytometry measurements, performed all the morphological measurements and statistical analyses, and wrote the draft of the manuscript,
- II. Kúr P., Košnar J. & Štech M. (2014): Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in Spergularia echinosperma (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae). -Conservation Genetics Resources 6: 571-573 (IF = 0.789). Pavel Kúr participated in the search and testing of microsatellite markers from the SSR-enriched library, performed the statistical analyses and wrote the draft of the manuscript.
- III. Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Štěpánková J., Ekrt L., Chrtek J., Zázvorka J., Grulich V., Řepka R., Prančl J., Ducháček M., Kúr P., Šumberová K. & Brůna J. (2016): Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2. - Preslia 88: 229-322 (IF = 2.989).

Pavel Kúr compiled the distributional data for two species (Spergularia echinosperma, S. kurkae) and participated in the revision of the records on the distributions of other four species (S. rubra, S. marina, S. media, Cyperus fuscus).

This participation is hereby confirmed by the signature of the first author:

Zdeněk Kaplan, Ph.D.

IV. Kúr P., Košnar J., Koutecký P., Tremetsberger K. & Štech M. (2016): Origin of Spergularia ×kurkae, a hybrid between the rare endemic S. echinosperma and its widespread congener S. rubra. - Preslia 88: 391-407 (IF = 2.989).

Pavel Kúr performed major part of the laboratory analyses, contributed significantly to the specimen collection and wrote the draft of the manuscript.

V. Kúr P., Amarell U., Jage H. & Štech M. (XXXX): Taxonomy and evolutionary diversification of the Central European endemic Spergularia echinosperma (Caryophyllaceae). Manuscript.

Pavel Kúr initiated the study, participated in the specimen collection, revised herbarium specimens, performed the statistical analyses and wrote the draft of the manuscript.

# Contents

General introduction1
Paper I
Morphological and cytological variation in <i>Spergularia echinosperma</i> and <i>S. rubra</i> , and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. <b>17</b>
Paper II
Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in <i>Spergularia echinosperma</i> (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae)
Paper III
Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2 42
Paper IV
Origin of <i>Spergularia</i> × <i>kurkae</i> , a hybrid between the rare endemic <i>S. echinosperma</i> and its widespread congener <i>S. rubra</i>
Paper V
Taxonomy and evolutionary diversification of the Central European endemic Spergularia         echinosperma (Caryophyllaceae).         83
General conclusions
Curriculum vitae

# **General introduction**

## Polyploidy

Polyploidy, defined as the possession of three or more complete sets of chromosomes, is nowadays recognized as the major force driving the evolution of plants (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Adams & Wendel 2005, Soltis et al. 2014, 2015). All extant groups of angiosperms have undergone at least one, but in most cases multiple rounds of polyploidization (Soltis et al. 2014). Among other plant groups, polyploidy is also frequent in lycophytes and monilophytes (Husband et al. 2013). It is estimated that about 15% of speciation events in flowering plants and about 31% of speciation events in ferns directly involve polyploidy (Wood et al. 2009).

The reason why polyploidy is so important an evolutionary force is that it generates excessive genetic material, which opens up the door for evolutionary novelty. Higher gene dosage can protect the genome from the deleterious effects of recessive alleles and may lead to functional diversification of the homologs (Soltis et al. 2014). Therefore, polyploids often possess novel physiological and life-history characteristics, which may aid their adaptation to novel environments and help occupy new ecological niches (Ramsey & Schemske 1998).

## Classification of polyploids

Based on the mode of origin, two main types of polyploids are recognized. Autopolyploids are formed by a polyploidization event within a single species. They are traditionally supposed to be characterized by the formation of multivalents during meiosis as a result of non-preferential pairing of three or more sets of homologous chromosomes. Hence, alleles at a given locus segregate at random which leads to polysomic (multisomic) inheritance. Allopolyploids, in contrast, arise in consequence of hybridization between different species. They are typically characterized by disomic inheritance and fixed heterozygosity (Soltis et al. 2014, 2016).

In reality, however, the clear discrimination of polyploids based on the mode of inheritance is not possible. In nature, there is a continuum between polyploids with strictly polysomic and strictly disomic inheritance, and different loci within a single polyploid frequently exhibit different modes of inheritance—this phenomenon is referred to as mixosomy and polyploids exhibiting such behavior are called segmental allopolyploids (Ramsey & Schemske 2002, Soltis et al. 2016). The mode of origin does not play a role. Autopolyploids are under selection pressure against polysomic inheritance (which leads to gametes with unbalanced chromosome numbers and reduced fertility) and towards rediploidization. In allopolyploids, on the other hand, the occurrence of multivalents is common as a result of partial homology of homeologous chromosomes (Ramsey & Schemske 2002).

There has been controversy on the relative frequency of auto- and allopolyploids in nature. Allopolyploids were traditionally considered to be more common than autopolyploids (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Soltis et al. 2004). The reason was the abovementioned concerns about multivalent formation leading to reduced fertility in autopolyploids (Soltis et al. 2014). Empirical data, however, have disproved this traditional view. It is now believed that autopolyploids play a very significant role in nature (Soltis et al. 2007, 2014), and some studies indicate they might be even more frequent than allopolyploids (Barker et al. 2015).

## Pathways of polyploid formation

There are three distinct mechanisms leading to the formation of new polyploids. The simplest pathway is crossing of two polyploids of differing ploidy levels that leads directly to the formation of a new cytotype. This way, triploids are commonly formed in the contact zones between diploid and tetraploid cytotypes (Ramsey & Schemske 1998).

Another pathway of polyploid formation is somatic doubling. It occurs when mitotic abnormalities result in polyploid cells within the somatic tissue of a plant, and these cells subsequently form reproductive organs. Gametes produced in such organs have double chromosome numbers than the maternal plant and a self-fertilisation event may result in the formation of a polyploid. This pathway is generally considered to be rare (Mason & Pires 2015), although it was responsible for the formation of the first described allopolyploid *Primula kewensis* (Soltis et al. 2014).

The most frequent mechanism of polyploid formation, however, is the production of unreduced gametes (i.e. gametes with the somatic chromosome number). Union of one reduced and one unreduced gamete or of two unreduced gametes leads to a one-step formation of a new polyploid (Ramsev & Schemske 1998). Unreduced gametes are a ubiquitous phenomenon in angiosperms and are produced by a plethora of different mechanisms across different taxa (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Ramsey 2007, Mason & Pires 2015). Their production is currently viewed as an important mechanism for evolutionary speciation (Mason & Pires 2015). Although the overall frequency of unreduced gametes in nature is estimated to be very low approximately 0.1–2.0% (Ramsey 2007)—it can vary substantially among different individuals and populations within a species. Only a small fraction of high-frequency 2n gamete producers within a population can affect the dynamics of polyploid generation significantly (Ramsey & Schemske 1998). Formation of unreduced gametes is also promoted by environmental stress (e.g. high or low temperatures, herbivory, wounding or water and nutrient deficit) and helps plants establish new polyploid lineages better adapted to harsh environments (Ramsey & Schemske 1998). In Achillea borealis, for example, individuals grown in a growth chamber under large temperature fluctuations produced nearly 3-times more unreduced pollen than individuals from the same population grown in the field (Ramsey 2007). The tendency of harsh environmental conditions to induce unreduced gametes is also probably related to the welldocumented high incidence of polyploidy in high mountains and arctic regions (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Brochmann et al. 2004).

## Hybridization

Hybridization, like polyploidy, also belongs to the major forces driving the evolution of plants (Harrison 1990, Arnold 1997, Mallet 2005). Hybridization, however, is not as ubiquitous as polyploidy. Estimates of the frequency of natural hybridization in plants differ depending on the author and methodology used. Arnold (1997) suggests that greater than 50% of angiosperms may be of hybrid origin. This estimate, however, relates to the number of ancient hybridization events and does not indicate that more than half of contemporary species are hybrids. Focusing on recent hybridization events, about 25% of plant species are known to hybridize with at least one other species (Mallet 2005). The estimates of the number of hybrid species vary around 10%, differing significantly between regions (Ellstrand et al. 1996, Whitney et al. 2010). There

has also been an increasing number of documented cases of interspecific hybridization in bryophytes (Wyatt et al. 1988, Natcheva & Cronberg 2004, Ricca & Shaw 2010).

It should be noted, however, that natural interspecific hybrids are distributed highly nonrandomly among taxonomic groups. Only 40% of families and 16% of genera were found by Whitney et al. (2010) to contain hybrids. There seems to be a strong phylogenetic signal in the hybridization propensity, which is concentrated into a few groups of vascular plants only (Whitney et al. 2010).

## Pathways of hybridization

There are two distinct types of hybridization. If the both hybridizing species are of the same ploidy, it is called homoploid hybridization (Yakimowski & Rieseberg 2014). Crossing of species of different ploidy levels is referred to as interploidy (interploid, interploidal, heteroploid) hybridization (Schatlowski & Köhler 2012).

The both types of hybridization have their own pitfalls. Homoploid hybridization often yields non-viable or sterile progeny due to gene and chromosome incompatibilities (Yakimowski & Rieseberg 2014). Even if fertile progeny is produced, they usually lack reproductive isolation from the parents, which leads to introgression and formation of hybrid swarms rather than hybrid speciation (Rieseberg 1997, Mallet 2007). However, there are two principal ways how a homoploid hybrid can escape backcrossing with parental species and become an independent entity. First, hybrids can colonize novel ecological niches with the absence of the parental species thereby reducing gene flow between them and parents (Mallet 2007). Second, polyploidization of a homoploid hybrid may create an instant reproductive barrier between the hybrid and its parents. It may also suppress complications associated with poor pairing of homologous chromosomes and gene incompatibilities between the two sub-genomes. Parental divergence has been indeed empirically proven to positively correlate with the likelihood of polyploidization in homoploid crosses (Chapman & Burke 2007, Paun et al. 2009).

Interploidy hybridization was traditionally believed to be rare in nature (Chapman & Abbott 2010). The reason was a theoretically predicted production of non-viable or sterile oddploidy progeny, in case of diploid-tetraploid crosses called "triploid block" (Köhler et al. 2010). Triploid block can have two different causes. First is the parental genomic imbalance. In angiosperm homoploid crosses, the ratios of maternal to paternal genomes are 1:1 in the embryo and 2:1 in the endosperm. Both these ratios are crucial for the correct development of the seed and their violations in triploid seeds lead to substantial developmental defects (Stoute et al. 2012, Sutherland & Galloway 2017). Second, even if a triploid hybrid is viable, it should suffer from reduced fertility as a result of production of aneuploid gametes (i.e. with unbalanced chromosome numbers) that cannot function normally (Ramsey & Schemske 1998).

However, there has been an increasing amount of evidence recently of the limited negative impact of triploid block on interploidy hybridization in nature. Parental genomic imbalance does not cause aberrations in endosperm development in all cases and viable odd-ploidy hybrids are commonly found in nature (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Soltis et al. 2004, Schatlowski & Köhler 2012, Mason & Pires 2015). The interploidy barrier is even weaker in some higher-ploidy crosses where there is a more favorable maternal:paternal genome ratio in

the endosperm (Sutherland & Galloway 2017). It has been also demonstrated that odd-ploidy hybrids typically produce a fraction of euploid gametes (i.e. with balanced chromosome numbers) which function normally, and they may therefore be partially fertile (Chapman & Abbott 2010). Among the studies reviewed by Ramsey & Schemske (1998), for example, the average percentage of euploid pollen in triploids was around 10%. This pathway of interploidy hybridization is called "triploid bridge" (Paun et al. 2009, Ricca et al. 2011, Arnold et al. 2015).

The most important and widespread mechanism of interploidy hybridization, just like in the case of polyploid formation, is production of unreduced gametes. This pathway circumvents the obstacles associated with triploid formation and leads to a direct formation of even-ploidy progeny (Köhler et al. 2010). This pathway also effectively eliminates complications associated with parental genomic imbalance. Especially fusion of an unreduced gamete from a diploid with a reduced gamete from a tetraploid leads to embryo and endosperm having the maternal:paternal genome ratios close to the normal ratios in homoploid crosses (Sutherland & Galloway 2017).

#### Recurrent origins of hybrids

It is now well established, based on several lines of evidence, that recurrent formation of hybrids is the rule rather than the exception in nature (Levin 2001, Soltis & Soltis 2009). Interestingly, independently formed hybrids do not always follow the same evolutionary paths. In *Spartina*, for example, two independently formed homoploid hybrids between *S. alterniflora* and *S. maritima* had very different morphological and genomic consequences. Hybrid formed in England (*S. ×townsendii*) polyploidized and formed a very successful invasive allopolyploid species *S. anglica*. Independently formed hybrid from France (*S. ×neyrautii*) differed significantly in morphology and patterns of DNA methylation and gene expression from *S. ×townsendii* and did never undergo subsequent chromosome doubling (Ainouche et al. 2012, Soltis et al. 2016).

In contrast, evolution repeats itself in some systems of recurrently formed hybrids. A well-described example is the pair of species *Tragopogon mirus* and *T. miscellus*. Both the species are allopolyploids formed by hybridizations of *T. dubius*  $\times$  *T. porrifolius* and *T. dubius*  $\times$  *T. pratensis*, respectively (Lim et al. 2008). In these species, naturally occurring multiple origins, as well as multiple synthetic lines, were shown to replay the evolutionary scenario in much the same way, morphologically, genomically, and chromosomally (Soltis et al. 2016).

## Hybridization as a thread to rare species

Although hybridization may have positive consequences in increasing the intraspecific genetic diversity thus promoting local adaptation, it may also pose a serious threat to rare species. Two main mechanisms by which hybridization may threat populations of rare species are demographic swamping and genetic assimilation.

Demographic swamping is a process when a hybrid ecologically outcompetes its parental species (Holderegger 1998). It should be noted that hybrids need not automatically have superior fitness than their parents and it largely depends on their genotypic constitution and the environment in which they occur (Arnold & Hodges 1995, Arnold & Martin 2010). However, there are some documented cases of hybrids locally outcompeting their parental

species, e.g. in *Typha* ×*glauca* (Huisman et al. 2012) or *Schoenoplectiella* ×*magrathii* (Smith & McKenzie 2013). Polyploidization of a primary hybrid may in some cases, like in *Spartina anglica* (Ainouche et al. 2012), significantly improve its competitive abilities (Rieseberg 1997).

Genetic assimilation is a phenomenon where genetic material from a more abundant species is transferred via hybridization into a rare species. The rare species consequently loses its genetic integrity and is absorbed by a hybrid swarm (Holderegger 1998). That genetic assimilation may pose a serious threat to endangered species have been documented in several cases. The most infamous one is that of Cercocarpus traskiae, species endemic to Catalina Island located off the SW coast of California. The species is represented by a single population, which consisted of only 11 adult trees and several tens of seedlings in the time when Rieseberg & Gerber (1995) carried out their genetic analysis. Using molecular markers, the authors detected that half of the adult trees and some of the seedlings were actually hybrids between C. traskiae and a more abundant congener C. betuloides var. blancheae. Only 6 (!) out of the 11 adult individuals were found to be pure C. traskiae (Rieseberg & Gerber 1995). Another example of an endemic species endangered by genetic assimilation from a widespread congener is that of Argvranthemum coronopifolium, an endemic of Canary Islands. Brochmann (1984) demonstrated that this species is being genetically eroded by A. frutescens, a weedy species that has migrated along road sites to the populations of A. coronopifolium as a result of the development of tourism. Although the above mentioned species represent extreme cases, local extinctions of populations of rare species may be a more common phenomenon (Rieseberg & Wendel 1993).

It has become clear that the most significant trigger for hybridization has been the effect of humans on ecosystems. It is processes like habitat disturbance, creation of new habitats, introduction of allochthonous species, and climatic changes caused by human activities that have led to the formation of an unprecedented number of hybrid zones (Levin et al. 1996, Rhymer & Simberloff 1996, Arnold 1997, Rieseberg 1997, Ellstrand & Schierenbeck 2000, Soltis & Soltis 2009). It is not only the thread that hybrids present to individual rare species. Hybridization has also been proven to have the potential to increase the invasiveness of introduced plant species thus threatening whole plant communities (Ellstrand & Schierenbeck 2000, Schierenbeck & Ellstrand 2009).

## Detecting hybridization

Proving hybridization may be a challenging task. Traditionally, the presence of hybridization has been inferred from morphological evidence. This approach is still widely-applied in floras and largely affects our current view on the frequency of hybridization in plants (cf. Whitney et al. 2010). Nevertheless, even if there are many examples of interspecific hybrids whose hybrid origin does reflect in their intermediate morphology, morphological character intermediacy in general is a poor predictor of hybrid ancestry (López-Caamal & Tovar-Sánchez 2014). In a revision of 46 studies exploring morphological character expression in hybrids, Rieseberg & Ellstrand (1993) pointed out that only less than half of the morphological characters investigated in F1 hybrids displayed intermediacy between the parental species.

Problems also arise in species which have a limited number of usable morphological characters. Many examples can be found among aquatic plants, which are infamous among

taxonomists for their reduced morphology and wide phenotypic plasticity (Les et al. 2009, 2010). In such cases, reliable hybrid recognition cannot be done without additional markers.

Besides phenotypic characters, hybrid recognition relies nowadays on the genetic data of individuals. Historically, many types of molecular methods have been employed for hybrid recognition. They can be divided based on multiple criteria, but the most practical one for our purposes is their division into single-locus and multi-locus methods.

Single-locus methods rely on the PCR amplification of a single DNA locus. Information from multiple such loci can be obtained, but it is combined post-hoc (Crawford & Mort 2004). Although for phylogeny reconstruction, low-copy or single-copy markers (i.e. those which are present in a limited number of copies in the genome) are generally preferred (Curto et al. 2012), hybridization hypotheses can be better tested with the use of multi-copy markers. Among the most popular ones is the nuclear ribosomal DNA (nrDNA), most notably the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region (Feliner & Rosselló 2007). Its multi-locus nature and biparentall inheritance causes that it often retains intra-individual polymorphism in hybrid taxa, thus allowing clear inferences about their parentage (e.g. Sang et al. 1995, Koch 2003). In addition, there are a few more practical advantages, which make the use of the ITS popular. First, there are several sets of universal PCR primers available. Second, the multi-copy structure of the ITS facilitates PCR amplification from worse-quality material, e.g. herbarium specimens. However, the use of the ITS region is limited in some cases. Ribosomal DNA is subject to a process called "concerted evolution", which means homogenization of the divergent nrDNA copies within genome over time. This process can, in some cases very rapidly (Fuertes Aguilar et al. 1999, Kovarik 2005), obliterate the traces of one parental genome within a hybrid concealing its origin. This is particularly true in old hybrids (Feliner & Rosselló 2007).

In the cases where single-locus markers fail to reconstruct the hybrid ancestry, multilocus markers can be tried instead. Multi-locus molecular methods utilize the information from a multitude of independent DNA loci, which is typically generated in a single run. The most popular examples of such methods include the Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP; Bernatzky 1989), Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD; Hadrys et al. 1992), Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP; Vos et al. 1995), Inter Simple Sequence Repeats (ISSR; Godwin et al. 1997), and Simple Sequence Repeats (SSR or microsatellites; Zietkiewicz et al. 1994). Using statistical models such as Bayesian clustering (Porras-Hurtado et al. 2013), information from multiple loci can be used to cluster investigated individuals and to infer the probable hybrid ancestry. However, all of the above mentioned methods have some serious drawbacks. They are: (1) the requirement of large quantities of sample DNA (RFLP), (2) poor reproducibility (RAPD, to some extent also ISSR and AFLP), (3) dominant pattern of inheritance (impeding its usage for hybrid detection; AFLP, ISSR, RAPD), and (4) the necessity of prior knowledge of the genome of the target species (SSR) (López-Caamal & Tovar-Sánchez 2014). Thus, all of these methods (possibly except for SSR, see Hodel et al. 2016a, 2016b) are becoming obsolete (Edwards et al. 2015, Grover & Sharma 2016) and are being replaced by modern methods utilizing recent discoveries in the field of sequencing technologies (so called "next-generation sequencing" methods, Metzker 2010) that overcome most of the drawbacks associated with the traditional methods.

## Genus Spergularia

*Spergularia* (Pers.) J. Presl & C. Presl is a nearly cosmopolitan genus of herbaceous plants from the family Caryophyllaceae (Friedrich 1979, Monnier & Ratter 1993). It is distributed from the temperate to the subtropical zones of the both hemispheres. However, its diversity is concentrated into two hotspots—South America and the Mediterranean region (Rossbach 1940, Meusel & Jäger 1992, Monnier & Ratter 1993).

Although the genus is currently of no economic importance, some representatives are used as model organisms in ecological studies (Telenius 1992, Gutterman 1997, Delesalle & Mazer 2002) and some studies point out possible use of some species as medical plants (Oliveira et al. 2013) or food source (Kubitzki et al. 2013, Wrigley et al. 2015). Despite its potential uses, genus *Spergularia* has been biosystematically very little investigated. This can be illustrated in the fact that the estimates of the total number of species differ 3-fold, ranging from 20 (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990) to 60 (Bittrich 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005). The few studies addressing the biosystematics of *Spergularia* (Ratter 1964, 1965a, 1965b, 1969a, 1969b, 1972, 1973a, 1973b, 1976) suggested that hybridization and reticulate evolution have probably contributed significantly to the diversity of this genus. Another process that also seems to have played an important role in the evolution of the genus is polyploidy. This can be assumed from the very fact that genus *Spergularia* is cytotypically quite diverse. There is a series of known ploidy levels ranging from diploid through tetraploid and hexaploid to octoploid (Sanders 1983, Verlaque et al. 1992, Hartman et Rabeler 2005), and multiple ploidy levels can be often found within a single species (Monnier & Ratter 1993).

Genus *Spergularia* is ecologically very diverse. Most of the species are halophytes growing in either coastal or inland salt marshes. Two most notable examples are the species *S. marina* (L.) Besser and *S. media* (L.) C. Presl, which are a characteristic component of coastland vegetation communities thorough nearly the whole Northern hemisphere (Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005). Some representatives have adapted to ruderal habitats and become widespread synanthropic species. It is especially the case of *S. rubra* (L.) J. Presl et C. Presl, which is the most widespread representative of the genus that has been introduced to all continents except Antarctica due to human activities (Hultén & Fries 1986, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005, Adams et al. 2008). Among all of this, the species *Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelak.) A. et Gr., the only European representative growing in exposed margins of freshwater bodies (Monnier & Ratter 1993), represents a sheer rarity.

#### Spergularia echinosperma

*Spergularia echinosperma* is a rare species confined to the vegetation of annual wetland herbaceous plants (class Isoëto-Nano-Juncetea) that occurs in the dried out bottoms of freshwater reservoirs that are periodically drained. It has two main centers of distribution— Germany and the Czech Republic (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). In Central Europe, the species is also marginally distributed in Austria (Fischer et al. 2008) and Slovakia (Dvořák 1979, Goliašová 2012). There are also reports from Poland (Szafer et al. 1967, Krämer & Fartmann 2007), which, however, are probably incorrect (L. Rutkowski, pers. comm.).

*Spergularia echinosperma* is considered to be a Central European endemic by Central European authors (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). However, there also exist reports of its

occurrence in other countries out of Central Europe, namely France (Jalas 1988, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Chagneau 2013), Spain (Jalas 1988, Ratter 1990, Monnier & Ratter 1993), Morocco (Monnier 1968), and USA (Hartman & Rabeler 2005). The affiliation of these occurrences to the species *S. echinosperma* is problematic, and they require further investigation.

The current primary habitats of *S. echinosperma* are alluvial pools and river banks. At present, the species grows in this type of habitats in Germany. Here, it is found in periodically exposed substrates in the alluvium of the Elbe River (Friedrich 1979). In the Czech Republic, *S. echinosperma* occurs exclusively in secondary habitats, which is the bottoms of drained fishponds (Dvořák 1979, 1990). The species is endangered in both the primary and secondary habitats. Alluvial pools have been vastly destroyed by the channeling of rivers. In fishponds, the species is threatened by the intensification of fishpond management over the last century. It is especially abandoning the traditional summer drying of fishponds, excessive fish stock, duck farming, manuring, and liming, which destroys the populations of sensitive annual species including *S. echinosperma* (Šumberová et al. 2005, 2006, Šumberová 2011).

Spergularia echinosperma was described by Čelakovský (1881) as a subspecies of S. rubra (L.) J. Presl et C. Presl. Later, Ascherson & Graebner (1893) raised S. echinosperma to specific rank, which is generally accepted (e.g. Friedrich 1979, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Jäger & Werner 2002, Fischer et al. 2008). Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra are morphologically very similar. The main discriminatory characters cited by Čelakovský (1881) for distinguishing the two species were seed color and testa surface (black bristly seeds vs slightly verrucose brown seeds) and shape of stipules (short and widely triangular vs long and narrowly triangular). Other characters were introduced by Dvořák (1979, 1990), including leaf shape, flower pedicel length and capsule length. Spergularia rubra also differs from S. echinosperma in its ecology as it is a nearly cosmopolitan species occupying mainly human-affected habitats such as road margins or sandy paths (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990).

Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra are also supposed to differ in their ploidy levels, but few chromosome counts are available. Spergularia rubra is reported to be tetraploid (2n = 4x = 36) in Central Europe (Dvořák 1990, Wisskirchen & Haeupler 1998), although there are also records of diploid and hexaploid plants of S. rubra from Southern Europe (Ratter 1964, Fernandes & Leitao 1971). For S. echinosperma, only one chromosome count exists, which is diploid (2n = 2x = 18; Dvořák & Dadáková 1984).

Jage (1974) and Dvořák (1979) reported the occurrence of more distinct morphotypes within *S. echinosperma*. Later, results of a more detailed study were published as a part of the *Spergularia* treatment for the Flora of the Czech Republic (Dvořák 1990). This author revealed the existence of *S. echinosperma* populations with morphological characters typical of *S. rubra* (especially seed color and length of stipules and fruit pedicels), which he ultimately explained by interspecific hybridization. He supposed that hybridization leads to the formation of a primary tetraploid hybrid, which he described as *S. ×kurkae* F. Dvořák (Dvořák 1989), accompanied by further gene introgression from *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma*. However, the assumed tetraploid state of *S. ×kurkae* was documented only by a single chromosome count (Dvořák 1989), as in the case of *S. echinosperma*. With such limited data, Dvořák (1990) could

not credibly infer the cytotype structure of the populations and morphotypes of the plants he studied.

The situation is further complicated by the fact that there is a conflict in the descriptions of *S. echinosperma* between Czech and German authors. There has been contradictory information as for the actual values of some seed characters. Specifically, it is the difference in the indicated seed color. Czech authors describe *S. echinosperma* as possessing black seeds (Dostál 1989, Dvořák 1990), including the description of this taxon by Čelakovský (1881). German plants, on the other hand, are characterized by (dark) brown seed color (Jage 1974, Friedrich 1979). This discrepancy in the reported seed color between the Czech and German plants could be correlated with the differences in other morphological characters and could be taxonomically important.

## Aims of the thesis

The current state of knowledge of the Central-European endemic *Spergularia echinosperma* is fairly fragmentary. The morphological and ploidy differences between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* and their putative hybrid *S.* ×*kurkae* are only poorly described, and the evidence of the presence of interspecific hybridization is dubious. It is obvious that *S. rubra* and *S. echinosperma* need to be revised based on an extensive screening of their morphological and cytotype variation in all parts of the disjunct distribution range of *S. echinosperma*.

The aim of Paper I was to assess the morphological and ploidy variation of *S. echinosperma*, *S. rubra* and their putative hybrid *S.*  $\times$ *kurkae* in the Czech Republic. The data on the morphology and genome size were also used to elucidate the existence of hybrids between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*.

In Paper II, the hybridization between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* was investigated using molecular tools. Specifically, questions regarding the parentage of *S.* ×*kurkae* and gene introgression between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* were addressed.

In Paper III, the distributions of the species of genus *Spergularia* in the Czech Republic were mapped. The paper is a part of a large series of articles dealing with the distributions of selected species of vascular plant in the Czech Republic within the framework of the PLADIAS (Plant Diversity Analysis and Synthesis Centre) project.

Paper IV dealt with the taxonomy of the species *S. echinosperma*. Morphological variation of the species in the both parts of its disjunct distribution range was investigated and correlated with ecology and geographical distribution.

In Paper V, 16 polymorphic microsatellite markers were developed for the species *S. echinosperma* and their cross-amplification in *S. rubra* was tested.

## References

Adams K. L. & Wendel J. F. (2005): Polyploidy and genome evolution in plants. – Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8: 135–141.

- Adams L. G., West J. G. & Cowley K. J. (2008): Revision of *Spergularia* (Caryophyllaceae) in Australia. – Aust. Syst. Bot. 21: 251–270.
- Ainouche M., Chelaifa H., Ferreira J., Bellot S., Ainouche A. & Salmon A. (2012): Polyploid evolution in *Spartina*: Dealing with highly redundant hybrid genomes. In: Soltis P. S.

& Soltis D. E. (eds.), Polyploidy and genome evolution: 225-243, Springer, Berlin, Germany.

- Arnold B., Kim S.-T. & Bomblies K. (2015): Single geographic origin of a widespread autotetraploid *Arabidopsis arenosa* lineage followed by interploidy admixture. – Mol. Biol. Evol. 32: 1382–1395.
- Arnold M. L. (1997): Natural hybridization and evolution. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Arnold M. L. & Hodges S. A. (1995): Are natural hybrids fit or unfit relative to their parents? – Trends Ecol. Evol. 10: 67–71.
- Arnold M. L. & Martin N. H. (2010): Hybrid fitness across time and habitats. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25: 530–536.
- Ascherson P. & Graebner P. (1893): Beiträge zur Kenntniss der norddeutschen Flora. Ber. Deutsch. Bot. Ges. 11: 516–530.
- Barker M. S., Arrigo N., Baniaga A. E., Li Z. & Levin D. A. (2015): On the relative abundance of autopolyploids and allopolyploids. – New Phytol. 210: 391–398.
- Bernatzky R. (1989): Restriction fragment length polymorphism. In: Gelvin S. B, Schilperoort R. A. & Verma D. P. S. (eds.), Plant Molecular Biology Manual: 467–484, Springer, Netherlands.
- Bittrich V. (1993): Caryophyllaceae. In: Kubitzki K., Rohwer J. & Bittrich V. (eds), The families and genera of vascular plants 2: 206–236, Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Brochmann C. (1984): Hybridization and distribution of *Argyranthemum coronopifolium* (Asteraceae Anthemideae) in the Canary Islands. Nord. J. Bot. 4: 729–736.
- Brochmann C., Brysting A. K., Alsos I. G., Borgen L., Grundt H. H., Scheen A.-C. & Elven R. (2004): Polyploidy in arctic plants. – Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 82: 521–536.
- Čelakovský L. (1881): Prodromus der Flora von Böhmen. Vol. 4. Arch. Naturwiss. Landesdurchforsch. Böhm., sect. 3a, fasc. 4: 693–955, Prag.
- Chagneau D. (2013): Confirmation de la presence de *Spergularia echinosperma* (Celak.) Asch. & Graebn. E.R.I.C.A. 26: 29–34.
- Chapman M. A. & Abbott R. J. (2010): Introgression of fitness genes across a ploidy barrier. New Phytol. 186: 63–71.
- Chapman M. A. & Burke J. M. (2007): Genetic divergence and hybrid speciation. Evolution 61: 1773–1780.
- Crawford D. J. & Mort M. E. (2004): Single-locus molecular markers for inferring relationships at lower taxonomic levels: observations and comments. Taxon 53: 631–635.
- Curto M. A., Puppo P., Ferreira D., Nogueira M. & Meimberg H. (2012): Development of phylogenetic markers from single-copy nuclear genes for multi locus, species level analyses in the mint family (Lamiaceae). – Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 63: 758–767.
- Delesalle V. R. A. & Mazer S. J. (2002): The neighborhood matters: Effects of neighbor number and sibling (or kin) competition on floral traits in *Spergularia* marina (Caryophyllaceae). – Evolution 56: 2406–2413.
- Dostál J. (1989): Nová květena ČSSR. Vol. 1. Academia, Praha.

- Dvořák F. (1979): Některé výsledky studia druhu *Spergularia echinosperma* Čelak. Zpr. Čsl. Bot. Spol. 14: 109–116.
- Dvořák F. (1989): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. – Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.-Biol. 19: 301–322.
- Dvořák F. (1990): *Spergularia* kuřinka. In: Hejný S. & Slavík B. (eds.), Květena České republiky 2: 81–86, Academia, Praha.
- Dvořák F. & Dadáková B. (1984): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.-Biol. 14: 463–468.
- Edwards S. V., Shultz A. J. & Campbell-Staton S. C. (2015): Next-generation sequencing and the expanding domain of phylogeography. Folia Zool. 64: 187–206.
- Ellstrand N. C. & Schierenbeck K. A. (2000): Hybridization as a stimulus for the evolution of invasiveness in plants? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97: 7043–7050.
- Ellstrand N. C., Whitkus R. & Rieseberg L. H. (1996): Distribution of spontaneous plant hybrids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93: 5090–5093.
- Feliner G. N. & Rosselló J. A. (2007): Better the devil you know? Guidelines for insightful utilization of nrDNA ITS in species-level evolutionary studies in plants. – Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 44: 911–919.
- Fernandes A. & Leitao M. T. (1971): Contribution à la connaissance cytotaxonomique des Spermatophyta du Portugal III, Caryophyllaceae. – Bolm. Soc. Broteriana 45: 143–176.
- Fischer M. A., Oswald K. & Adler W. (2008): Exkursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein und Südtirol. Ed. 3. Biologiezentrum der Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseen, Linz.
- Friedrich H.-C. (1979): Familie Caryophyllaceae. In: Rechinger K. H. (ed.), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa. Vol. 3 (2): 763–1182, Paul Parey, Berlin/Hamburg.
- Fuertes Aguilar J., Rosselló J. A. & Nieto Feliner G. (1999): Nuclear ribosomal DNA (nrDNA) concerted evolution in natural and artificial hybrids of *Armeria* (Plumbaginaceae). – Mol. Ecol. 8: 1341–1346.
- Godwin I. D., Aitken E. A. & Smith L. W. (1997): Application of inter simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers to plant genetics. – Electrophoresis 18: 1524–1528.
- Goliašová K. (2012) *Spergularia* (Pers.) J. Presl et C. Presl. Pakolenec. In: Goliašová K. & Michalková E. (eds.), Flóra Slovenska 6/3: 88–99, Veda, Bratislava.
- Grover A. & Sharma P. C. (2016): Development and use of molecular markers: past and present. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 36: 290–302.
- Gutterman Y. (1997): Effect of daylength on flowering and seed morphology of *Spergularia diandra* occurring in the Negev desert, Israel. J. Arid Environ. 36: 611–622.
- Hadrys H., Balick M. & Schierwater B. (1992): Applications of random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) in molecular ecology. – Mol. Ecol. 1: 55–63.
- Harrison R. G. (1990): Hybrid zones: windows on evolutionary process. Oxf. Surv. Evol. Biol. 7: 69–128.
- Hartman R. L. & Rabeler R. K. (2005): Spergularia. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (eds), Flora of North America north of Mexico 5/2: 16–23, Oxford Univ. Press, New York & Oxford.

- Hodel R. G. J., Gitzendanner M. A., Germain-Aubrey C. C., Liu X., Crowl A. A., Sun M., Landis J. B., Segovia-Salcedo M. C., Douglas N. A., Chen S., Soltis D. E. & Soltis P. S. (2016a): A new resource for the development of SSR markers: millions of loci from a thousand plant transcriptomes. – Appl. Plant Sci. 4: 1600024.
- Hodel R. G. J., Segovia-Salcedo M. C., Landis J. B., Crowl A. A., Sun M., Liu X., Gitzendanner M. A., Douglas N. A., Germain-Aubrey C. C., Chen S., Soltis D. E. & Soltis P. S. (2016b): The report of my death was an exaggeration: a review for researchers using microsatellites in the 21st century. Appl. Plant Sci. 4: 1600025.
- Holderegger R. (1998): Localized hybridization between *Saxifraga aizoides* and *S. mutata* (Saxifragaceae): Reproductive ecology of *S.* × *hausmannii* and implications for conservation. Plant Syst. Evol. 213: 21–41.
- Huisman K., Graeff A. & Laureto P. J. (2012): Hybridization dynamics of invasive cattail (Typhaceae) stands at pierce cedar creek institute: a molecular analysis. Mich. Bot 51: 89–99.
- Hultén E. & Fries M. (1986): Atlas of North European vascular plants north of the Tropic of Cancer. Vols 1–3. Koeltz Scientific Books, Königstein.
- Husband B. C., Baldwin S. J. & Suda J. (2013): The incidence of polyploidy in natural plant populations: Major patterns and evolutionary processes. In: Greilhuber J., Dolezel J. & Wendel J. F. (eds.), Plant genome diversity: 255–276, Springer, Vienna, Austria.
- Jage H. (1974): Vorarbeiten zu einer Flora der Dübener Heide und ihrer näheren Umgebung. Verh. Bot. Ver. Prov. Brandenb. 109–111: 3–55.
- Jäger E. J. & Werner K. (2002): Exkursionsflora von Deutschland. Gefäßpflanzen: Kritischer Band. Ed. 9. – Spektrum Akademischer Verlag Heidelberg, Berlin.
- Jalas J. (1988): Atlas Florae Europaeae: Volume 3: Distribution of vascular plants in Europe. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Koch M. A. (2003): Multiple hybrid formation in natural populations: Concerted evolution of the internal transcribed spacer of nuclear ribosomal DNA (ITS) in North American *Arabis divaricarpa* (Brassicaceae). – Mol. Biol. Evol. 20: 338–350.
- Köhler C., Mittelsten Scheid O. & Erilova A. (2010): The impact of the triploid block on the origin and evolution of polyploid plants. Trends Genet. 26: 142–148.
- Kovarik A. (2005): Rapid concerted evolution of nuclear ribosomal DNA in two *Tragopogon* allopolyploids of recent and recurrent origin. Genetics 169: 931–944.
- Krämer D. & Fartmann T. (2007): Syntaxonomie und Ökologie der flussuferbegleitenden Pioniergesellschaften des *Chenopodion glauci* (Klasse: *Bidentetea tripartitae*) an der unteren Oder. – Tuexenia 27: 195–219.
- Kubitzki K., Rohwer J. G. & Bittrich V. (2013). Flowering Plants · Dicotyledons: Magnoliid, Hamamelid and Caryophyllid Families. – Springer Science & Business Media.
- Les D. H., Murray N. M. & Tippery N. P. (2009): Systematics of two imperiled pondweeds (*Potamogeton vaseyi*, *P. gemmiparus*) and taxonomic ramifications for subsection Pusilli (Potamogetonaceae). Syst. Bot. 34: 643–651.
- Les D. H., Sheldon S. P. & Tippery N. P. (2010): Hybridization in hydrophiles: natural interspecific hybrids in *Najas* (Hydrocharitaceae). Syst. Bot. 35: 736–744.

Levin D. A. (2001): The recurrent origin of plant races and species. - Syst. Bot. 26: 197-204.

- Levin D. A., Francisco-Ortega J. & Jansen R. K. (1996): Hybridization and the extinction of rare plant species. – Conserv. Biol. 10: 10–16.
- Lim K. Y., Soltis D. E., Soltis P. S., Tate J., Matyasek R., Srubarova H., Kovarik A., Chris Pires J., Zhiyong Xiong & Leitch A. R. (2008): Rapid chromosome evolution in recently formed polyploids in *Tragopogon* (Asteraceae). PLOS ONE 3: e3353.
- López-Caamal A. & Tovar-Sánchez E. (2014): Genetic, morphological, and chemical patterns of plant hybridization. Rev. Chil. Hist. Nat. 87: 16.
- Mallet J. (2005): Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20: 229–237.
- Mallet J. (2007): Hybrid speciation. Nature 446: 279-283.
- Mason A. S. & Pires J. C. (2015): Unreduced gametes: meiotic mishap or evolutionary mechanism? Trends Genet. 31: 5–10.
- Metzker M. L. (2010): Sequencing technologies—the next generation. Nat. Rev. Genet. 11: 31–46.
- Meusel H. & Jäger E. J. (eds) (1992): Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora. Vol. 3. – Gustav Fischer, Jena, Stuttgart & New York.
- Monnier P. (1968): Synopsis du genre *Spergularia* (Pers.) Presl au Maroc. Nat. Monspel. Ser. Bot. 19: 87–113.
- Monnier P. & Ratter J. A. (1993): Spergularia (Pers.) J. & C. Presl. In: Tutin T. G., Burges N. A., Chater A. O., Edmondson J. R., Heywood V. H., Moore D. M., Valentine D. H., Walters S. M. & Webb D. A. (eds), Flora Europaea 1: 186–188, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- Natcheva R. & Cronberg N. (2004): What do we know about hybridization among bryophytes in nature? Can. J. Bot. 82: 1687–1704.
- Oliveira A. P., Matos R. P., Silva S. T., Andrade P. B., Ferreres F., Gil-Izquierdo A., Meireles S., Brandão T. M. & Valentão P. (2013): A new iced tea base herbal beverage with *Spergularia rubra* extract: Metabolic profile stability and in vitro enzyme inhibition. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61: 8650–8656.
- Paun O., Forest F., Fay M. F. & Chase M. W. (2009): Hybrid speciation in angiosperms: parental divergence drives ploidy. – New Phytol. 182: 507–518.
- Porras-Hurtado L., Ruiz Y., Santos C., Phillips C., Carracedo Á. & Lareu M. V. (2013): An overview of STRUCTURE: applications, parameter settings, and supporting software. – Front. Genet. 4: 98.
- Ramsey J. (2007): Unreduced gametes and neopolyploids in natural populations of *Achillea borealis* (Asteraceae). Heredity 98: 143–150.
- Ramsey J. & Schemske D. W. (1998): Pathways, mechanisms, and rates of polyploid formation in flowering plants. – Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29: 467–501.
- Ramsey J. & Schemske D. W. (2002): Neopolyploidy in flowering plants. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 33: 589–639.
- Ratter J. A. (1964): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* I. Cytology of some Old World species. – Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 25: 293–302.

- Ratter J. A. (1965a): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* II. An attempt to discover cytogenetic relationships of some species. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 26: 203–223.
- Ratter J. A. (1965b): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* III. Some interspecific hybrids involving S. marina (L.) Griesb. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 26: 224–236.
- Ratter J. A. (1969a): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* IV. Some further interspecific hybrids. – Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 29: 213–223.
- Ratter J. A. (1969b): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* V. Some interspecific hybrids involving S. media (L.) C. Presl. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 29: 225–232.
- Ratter J. A. (1972): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* VI. The evolution of true breeding, fertile tetraploids from a triploid interspecific hybrid. – Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 32: 117–125.
- Ratter J. A. (1973a): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* VII. Cryptic speciation in S. media (L.)
  C. Presl and S. marina (L.) Griseb. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 32: 291–296.
- Ratter J. A. (1973b): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* VIII. Barriers to the production of viable interspecific hybrids. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 32: 297–301.
- Ratter J. A. (1976): Cytogenetic studies in *Spergularia* IX. Summary and conclusions. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 34: 411–428.
- Ratter J. A. (1990): Spergularia (Pers.) J. Presl & C. Presl [nom. cons.] In: Castroviejo S., Laínz M., López González G., Montserrat P., Muñoz Garmendia F., Paiva J & Villar L. (eds.), Flora Iberica. Vol. 2. Platanaceae-Plumbaginaceae (partim). Real Jardín Botánico, Madrid.
- Rhymer J. M. & Simberloff D. (1996): Extinction by hybridization and introgression. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 27: 83–109.
- Ricca M. & Shaw A. J. (2010): Allopolyploidy and homoploid hybridization in the *Sphagnum* subsecundum complex (Sphagnaceae: Bryophyta). Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 99: 135–151.
- Ricca M., Szövényi P., Temsch E. M., Johnson M. G. & Shaw A. J. (2011): Interploidal hybridization and mating patterns in the *Sphagnum subsecundum* complex. – Mol. Ecol. 20: 3202–3218.
- Rieseberg L. H. (1997): Hybrid origins of plant species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28: 359-389.
- Rieseberg L. H. & Ellstrand N. C. (1993): What can molecular and morphological markers tell us about plant hybridization? Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 12: 213–241.
- Rieseberg L. H. & Gerber D. (1995): Hybridization in the Catalina Island mountain mahogany (*Cercocarpus traskiae*): RAPD evidence. Conserv. Biol. 9: 199–203.
- Rieseberg L. H. & Wendel J. F. (1993): Introgression and its consequences in plants. In: Harrison R. (ed.), Hybrid zones and the evolutionary process: 70–109, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Rossbach R. P. (1940): *Spergularia* in North and South America. Rhodora 42: 57–83, 105–143, 158–193, 203–213.
- Sanders R. W., Stuessy T. F. & Rodriguez R. (1983): Chromosome numbers from the flora of the Juan Fernandez Islands. Am. J. Bot. 70: 799–810.
- Sang T., Crawford D. J. & Stuessy T. F. (1995): Documentation of reticulate evolution in peonies (*Paeonia*) using internal transcribed spacer sequences of nuclear ribosomal

DNA: implications for biogeography and concerted evolution. – Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 92: 6813–6817.

- Schatlowski N. & Köhler C. (2012): Tearing down barriers: understanding the molecular mechanisms of interploidy hybridizations. J. Exp. Bot. 63: 6059–6067.
- Schierenbeck K. A. & Ellstrand N. C. (2009): Hybridization and the evolution of invasiveness in plants and other organisms. Biol. Invasions 11: 1093–1105.
- Smith M. & McKenzie P. M. (2013): Schoenoplectiella x magrathii (Cyperaceae), a new interspecific hybrid between S. hallii and S. saximontana from Oklahoma. – Phytoneuron 18: 1–10.
- Soltis D. E., Clayton J. V. & Soltis P. S. (2014): The polyploidy revolution then...and now: Stebbins revisited. Am. J. Bot. 101: 1057–1078.
- Soltis P. S., Marchant D. B., Van de Peer Y. & Soltis D. E. (2015): Polyploidy and genome evolution in plants. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 35: 119–125.
- Soltis P. S. & Soltis D. E. (2009): The role of hybridization in plant speciation. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 60: 561–588.
- Soltis D. E., Soltis P. S., Schemske D. W., Hancock J. F., Thompson J. N., Husband B. C. & Judd W.S. (2007): Autopolyploidy in angiosperms: have we grossly underestimated the number of species? – Taxon 56: 13–30.
- Soltis D. E., Soltis P. S. & Tate J. A. (2004): Advances in the study of polyploidy since plant speciation. New Phytol. 161: 173–191.
- Soltis D. E., Visger C. J., Marchant D. B. & Soltis P. S. (2016): Polyploidy: Pitfalls and paths to a paradigm. Am. J. Bot. 103: 1146–1166.
- Stoute A. I., Varenko V., King G. J., Scott R. J. & Kurup S. (2012): Parental genome imbalance in *Brassica oleracea* causes asymmetric triploid block. Plant J. 71: 503–516.
- Šumberová K. (2011): *Isoëto-Nano-Juncetea* Br.-Bl. et Tüxen ex Br.-Bl. et al. 1952. In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky. 3. Vodní a mokřadní vegetace: 309–312, Academia, Praha.
- Šumberová K., Horáková V. & Lososová Z. (2005): Vegetation dynamics on exposed pond bottoms in the Českobudějovická basin (Czech Republic). – Phytocoenologia 35: 421– 448.
- Šumberová K., Lososová Z., Fabšičová M. & Horáková V. (2006): Variability of vegetation of exposed pond bottoms in relation to management and environmental factors. – Preslia 78: 235–252.
- Sutherland B. L. & Galloway L. F. (2017): Postzygotic isolation varies by ploidy level within a polyploid complex. New Phytol. 213: 404–412.
- Szafer W., Kulczyński S. & Pawłowski B. (1967): Rośliny Polskie. Państwowe Wydawanictwo Naukove, Warszawa.
- Telenius A. (1992): Seed heteromorphism in a population of *Spergularia media* in relation to the ambient vegetation density. Acta Bot. Neerl. 41: 305–318.
- Verlaque R., Contandriopoulos J. & Aboucaya A. (1992): IOBP chromosome data 4. International Organization of Plant Biosystematists Newsletter 18/19: 9–10.

- Vos P., Hogers R., Bleeker M., Reijans M., Lee T. van de, Hornes M., Friters A., Pot J., Paleman J., Kuiper M. & Zabeau M. (1995): AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Res. 23: 4407–4414.
- Whitney K. D., Ahern J. R., Campbell L. G., Albert L. P. & King M. S. (2010): Patterns of hybridization in plants. – Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 12: 175–182.
- Wisskirchen R. & Haeupler H. (1998): Standardliste der Farn- und Blütenpflanzen Deutschlands. Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart.
- Wood T. E., Takebayashi N., Barker M. S., Mayrose I., Greenspoon P. B. & Rieseberg L. H. (2009): The frequency of polyploid speciation in vascular plants. – P. Natl. A. Sci. 106: 13875–13879.
- Wrigley C. W., Corke H., Seetharaman K. & Faubion J. (2015): Encyclopedia of food grains. - Academic Press.
- Wyatt R., Odrzykoski I. J., Stoneburner A., Bass H. W. & Galau G.A. (1988): Allopolyploidy in bryophytes: multiple origins of *Plagiomnium medium*. – Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 85: 5601–5604.
- Yakimowski S. B. & Rieseberg L. H. (2014): The role of homoploid hybridization in evolution: A century of studies synthesizing genetics and ecology. – Am. J. Bot. 101: 1247–1258.
- Zietkiewicz E., Rafalski A. & Labuda D. (1994): Genome fingerprinting by simple sequence repeat (SSR)-anchored polymerase chain reaction amplification. – Genomics 20: 176– 183.

Paper I

Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species.

Kúr P., Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Preslia 84: 905–924.

# Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species

Morfologická a cytologická variabilita druhů Spergularia echinosperma a S. rubra s ohledem na jejich potenciální hybridizaci

Pavel K ú r<sup>1</sup>, Milan Š t e c h<sup>1</sup>, Petr K o u t e c k ý<sup>1</sup> & Pavel T r á v n í č e k<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 31, CZ-370 05 České Budějovice, Czech Republic, e-mail: pavel.kur@prf.jcu.cz, stech@prf.jcu.cz, kouta@prf.jcu.cz; <sup>2</sup>Institute of Botany, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Zámek 1, CZ-252 43 Průhonice, Czech Republic, e-mail: pavel.travnicek@ibot.cas.cz; <sup>3</sup>Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Benátská 2, CZ-128 01 Prague, Czech Republic

Kúr P., Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. – Preslia 84: 905–924.

Morphological and cytological variation in Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra and the possibility of these two species hybridizing were investigated. The plant material was collected mainly in the western- and southern-Bohemian pond basins where S. echinosperma is most abundant. Using flow cytometry, we found diploid and tetraploid cytotypes among plants morphologically identified as S. echinosperma and only tetraploid S. rubra. The two tetraploid cytotypes differed significantly in genome size. Both the diploid and tetraploid S. echinosperma and S. rubra also differed morphologically. The most important identification characters were stipule length together with stipule length/width ratio, seed colour, seed size and testa vertucosity. Although the morphological data suggest that tetraploid S. echinosperma may be a hybrid between diploid S. echinosperma and S. rubra, its genome size was significantly greater than that of a simulated allotetraploid. Since an increase in genome size following allopolyploidization is an improbable event, it is possible that other pathways were involved in the formation of tetraploid S. echinosperma. The nomenclature of S. echinosperma was also studied. Lectotypification of the name with a plant morphologically corresponding to the diploid cytotype is proposed. The morphological analysis also indicates that the holotype of S. ×kurkae, which was described as a putative hybrid between S. echinosperma × S. rubra, corresponds to tetraploid S. echinosperma.

K e y w o r d s: allopolyploidy, classification trees, discriminant analysis, flow cytometry, genome size, inter-ploidy hybridization, morphometric analysis, *Spergularia* 

#### Introduction

There are relatively few vascular plants endemic to central Europe, especially when apomictic microspecies of genera such as *Taraxacum*, *Hieracium*, *Sorbus* and *Rubus* are not considered. One of the long-recognized central European endemics is *Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelak.) Asch. et Graebn. (*Caryophyllaceae*). It is confined to the sandy bottoms of mesotrophic freshwater reservoirs (usually fishponds) that are periodically exposed or sandy banks of large rivers. The center of its distribution is located in the southern- and western-Bohemian pond areas (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). Recently this species and many other plants inhabiting the exposed bottoms of ponds have declined in abundance due to intensification of fishpond management (Šumberová et al. 2005, 2006).

*Spergularia echinosperma* was described by Čelakovský (1881) as a subspecies of *S. rubra* (L.) J. Presl et C. Presl. Later, Ascherson & Graebner (1893) raised *S. echinosperma* to specific rank, which is generally accepted (e.g. Friedrich 1979, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Jäger & Werner 2002, Fischer et al. 2008). The main characters cited by Čelakovský (1881) for distinguishing *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* were seed colour and testa surface (black bristly seeds vs slightly verrucose brown seeds) and shape of stipules (short and widely triangular vs long and narrowly triangular). Other characters were introduced by Dvořák (1979, 1990), including leaf shape, flower pedicel length and capsule length. *Spergularia rubra* also differs from *S. echinosperma* in its ecology as it is a nearly cosmopolitan species occupying mainly human-affected habitats such as road margins or sandy paths (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990).

Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra are also supposed to differ in their ploidy levels, but few chromosome counts are available. Spergularia rubra is reported to be tetraploid (2n = 4x = 36) in central Europe (Dvořák 1990, Wisskirchen & Haeupler 1998), although there are also records of diploid and hexaploid plants of S. rubra from southern Europe (Ratter 1964, Fernandes & Leitao 1971). For S. echinosperma, only one chromosome count exists, which is diploid (2n = 2x = 18; Dvořák & Dadáková 1984).

Jage (1974) and Dvořák (1979) report the occurrence of more distinct morphotypes within *S. echinosperma*. Later, results of a more detailed study were published as a part of the *Spergularia* treatment for the Flora of the Czech Republic (Dvořák 1990). This author revealed the existence of *S. echinosperma* populations with morphological characters typical of *S. rubra* (especially seed colour and length of stipules and fruit pedicels), which he ultimately explained by inter-specific hybridization. He supposed that hybridization leads to the formation of a primary tetraploid hybrid, which he described as *S. ×kurkae* F. Dvořák (Dvořák 1989), accompanied by further gene introgression from *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma*. However, the assumed tetraploid state of *S. ×kurkae* was documented only by a single chromosome count (Dvořák 1989), as in the case of *S. echinosperma*. With such limited data, Dvořák (1990) could not credibly infer the cytotype structure of the populations and morphotypes of the plants he studied.

The current state of knowledge of the central-European endemic *S. echinosperma* is fairly fragmentary. The chromosome numbers supporting the ploidy level difference between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* and their putative hybrid *S. ×kurkae* are especially sparse and the morphological delimitation of *S. ×kurkae* and several reported morphotypes within *S. ×kurkae* (Dvořák 1989, 1990) are rather vague. It is obvious that *S. rubra* and *S. echinosperma* need to be revised based on an extensive screening of their morphological and cytotype variation. Therefore, we have addressed the following questions: (i) What is the cytotype structure of populations of *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*? (ii) What is the extent of the morphological variation and differences between particular cytotypes/ species? (iii) Does the data on the morphology and genome size support the existence of hybrids between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*?

#### Materials and methods

#### Plants

Five hundred and fifteen plants were collected from 27 populations of *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra* for the morphometric and flow-cytometric analyses during the years 2008 and 2009. They were collected predominantly in the southern part of Bohemia in the center of *S. echinosperma* distribution (see Appendix 1 for the exact localities and acronyms of the populations used in the text). Only mature plants with ripe capsules were collected. The numbers of plants per population ranged from 15 to 24. The only exception was the Cakov population (*S. rubra*), which consisted of only three plants. However, they occurred in a habitat atypical of *S. rubra* (an exposed pond bottom) and were therefore included in the analyses. Voucher specimens are deposited in the herbarium CBFS.

In addition, the type specimens of *S.* ×*kurkae* and *S. echinosperma* were included in the morphometric analyses. The holotype of *S.* ×*kurkae* (Czech Republic, southern Bohemia, Záblatí: southern shore of the Záblatský rybník fishpond, 425 m a.s.l.; approximate coordinates:  $49^{\circ}06'00''N$ ,  $14^{\circ}40'00''E$ ; 27. 6. 1942 leg. R. Kurka, CB 36098) consists of only one plant. There are two syntypes of *S. echinosperma* (Czech Republic, southern Bohemia, Protivín: at the Švarcenberský rybník fishpond near the village, 380 m a.s.l.; approximate coordinates:  $49^{\circ}12'28''N$ ,  $14^{\circ}14'04''E$ ; 08.1876 and 4. 9. 1880 leg. F. Čelakovský, PR 374981 and PR 374982, respectively). There are four plants on the former sheet, all of which were used for the morphometric measurements. There are eight plants on the latter sheet, of which only four are suitable for measuring morphological characters.

#### Cytological analyses

Flow cytometry was employed for estimating the genome size (relative fluorescence intensity) and DNA ploidy level (sensu Suda et al. 2006) of all the plants collected. We used the simplified two-step procedure of nuclear isolation and staining (Otto 1990) modified for plant tissues following the protocol of Doležel et al. (2007). Fresh leaves together with an appropriate amount of the internal standard were chopped using a razor blade in a Petri dish containing 0.5 ml ice-cold Otto I buffer (0.1 M citric acid, 0.5% v/v Tween 20). *Glycine max* 'Polanka' was used as the internal standard (2C = 2.50 pg, Doležel et al. 1994). The suspension was filtered through a 42 nylon mesh and after five minute incubation at room temperature 1 ml of staining solution containing Otto II buffer (0.4 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> · 12 H<sub>2</sub>O), fluorochrome 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; 4  $\mu$ g/ml) and  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol (2  $\mu$ l/ml) was added. The staining took 1–2 min at room temperature. The samples were run on a Partec PA II flow cytometer (Partec GmbH, Münster, Germany) equipped with a mercury arc lamp. Fluorescence intensity of 5000 particles was recorded and the sample/standard ratio of fluorescent intensities and coefficients of variation (CV) of the peaks were calculated. Only analyses with coefficients of variation below 5% were accepted. Due to the low quality of the histograms and presence of endopolyploidy, each individual of S. echinosperma was analysed separately. For S. rubra, it was possible to use pooled samples of up to 5 individuals. Only analyses enabling precise estimation of the relative fluorescence were used for statistical comparisons of the genome size (150 samples with 237 plants), while the poor quality samples were used only for assessing the ploidy level.

The same method, but with the fluorochrome propidium iodide (PI) together with RNaseIIa (both at a final concentration of 50  $\mu$ g/ml) replacing DAPI in the staining solution, was used for estimating the genome size of an additional set of plants. Since the PI fluorochrome intercalates evenly between the DNA base-pairs, it can be used to assess the total content of DNA in mass units (Doležel et al. 2007). *Lycopersicon esculentum* 'Stupické polní rané' (2C = 1.96 pg, Doležel et al. 1992) was used as the internal standard. The samples were run on a Partec CyFlow SL flow cytometer (Partec GmbH, Münster, Germany) equipped with a 532 nm (green) diode-pumped solid-state laser (100 mW output). Plants grown from seeds in a growth chamber from three populations per species/cytotype were analysed (Appendix 1). Three plants from each population were used for the analysis; each plant was repeatedly measured on three different days. Relatively high coefficients of variation of up to 6.4% were accepted if the repeated measurements resulted in a consistent genome size. If the difference between individual measurements of one individual exceeded 2%, additional measurements were performed and the most outlying measurement was discarded.

To confirm the FCM results, chromosome counts were carried out on three plants of each species and cytotype (populations Malobor, Smrzov, and StHlina) using a rapid squash method. The apical root meristems of germinated seedlings were pre-treated with a saturated water solution of p-dichlorobenzene (3 h, room temperature), fixed in a 3:1 mixture of 96% ethanol and glacial acetic acid overnight at 4°C, macerated in 1:1 mixture of 96% ethanol and hydrochloric acid for 1 minute, and stained with lacto-propionic orceine. The chromosomes were counted using a light microscope at a magnification of 1000×.

#### Morphometry

In total, 13 quantitative and 6 derived ratio characters were used for the analyses (Table 1). Diagnostic characters reported by Dvořák (1979, 1990) and other important characters based on our field experience were included. The seed colour of the sampled plants, one of the important characters for traditional species delimitation used by Czech authors (Dostál 1989, Dvořák 1990, Hrouda 2002), was also recorded. However, as the colour was difficult to score, it was not used in the statistical analyses. Unfortunately, it was not possible to include floral characters since flowers were not present on plants with ripe seeds. Three randomly selected leaves, stipules and capsules from one of the primary stems were measured and the average values used. One seed was collected from three randomly chosen capsules from the lower part of the main inflorescence. Seed dimensions and papilla length were measured on light microscope photographs (40x magnification) using tpsDig 2.12 (Rohlf 2008). Papilla shape (PapRat) was expressed as the ratio of the width of the upper part (head, usually broad in S. echinosperma) and that of the lower part of the papilla (neck; Fig. 1). Papillae without a head wider than its neck were assigned the value 1. The density of papillae (PapNum) was expressed as the number of papillae visible on one quarter of a seed's circumference (Fig. 1).

The data were processed by multivariate statistical analyses. Characters that deviated most from a normal distribution in each of the pre-defined groups were log-transformed (Table 1).

Table 1. – Morphological characters used in the morphometric analyses and summary of their values for *Spergularia rubra* (249 individuals), *S. echinosperma* tetraploids (184 individuals) and *S. echinosperma* diploids (61 individuals). The numbers denote (minimum–) 10th percentile/**mean**/90th percentile (–maximum). Characters log-transformed prior to the CDA analysis are marked with an asterisk.

Acronym	Character [units]	S. echinosperma diploid	S. echinosperma tetraploid	S. rubra
CapsLeng*	capsule length [mm]	(1.9–)2.5/ <b>3.0</b> /3.5 (–4.1)	(2.6–)3.0/ <b>3.6</b> /4.3 (–5.5)	(2.3–)3.0/ <b>3.5</b> /4.0 (–4.6)
FrPedLen*	length of the fruit pedicel adjacent to the capsule [mm]	(1.7–)4.2/ <b>6.0</b> /8.1 (–12.5)	(2.0–)4.1/ <b>6.9</b> /10.5 (–23.7)	(1.5–)2.3/ <b>3.6</b> /5.6 (–8.4)
InterLen*	length of the internode adjacent to the measured leaf [mm]	(5.9–)8.5/ <b>12.0</b> /15.8 (–26.8)	(2.2–)4.8/11.1/19.0 (–33.5)	(1.3–)2.8/7.7/16.3 (–28.4)
Int-Leaf*	internode length/leaf length ratio	(0.78–)0.94/ <b>1.35/</b> 1.78 (–2.49)	(0.37–)0.65/ <b>1.03</b> /1.52 (–2.77)	(0.24–)0.54/ <b>0.98</b> /1.46 (–2.86)
LeafLeng*	leaf length [mm]	(4.1–)5.6/ <b>9.4/</b> 14.6 (–18.8)	(2.5–)5.5/11.0/17.9 (–24.7)	(3.0–)4.5/7.7/14.1 (–24.8)
LeafRat*	leaf length/width ratio	(9.8–)13.3/ <b>20.5</b> /30.2 (–45.3)	(5.0–)11.3/ <b>18.9</b> /28.3 (–49.4)	(6.6–)9.2/ <b>13.8</b> /20.0 (–32.5)
LeafWidt*	leaf width [mm]	(0.3–)0.3/0.5/0.6 (–0.7)	(0.3–)0.4/ <b>0.6</b> /0.8 (–1.1)	(0.2–)0.4/ <b>0.6</b> /0.8 (–1.2)
LengSeed*	seed length [µm] (Fig. 1)	(394–)409/ <b>451</b> /484 (–514)	(439–)479/ <b>535</b> /586 (–642)	(415–)469/ <b>517</b> /567 (–636)
PapHei*	papilla height [µm] (Fig. 1)	(16–)18/20/23 (–26)	(16–)21/ <b>25</b> /29 (–35)	(12–)15/18/21 (–25)
PapNum	number of papillae on one quarter of the seed circumference (papillae density)	(10–)12/15/17 (–20)	(7–)8/11/14 (–16)	(3–)5/7/9 (–12)
PapRat*	ratio of the papilla upper part ("head") width and papilla lower part ("neck") width (papilla shape)	(1.04–)1.13/ <b>1.29</b> /1.48 (–1.78)	(1.09–)1.23/ <b>1.49</b> /1.84 (–2.25)	(1.00–)1.03/ <b>1.15</b> /1.29 (–1.44)
Ped-Cap*	pedicel/capsule length ratio	(0.68–)1.41/ <b>2.02</b> /2.69 (–3.68)	(0.70–)1.26/ <b>1.90</b> /2.89 (–5.39)	(0.40–)0.65/ <b>1.02</b> /1.52 (–2.37)
PlHeight*	height of the longest stem [cm]	(3-)3/6/10 (-12)	(1–)2/7/12 (–23)	(3-)6/10/16 (-31)
SeedCol	seed color	black	black	brown
SeedRat*	seed length/width ratio	(1.22–)1.25/ <b>1.35</b> /1.44 (–1.55)	(1.17–)1.25/ <b>1.33</b> /1.41 (–1.57)	(1.10–)1.23/ <b>1.30</b> /1.39 (–1.54)
StemsNum*	number of stems	(1-)1/4/9 (-19)	(1-)1/5/9 (-19)	(2-)5/18/34 (-63)
StpLt*	stipule length [mm]	(1.0–)1.1/ <b>1.4</b> /1.6 (–1.8)	(1.3–)1.7/ <b>2.2</b> /2.8 (–4.0)	(2.1–)2.9/ <b>3.5</b> /4.3 (–4.9)
StpRT*	stipule length/width ratio	(0.48–)0.67/ <b>0.86</b> /1.16 (–2.0)	(0.75–)0.98/ <b>1.31</b> /1.68 (–2.09)	(1.43–)1.81/ <b>2.34</b> /2.85 (–4.04)
StpWd	stipule width [mm]	(0.7–)1.3/1.7/2 (–2.3)	(0.8–)1.4/ <b>1.7</b> /2.1 (–2.5)	(1.0–)1.3/ <b>1.6</b> /1.9 (–2.4)
WidtSeed*	seed width [µm] (Fig. 1)	(267–)310/ <b>337</b> /373 (–405)	(283–)362/ <b>405</b> /452 (–491)	(315–)361/ <b>401</b> /451 (–501)

606



Fig. 1. – Characters measured on the seeds (A) and surface papillae (B). The black curved line specifies the part of the seed circumference where the density of papillae was determined. The longitudinal border of this part is a plane halving the vector of maximal seed length and perpendicular to it (indicated by a dotted line). The character PapRat was computed by dividing the width of the papilla head by the width of the neck.

The plants were divided into two groups based on seed colour, black vs brown, corresponding to the species S. echinosperma and S. rubra, respectively. The black-seeded plants were additionally divided into two groups based on the flow cytometry data (see Results). One population (Veselsky), however, could not be unambiguously assigned to either of the groups since its seeds were dark brown rather than black or brown. Therefore, it was excluded from the analyses. To find out which characters significantly separated the groups, canonical discriminant analysis (CDA) with forward selection of characters was applied. The type specimens and plants from the Veselsky population were projected to the ordination space as passive samples. The threshold significance level was set to  $\alpha$  = 0.05 and a Monte-Carlo permutation test (999 permutations) used. The analysis was carried out in CANOCO for Windows 4.5 (ter Braak & Šmilauer 2002). The predictive ability of the selected characters was subsequently tested by classificatory discriminant analysis based on the posterior group membership probabilities in the statistical package R 2.11.0 (R Development Core Team 2010). Cross-validation using each population as a leave-out unit was used (the lda function from the MASS package). The herbarium specimens and plants from the Veselsky population were classified using classification rules based on the other populations with known ploidy levels. The percentage of misclassified samples in each group served as a measure of the predictive ability.

We also reanalysed the data by classification trees that represent a non-parametric alternative to the classificatory discriminant analysis. The essential difference between these two methods is that classification trees, instead of using all characters together, create a hierarchical classification based on univariate splits that can then be visualized as an easily interpretable tree diagram (Breiman et al. 1984). Although this approach has not been widely used in plant taxonomy, it is suitable for analyzing taxonomic data (e.g. Joly & Bruneau 2007, Depypere et al. 2009). We used the function rpart (package rpart) implemented in the R statistical package (R Development Core Team 2010). The minimum split parameter (minsplit) was set to 1 and the initial complexity parameter (cp) to 0.001. A cross-validation using the populations as the leave-out subsamples was used to assess the optimal tree complexity, instead of random subsamples as implemented in the original method (Venables & Ripley 2002). The resulting tree was selected on the basis of the 1-SE rule (Venables & Ripley 2002).

#### Results

#### Cytological analysis

Two groups with different genome sizes were discovered among black seeded plants morphologically determined as *Spergularia echinosperma*. Because the chromosomes are very small (typically < 1  $\mu$ m) we were able only to roughly estimate the number of chromosomes. However, this was sufficient to identify one cytotype as diploid (2n = ca 18) and the other as tetraploid (2n = ca 36) (hereafter referred to as "diploid *S. echinosperma*" and "tetraploid *S. echinosperma*"). Only diploids were found at three localities and only tetraploids at nine localities, and at two localities there was a mixture in which diploids were in the minority (frequencies of 5% and 30% in the Cky and Driten populations, respectively). Only tetraploids were recorded in the populations of *S. rubra*.

The tetraploid cytotype of *S. echinosperma* has a larger genome than tetraploid *S. rubra*. The mean difference was 7.8% using DAPI staining and 8.3% using PI staining (Fig. 2, Table 2). The monoploid (1Cx) genome size of diploid *S. echinosperma* is larger by 5.3% (DAPI staining) or 3.2% (PI staining) than that of tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (Fig. 2, Table 2). We were able to demonstrate these differences in the genome sizes of the three cytotypes using simultaneous flow cytometry analysis (Fig. 3). The mean somatic (2C) genome sizes based on PI staining and converted into mass of DNA is 0.63 pg for diploid *S. echinosperma*, 1.22 pg for tetraploid *S. echinosperma* and 1.12 pg for *S. rubra*. The genome sizes of the plants from the Veselsky population fall within the range of tetraploid *S. echinosperma*. In *S. rubra* (population Luznice) we found one individual that had a genome size that was 2.5% smaller (PI staining).

#### Morphometry

Marginal effects of all characters in the CDA were highly significant (P < 0.001). Forward selection identified 12 characters that contributed most to the separation of the groups (Table 3, Fig. 4). Both *Spergularia rubra* and the cytotypes of *S. echinosperma* were clearly differentiated from each other. The tetraploid *S. echinosperma* was morphologically intermediate between the diploid cytotype and *S. rubra*. Plants from the Veselsky population, assigned to tetraploid *S. echinosperma* based on genome size, were markedly closer to *S. rubra* (Fig. 4). The position of the plants of the Cakov population, which were collected from the exposed bottom of a pond, was at the edge of the morphological



Fig. 2. – Box-and-whisker plot of the equivalents of the 1Cx values calculated from the genome sizes based on DAPI staining for diploid *Spergularia echinosperma* (ech2x), tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (ech4x), *S. rubra* (rub4x), a hypothetical *S. echinosperma-S. rubra* allopolyploid (allo) and hypothetical *S. echinosperma* autopolyploid (auto), expressed in terms of a ratio with the 1C value of the standard *Glycine max*.

Table 2. – Summary of the genome sizes of the *Spergularia echinosperma* cytotypes, *S. rubra*, and simulated auto- and allopolyploids based on DAPI staining (expressed as the ratio to the 1C value of the standard *Glycine max*) and PI staining (expressed in picograms of DNA). 2C – somatic genome size; 1Cx – monoploid g. s.; N – number of samples; SE – standard error of mean.

Taxon	PI staining			DAPI staining		
	Ν	Mean 2C±SE	Mean 1Cx±SE	Ν	Mean 2C±SE	Mean 1Cx±SE
S. echinosperma 2x	9	$0.627 \pm 0.001$	0.314±0.001	21	$0.464 \pm 0.002$	0.232±0.001
S. echinosperma 4x	9	1.217±0.002	$0.304 \pm 0.001$	92	$0.880 \pm 0.001$	0.220±0.001
S. rubra 4x	8	1.124±0.001	0.281±0.001	16	$0.815 \pm 0.002$	0.203±0.001
S. rubra outlier	1	1.097	0.274		_	
Hypothetical allopolyploid	72	$1.190 \pm 0.001$	0.297±0.001	336	$0.872 \pm 0.001$	0.218±0.001
Hypothetical autopolyploid	45	$1.255 \pm 0.001$	$0.314 \pm 0.001$	231	$0.929 \pm 0.001$	$0.232 \pm 0.001$



Fig. 3. – Histogram of relative fluorescence of DAPI-stained nuclei of the diploid *Spergularia echinosperma* (ech2x), tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (ech4x) and tetraploid *S. rubra* (rub4x) corroborating the differences in the genome sizes of these three taxa. The genus *Spergularia* displays considerable endopolyploidy with three detectable peaks for a single plant corresponding to 2C, 4C, and 8C DNA content. This allows direct comparison of diploids (4C peak) and tetraploids (2C peaks).

variability of *S. rubra* (not shown), but they did not deviate significantly from the rest of the group either in morphology or genome size.

The best predictors for all the three groups were stipule length (StpLt) and the stipule length/width ratio (StpRT). As they are correlated, only marginal effects of both characters were significant, while inclusion of one character made the conditional effect of the other insignificant. Density of papillae (PapNum) could also be used to discriminate between the three groups. Number of stems (StemsNum) and plant height (PlHeight) proved to be an effective way of discriminating mainly between *S. rubra* and both *S. echinosperma* cytotypes. Seed dimensions (LengSeed and WidtSeed) and capsule length (CapsLeng) differed between the diploids and both tetraploids. Finally, papilla height (PapHei), papilla shape (PapRat), fruit pedicel length (FrPedLen), leaf length (LeafLeng), and stipule width (StpWd) best differentiated tetraploid *S. echinosperma* from the other two groups. Values of all the quantitative characters measured are summarized in Table 1.

The predictive ability of the 12 characters selected was tested using classificatory discriminant analysis. All individuals of *S. rubra* and all but one individual of the diploid *S. echinosperma* were correctly classified. The one misclassified sample was mistaken for the tetraploid *S. echinosperma*. In the tetraploid *S. echinosperma*, the number of misclassifications was higher with three individuals erroneously classified as diploids and one individual as *S. rubra*. The overall percentage misclassified was very low, 1.0% (Table 4).

Only 82.2% of individuals from the Veselsky population were correctly classified, whereas it was 97.8% in all the other populations of tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (Table 4). The discriminant analysis assigned all the misclassified individuals from the Veselsky population to *S. rubra*.

98.6

239.0

134.2

40.1

161.3

15.4

34.5

95.9

144.1

41.5

42.1

23.7

50.4

16.5

13.0

317.8

158.5

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

LengSeed

PapNum

FrPedLen

PlHeight

PapRat

StpWd

LeafLeng

WidtSeed

StemsNum

CapsLeng

InterLen

Int-Leaf

LeafRat

SeedRat

LeafWidt

Ped-Cap

StpRT

0.069

0.065

0.059

0.063

0.019

0.011

0.010

0.009

0.006

0.005

0.003

0.003

0.003

0.003

0.002

0.002

0.001

47.1

48.4

48.6

57.6

17.7

10.4

9.4

8.5

6.1

4.8

n.s.

n.s.

n.s.

n.s.

n.s.

n.s.

n.s.

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.001

0.004

0.001

0.002

0.009

0.028

with their condition (CorE scores). $\lambda_A$ selected character tor in the model).	onal and margin – eigenvalue r s); $λ_1$ – eigenva	nal effects a representin alue represe	and their co g the condi enting the n	orrelations wi tional effect narginal effec	th axes of th of each char at of each char	e canonical racter (when aracter (whe	discrimina n added to en it is the c	int analysis the already only predic-
Character	Con	ditional ef	fects	CorE	scores	Ma	arginal effe	cts
	$\lambda_{_{A}}$	F	р	Axis 1	Axis 2	$\lambda_{_{1}}$	F	Р
StpLt	0.801	328.8	0.001	-0.8825	0.1497	0.801	328.8	0.001
PapHei	0.413	257.7	0.001	0.5455	0.4967	0.544	183.9	0.001

-0.2011

0.7830

0.6068

-0.3720

0.5631

0.1834

0.3151

-0.3150

-0.6597

-0.2036

\_

0.5418

0.2463

0.4206

0.1455

0.1786

0.4765

-0.1339

0.3382

-0.0389

-0.1118

0.334

0.654

0.429

0.151

0.494

0.061

0.131

0.326

0.453

0.156

0.158

0.092

0.186

0.065

0.052

0.785

0.487

Table 3 - Morphological characters of Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra tested in the forward selection



Fig. 4. - Results of CDA of individuals (A) and characters selected by forward selection (B). Spergularia echinosperma diploids: grey circles; S. echinosperma tetraploids: grey triangles; S. rubra tetraploids: grey Xcrosses; population Veselsky: black crosses; S. echinosperma syntypes: black squares; S. ×kurkae holotype: black diamond. The arrow denotes the proposed lectotype of S. echinosperma. The two canonical axes extract 46.1% and 30.3% of the total variation among the groups.

. . .

Table 4. – Summary of the classification matrices of diploid <i>Spergularia echinosperma</i> (ech2x), tetraplo	1d
S. echinosperma (ech4x) and S. rubra (rub4x) resulting from the classificatory discriminant and classification	on
tree analyses.	

Cla	ssificatory dis	criminant anal	lysis	Classification trees			
observed	ech2x	ech4x	rub4x	observed	ech2x	ech4x	rub4x
predicted	-			predicted	_		
ech2x ech4x rub4x	60 (98.4%) 1 (1.6%) 0 (0%)	3 (1.6%) 180 (97.8%) 1 (0.6%)	0 (0%) 0 (0%) 249 (100%)	ech2x ech4x rub4x	61 (100%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)	5 (2.7%) 175 (95.1%) 4 (2.2%)	0 (0%) 4 (1.6%) 245 (98.4%)

Table 5. – Posterior probabilities of classification for the *Spergularia*  $\times kurkae$  holotype (CB) and *S. echinosperma* syntypes (PR; the proposed lectotype marked as "It") obtained from the classificatory discriminant analysis (ech2x – diploid *Spergularia echinosperma*, ech4x – tetraploid *S. echinosperma*, rub4x – *S. rubra*).

Specimen		Posterior probability for	
	ech2x	ech4x	rub4x
CB-36098	$3.43 \times 10^{-6}$	0.99	$3.31 \times 10^{-5}$
PR-374981 / 1	$1.46 \times 10^{-6}$	0.99	$4.58 \times 10^{-10}$
PR-374981 / 2	$2.39 \times 10^{-8}$	0.69	0.30
PR-374981 / 3	$1.37 \times 10^{-6}$	0.99	$2.40 \times 10^{-5}$
PR-374981 / 4 (lt)	0.99	$1.06 \times 10^{-11}$	$5.27 \times 10^{-24}$
PR-374982 / 1	0.99	$1.08 \times 10^{-03}$	$5.07 \times 10^{-13}$
PR-374982 / 2	$7.69 \times 10^{-3}$	0.99	$2.54 \times 10^{-5}$
PR-374982 / 3	0.67	0.32	$1.31 \times 10^{-4}$
PR-374982 / 4	0.99	$6.34 \times 10^{-5}$	$9.64 \times 10^{-16}$

The *S.* ×*kurkae* holotype was classified as tetraploid *S. echinosperma* with a nearly 100% probability (Table 5). Each of the *S. echinosperma* syntypes contained a mixture of plants classified as either diploid or tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (Table 5).

The final classification tree selected had 7 terminal nodes (complexity parameter cp = 0.011). It confirmed the high discrimination power of the two characters describing stipules, StpRT and StpLt, which distinguished both the cytotypes of *S. echinosperma* and between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*. Other characters were used to discriminate the two cytotypes within *S. echinosperma*, seed length (LengSeed) and density of papillae (PapNum) and for distinguishing between tetraploid *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* the number of stems (StemsNum) together with density of papillae (PapNum) (Fig. 5). The overall predictive power of this model was slightly lower than that of the discriminant analysis (error rate 2.6%; Table 4). All individuals of diploid *S. echinosperma* were classified correctly. Within the tetraploid *S. echinosperma*, five individuals were erroneously classified as diploids and four as *S. rubra*. There was also a higher percentage of misclassification among *S. rubra* plants, four of which were incorrectly classified as tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (Table 4).



Fig. 5. – Classification tree of individuals of diploid *Spergularia echinosperma* (ech2x), tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (ech4x) and *S. rubra* (rub4x). If a character value matches the classification rule, the determination continues to the left branch, otherwise to the right branch. Lengths of the branches correspond to the relative discriminatory powers of the respective rules. The group names at the terminal nodes indicate the predicted classification of a particular node, whereas the numbers separated by slashes indicate actual membership of samples classified to a particular node (ech2x/ech4x/rub4x).

#### Discussion

#### Ploidy levels and morphology

We found three different entities in the populations of *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra* studied. All the populations collected from outside of the exposed bottoms of ponds and one exceptional population growing on the exposed bottom of the Čakov fishpond belonged to the tetraploid cytotype of *S. rubra*. No other cytotypes were found within this species, which confirms the uniformity of *S. rubra* in central Europe (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990, Wisskirchen & Haeupler 1998, Marhold et al. 2007). The occurrence of one individual with a slightly smaller genome can be most probably attributed to aneuploidy, although this was not confirmed by a chromosome count.

A diploid and a tetraploid cytotype were recorded in the other populations growing on the exposed bottoms of ponds that were identified as *S. echinosperma*. The morphometric analysis showed that the tetraploid *S. echinosperma* cytotype was significantly different from the diploid cytotype and also from *S. rubra*. The best morphological characters for discriminating between diploid *S. echinosperma*, tetraploid *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* were those of stipules and seeds (Fig. 4, Fig. 5, Table 3). Stipule length and stipule length/width ratio of all three entities differed (Table 1). However, the latter was more



Fig. 6. – Typical stipules and seeds of *Spergularia rubra* (A), tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (B) and diploid *S. echinosperma* (C).

useful for field determination as it can be easily assessed visually. The stipules of diploid *S. echinosperma* are shorter than wide, those of tetraploid *S. echinosperma* as long as or up to  $1.7 \times$  longer than wide and those of *S. rubra* more than  $1.7 \times$  longer than wide (Fig. 6). Based on this single character, we were able to classify correctly 87.6% of our samples.

The seed colour is mentioned as the character that can be used to discriminate between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* in the original description of *S. echinosperma* (Čelakovský 1881) and is used by some (e.g. Dostál 1989, Dvořák 1990, Hrouda 2002) but not all authors (e.g. Friedrich 1979, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Jäger & Werner 2002, Fischer et al. 2008). Our analyses confirmed that seed colour can be reliably used to discriminate between *S. echinosperma* (both cytotypes) with black seeds and *S. rubra* with brown seeds.

Other relatively reliable characters, which were less useful in the field, were seed size and testa structure. In accordance with the original description (Čelakovský 1881) and other authors (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990) the seeds of *S. rubra* differ from those of *S. echinosperma* in having a low density of surface papillae, which are also considerably smaller. In addition, the *S. echinosperma* cytotypes strongly differed from each other in seed morphology. The diploids displayed significantly smaller and more densely vertucose

30

seeds with a lower density of papillae and less pronounced papilla heads than the tetraploids (Fig. 6). Based on the results of the morphometric analyses, we compiled the following determination key for the taxa/cytotypes:

1a	Seeds brown, sparsely verrucose (5–9 papillae per 1/4 of the seed circumference); stipules at least 1.7× longer
	than wide, at least 2.9 mm long; plants usually with more than 5 stems
1b	> Seeds black, densely verrucose (8-17 papillae per 1/4 of the seed circumference); stipules less than 1.7× lon-
	ger than wide, less than 2.8 mm long; plants usually with fewer than 9 stems2
2a	Stipules shorter than wide, less than 1.6 mm long; seeds less than 0.48 mm long, density of papillae 12–17 per
	1/4 of the seed circumference
2b	Stipules longer than wide, more than 1.7 mm long; seeds more than 0.48 mm long, density of papillae 8-14
	per 1/4 of the seed circumference
2b	Stipules longer than wide, more than 1.7 mm long; seeds more than 0.48 mm long, density of papillae 8 per 1/4 of the seed circumference

#### Genome size

The genome sizes of the taxa studied are the first published for the genus *Spergularia*. Their genomes are quite small, which is a common feature of the *Caryophyllaceae* (Bennett & Leitch 2010). The genome of the diploid *S. echinosperma* (2C = 0.63 pg) is even smaller than the smallest genome reported in this family so far (2C = 0.84 pg for *Polycarpaea carnosa* C. Sm. ex Buch; Bennett & Leitch 2010).

#### Origin of the tetraploid cytotype of Spergularia echinosperma

The tetraploid cytotype of *S. echinosperma* was morphologically intermediate between the diploid cytotype of *S. echinosperma* and (tetraploid) *S. rubra* suggesting hybrid origin. To test the hypothesis of allopolyploid origin of tetraploid *S. echinosperma*, we modelled the genome sizes of the hypothetical allopolyploids by combining two chromosome sets from each of the diploid *S. echinosperma* individuals (an unreduced gamete) with two chromosome sets from each of the *S. rubra* individuals (a reduced gamete) in our dataset (Fig. 2, Table 2). We used the data obtained from both the DAPI and PI staining. The mean genome size of the simulated allopolyploids was lower than the mean genome size of tetraploid *S. echinosperma* by 0.9% based on the DAPI and 2.2% on the PI staining. The difference was tested using a Mann-Whitney U-test in Statistica 8 (StatSoft 1998) and was significant for both the DAPI (U = 8441; P < 0.001) and PI (U = 0; P < 0.001) staining. This difference challenges the allopolyploid pathway, because it needs to assume an increase in genome size after polyploidization, which is rarely recorded (Dhillon et al. 1983, Jakob et al. 2004, Leitch et al. 2008) compared to the ubiquitous decrease in genome size.

We are aware that one-step hybridization through unreduced gametes of the diploid is not the only possibility. However, we think it is the most likely scenario. Angiosperms commonly produce unreduced gametes and this is viewed as the primary source of neopolyploid formation, especially in diploid-tetraploid crosses (Ramsey & Schemske 1998). For *Spergularia* it is reported that a few tetraploid seeds were produced by a cross between *S. maritima* (All.) Chiov. ( $\varphi$ , diploid) and *S. rupicola* Lebel ex Le Jolis ( $\delta$ , tetraploid) (Ratter, 1976). The alternative pathway of allotetraploid formation involves an intermediate stage of (at least partly) fertile triploid progeny formed by fusion of normally developed gametes of the parental species ("triploid bridge"). These triploids can produce tetraploid offspring by selfing or backcrossing to one of the parental taxa (Bretagnolle & Thompson 1995). Though rare, this pathway of polyploid formation can be significant in
diploid-tetraploid hybridization (e.g. Vardi & Zohary 1967, Anamthawat-Jónsson & Thorsson 2003, Aagaard et al. 2005, Lo et al. 2010). In *Spergularia*, nearly all triploid off-spring of various diploid-tetraploid crosses are sterile and the fertility of seeds from triploid plants is very low (0.1-0.2%) (Ratter 1976). This together with the absence of triploids in wild populations (both our data and in the literature) makes the triploid bridge pathway highly improbable.

As an alternative to allopolyploidization we also investigated the possibility that tetraploid S. echinosperma could be an autopolyploid derived from the diploid cytotype. We modelled the genome sizes of hypothetical autopolyploids by adding the genome sizes of each pair of S. echinosperma diploids in our dataset and also by doubling the genome size of each of the diploids (simulating autogamy) (Fig. 2, Table 2). The mean genome size of the hypothetical autopolyploid was greater by 5.4% based on DAPI and 3.1% based on PI staining than that of tetraploid S. echinosperma. There was no overlap in the genome sizes of the simulated autopolyploids and tetraploid S. echinosperma based on either of the methods of staining. However, this difference is relatively small and could be simply attributed to genome downsizing, which is a common phenomenon in polyploids (Leitch & Bennet 2004). Thus, it is not possible to exclude this pathway of autopolyploid formation based on the available data. The intermediate morphology of tetraploid S. echinosperma could result from subsequent homoploid hybridization with S. rubra. On the other hand, our morphometric data indicate that tetraploid S. echinosperma is morphologically quite homogenous and homoploid hybridization with S. rubra is not frequent (only the Veselsky population was conspicuously intermediate between tetraploid S. echinosperma and S. rubra).

#### Taxonomy and nomenclature

The tetraploid cytotype of *S. echinosperma* was more or less intermediate between diploid *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*. Morphological intermediacy between the "pure" *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* is also the attribute of the assumed hybrid *S. ×kurkae* according to Dvořák (1990). Indeed, discriminant analyses placed the *S. ×kurkae* holotype among the *S. echinosperma* tetraploids (Fig. 4, Table 5). Therefore, we conclude it was this tetraploid cytotype that Dvořák (1989) described as *S. ×kurkae* F. Dvořák. It is also obvious that Dvořák (1990) intended to apply the name *S. echinosperma* to the diploid cytotype. He published the diploid chromosome count as the only one for *S. echinosperma* (Dvořák & Dadáková 1984, Dvořák 1990). He even annotated, but never published, a lectotype of the name *Spergularia rubra* subsp. *echinosperma* (Fig. 7) that corresponds well with the diploids based on our results (Fig. 4, Table 5), although the original material of this name is heterogeneous and comprises both diploids and tetraploids. We therefore propose lectotypification of this name in the sense of the diploids in the present paper and we propose the same individual as F. Dvořák as the lectotype (Fig. 7).

Dvořák (1990) also reported the existence of several distinct morphotypes within  $S. \times kurkae$ . In our study, the three entities we identified were quite homogenous except for one population of tetraploid *S. echinosperma* (Veselsky) that was markedly shifted towards *S. rubra* (Fig. 4). This morphotype corresponds to one of the morphotypes described by Dvořák (1990) from the area of the Českomoravská vrchovina Highlands, characterized by the dark brown colour of its seeds and elongated stipules. Taxonomic status of this morphotype is unknown; however, its origin as a cross between tetraploid *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* is possible.



Fig. 7. – The proposed lectotype for the name *Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelak.) Asch. et Graebn., PR 374981, marked by the arrow. The text on the label reads: "*Spergularia echinosperma* n. sp. forma *pallens*, u Švarcenberského rybníka u Protivína se *Scirpus Michelianus*, Aug 1876 leg. Čelak."

Based on current data it is not possible to designate the definitive taxonomic treatment of tetraploid *S. echinosperma*. Although its hybrid origin is strongly suggested by the morphological data, the discrepancy between the expected and observed genomes size needs further investigation. It is also unknown whether tetraploid *S. echinosperma* represents an ecologically and/or geographically well-separated entity, which would indicate it is a separate species, but this will need more extensive sampling. For now, therefore, we do not propose treating the tetraploid cytotype of *S. echinosperma* as a separate taxon.

#### Nomenclature of S. echinosperma:

Spergularia echinosperma (Čelak.) Asch. et Graebn. in Ber. Deutsch. Bot. Ges. 11: 516, 1893.

Lectotype (**designated here**): "Spergularia echinosperma n. sp. forma pallens, u Švarcenberského rybníka u Protivína se Scirpus Michelianus, Aug 1876 leg. Čelak.", PR 374981, left bottom individual (marked by the arrow in Fig. 7); the lectotype belongs to the diploid cytotype.

## Acknowledgements

We are indebted to Kateřina Šumberová, Pavlína Bukáčková, Ladislav Rektoris and the companies Blatenská ryba, a.s., Rybářství Hluboká nad Vltavou, a.s., Lesy a rybníky města Českých Budějovic, s.r.o., Rybářství Kardašova Řečice, s.r.o., Školní rybářství Protivín, Rybářství Nové Hrady, s.r.o. and Rybářství Růžička, s.r.o. for their help with finding localities for our research. We are also much obliged to Jan Lepš and Petr Šmilauer for their valuable advice on statistics, to curators of the herbarium collections CB (M. Lepší) and PR (O. Šída and M. Ducháček) for help with the study of the type material, and to Petr Bureš, Martin Dančák and Jiří Danihelka for their valuable comments on the manuscript. Tony Dixon kindly improved our English. The work was supported by the Mattoni Awards for Studies of Biodiversity and Conservation Biology (2007), research project MSM6007665801 from the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic and project 138/2010/P from the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia. P.T. was supported by a long-term research development project no. RVO 67985939 from the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic.

### Souhrn

V předložené práci jsme se zabývali studiem morfologické a cytologické variability druhů *Spergularia echi*nosperma a *S. rubra*. Analyzovali jsme rostliny z celkem 27 populací zejména z jižních a západních Čech, kde je druh *S. echinosperma* nejhojnější. Navíc jsme do morfometrických analýz zahrnuli typové položky druhu *S. echi*nosperma a údajného křížence mezi *S. echinosperma* a *S. rubra*, popsaného jako *S. ×kurkae*. Cytometrická měření odhalila existenci dvou různých cytotypů – diploidního a tetraploidního – mezi rostlinami morfologicky odpovídajícími druhu *S. echinosperma*. U druhu *S. rubra* byl detekován jen tetraploidní cytotyp, jenž se velikostí genomu lišil od tetraploidního cytotypu *S. echinosperma*. Velikost genomu byla stanovena na 2C = 0,63 pg pro diploidy *S. echinosperma*, 2C = 1,22 pro tetraploidy *S. echinosperma* a 2C = 1,12 pg pro *S. rubra*. Všechny tři cytotypy se od sebe rovněž signifikantně lišily morfologicky. Tetraploidní cytotyp *S. echinosperma* byl nápadně intermediární mezi diploidním cytotypem a *S. rubra*. Nejdůležitějšími diskriminačními znaky jsou délka a poměr délky a šířky palistů, dále pak barva a velikost semen a rovněž také velikost a hustota jejich povrchových papil. Na základě studia morfologických znaků byl sestaven klíč na determinaci jednotlivých cytotypů:

<sup>=</sup> Spergularia rubra [subsp.] b. echinosperma Čelak. in Prodr. Fl. Böhmen 4: 867, 1881.

Morfologická analýza dále potvrdila totožnost holotypu *S. ×kurkae* s tetraploidním cytotypem *S. echinosperma*. Dvě existující typové položky druhu *S. echinosperma* obsahují jak diploidy tak tetraploidy tohoto druhu. Vzhledem k příslušnosti jména *S. ×kurkae* k tetraploidnímu cytotypu proto navrhujeme lektotypifikaci jména *S. rubra* subsp. *echinosperma* Čelak. ve smyslu diploidního cytotypu. Ačkoli morfologická data svědčí o hybridním původu tetraploidního cytotypu *S. echinosperma*, velikost genomu tetraploida je signifikantně vyšší ve srovnání s hypotetickým hybridem mezi diploidy *S. echinosperma* a tetraploidy *S. rubra*, a nelze tedy vyloučit i další způsoby vzniku tetraploidů (např. autotetraploidní vznik a následná hybridizace s druhem *S. rubra*). Vzhledem k dosud nejasnému původu tetraploidního cytotypu *S. echinosperma* a nedostatku údajů o jeho ekologii a rozšíření prozatím nenavrhujeme jeho rozlišování jako samostatného taxonu.

### References

- Aagaard S. M. D., Såstad S. M., Greilhuber J. & Moen A. (2005): A secondary hybrid zone between diploid Dactylorhiza incarnata ssp. cruenta and allotetraploid D. lapponica (Orchidaceae). – Heredity 94: 488–496.
- Anamthawat-Jonsson K. & Thorsson A. T. (2003): Natural hybridisation in birch: triploid hybrids between Betula nana and B. pubescens. – Plant Cell Tiss. Org. 75: 99–107.
- Ascherson P. & Graebner P. (1893): Beiträge zur Kenntniss der norddeutschen Flora. Ber. Deutsch. Bot. Ges. 11: 516–530.
- Bennett M. D. & Leitch I. J. (2010): Angiosperm DNA C-values database (release 7.0). URL: http://data.kew.org/cvalues.
- Breiman L., Friedman J., Stone C. J. & Olshen R. A. (1984): Classification and regression trees. Chapman & Hall, Pacific Grove.
- Bretagnolle F. & Thompson J. D. (1995): Gametes with the somatic chromosome number: mechanisms of their formation and role in the evolution of autopolypoid plants. – New Phytol. 129: 1–22.
- Čelakovský L. (1881): Prodromus der Flora von Böhmen. Vol. 4. Arch. Naturwiss. Landesdurchforsch. Böhm., sect. 3a, fasc. 4: 693–955, Prag.
- Depypere L., Chaerle P., Vander Munsbrugge K. & Goetghebeur P. (2009): Classification trees and plant identification: a case study of European *Prunus* section *Prunus* taxa. – Belg. J. Bot. 142: 163–176.
- Dhillon S. S., Wernsman E. A. & Miksche J. P. (1983): Evaluation of nuclear DNA content and heterochromatin changes in anther-derived dihaploids of tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) cv. Coker 139. – Can. J. Genet. Cytol. 25: 169–173.
- Doležel J., Doleželová M. & Novák F. (1994): Flow cytometric estimation of nuclear DNA amount in diploid bananas (*Musa acuminata* and *M. balbisiana*). – Biol. Pl. 36: 351–631.
- Doležel J., Greilhuber J. & Suda J. (2007): Estimation of nuclear DNA content in plants using flow cytometry. Nature Protocols 2: 2233–2244.
- Doležel J., Sgorbati S. & Lucretti S. (1992): Comparison of three DNA fluorochromes for flow cytometric estimation of nuclear DNA content in plants. – Physiol. Pl. 85: 625–631.
- Dostál J. (1989): Nová květena ČSSR [New Flora of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic]. Vol. 1. Academia, Praha.
- Dvořák F. (1979): Některé výsledky studia druhu Spergularia echinosperma Čelak. [Some study results of the species Spergularia echinosperma Čelak.]. – Zpr. Čs. Bot. Společ. 14: 109–116.
- Dvořák F. (1989): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.-Biol. 19: 301–322.
- Dvořák F. (1990): Spergularia kuřinka. In: Hejný S. & Slavík B. (eds), Květena České republiky [Flora of the Czech Republic] 2: 81–86, Academia, Praha.
- Dvořák F. & Dadáková B. (1984): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.-Biol. 14: 463–468.
- Fernandes A. & Leitao M. T. (1971): Contribution à la connaissance cytotaxonomique des Spermatophyta du Portugal III, Caryophyllaceae. – Bolm. Soc. Broteriana 45: 143–176.
- Fischer M. A., Oswald K. & Adler W. (2008): Exkusionsflora f
  ür Österreich, Liechtenstein und S
  üdtirol. Ed. 3. Biologiezentrum der Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseen, Linz.
- Friedrich H. C. (1979): Familie Caryophyllaceae. In: Reichinger K. H. (ed.), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa. Ed. 3/2: 763–1182, Verlag, Berlin.
- Hrouda L. (2002): Spergularia. In: Kubát K., Hrouda L., Chrtek J., Kaplan Z., Kirschner J. & Štěpánek J. (eds), Klíč ke květeně České republiky [Key to the Flora of the Czech Republic], p. 153–154, Academia, Praha.
- Jage H. (1974): Vorarbeiten zu einer Flora der Dübener Heide und ihrer näheren Umgebung. Verh. Bot. Ver. Prov. Brandenb. 109–111: 3–55.

- Jäger E. J. & Werner K. (2002): Exkursionsflora von Deutschland. Gefäßpflanzen: Kritischer Band. Ed. 9. Spektrum Akademischer Verlag Heidelberg, Berlin.
- Jakob S. S., Meister A. & Blattner F. R. (2004): Considerable genome size variation of *Hordeum* species (*Poaceae*) is linked to phylogeny, life form, ecology, and speciation rates. – Mol. Biol. Evol. 21: 860–869.
- Joly S. & Bruneau A. (2007): Delimiting species boundaries in Rosa sect. Cinnamomeae (Rosaceae) in eastern North America. – Syst. Bot. 32: 819–836.
- Leitch I. J. & Bennet M. D. (2004): Genome downsizing in polyploid plants. Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 82: 651-663.
- Leitch I. J., Hanson L., Lim K. Y., Kovarik A., Chase M. W., Clarkson J. J. & Leitch A. R. (2008): The ups and downs of genome size evolution in polyploid species of *Nicotiana (Solanaceae)*. – Ann. Bot. 101: 805–814.
- Lo E. Y. Y., Stefanović S. & Dickinson T. A. (2010): Reconstructing reticulation history in a phylogenetic framework and the potential of allopatric speciation driven by polyploidy in an agamic complex in *Crataegus* (*Rosaceae*). – Evolution 64: 3593–3608.
- Marhold K., Mártonfi P., Mereďa P. jun. & Mráz P. (eds) (2007): Chromosome number survey of the ferns and flowering plants of Slovakia. Veda, Bratislava.
- Monnier P. & Ratter J. A. (1993): Spergularia. In: Tutin T. G., Burges N. A., Chater A. O., Edmondson J. R., Heywood V. H., Moore D. M., Valentine D. H., Walters S. M. & Webb D. A. (eds), Flora Europaea. Ed. 2, 1: 186–188, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Otto F. (1990): DAPI staining of fixed cells for high-resolution flow cytometry of nuclear DNA. In: Crissman H. A. & Darzynkiewicz Z. (eds), Methods in cell biology, Vol. 33: 105–110, Academic Press, New York.
- Ramsey J. & Schemske D. W. (1998): Pathways, mechanisms, and rates of polyploid formation in flowering plants. – Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29: 467–501.
- Ratter J. A. (1964): Cytogenetic studies in Spergularia I. Cytology of some Old World species. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 25: 293–302.
- Ratter J. A. (1976): Cytogenetic studies in Spergularia IX. Summary and conclusions. Not. Roy. Bot. Gar. Edinburgh 34: 411–428.
- R Development Core Team (2010): R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, URL: http://cran.r-project.org.
- Rohlf F. J. (2008): TpsDig 2.12. Ecology & Evolution, SUNY at Stony Brook, URL: http://life.bio.sunysb.edu/morph.
- StatSoft (1998): Statistica for Windows. Ed. 2. StatSoft Inc., Tulsa.
- Suda J., Krahulcová A., Trávníček P. & Krahulec F. (2006): Ploidy level versus DNA ploidy level: an appeal for consistent terminology. – Taxon 55: 447–450.
- Šumberová K., Horáková V. & Lososová Z. (2005): Vegetation dynamics on exposed pond bottoms in the Českobudějovická basin (Czech Republic). – Phytocoenologia 35: 421–448.
- Šumberová K., Lososová Z., Fabšicová M. & Horáková V. (2006): Variability of vegetation of exposed pond bottoms in relation to management and environmental factors. – Preslia 78: 235–252.
- ter Braak C. J. F. & Šmilauer P. (2002): CANOCO Reference manual and CanoDraw for Winows User's guide: software for Canonical Community Ordination (version 4.5). Microcomputer Power, Ithaca.
- Vardi A. & Zohary D. (1967): Introgression in wheat via triploid hybrids. Heredity 22: 541-560.
- Venables W. N. & Ripley B. D. (2002): Modern applied statistics with S. Ed. 4. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Wisskirchen R. & Haeupler H. (1998): Standardliste der Farn- und Blütenpflanzen Deutschlands. Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart.

Received 14 September 2011 Revision received 7 May 2012 Accepted 24 May 2012

Appendix 1. – List of the localities of the *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra* populations used in this study together with their cytotype compositions detected by flow cytometry. Populations marked by an asterisk are those from which plants used for the measurements of the genome size using PI staining originated. The geographic coordinates are presented in WGS 84 format.

Label	Locality	Latitute	Longitude	Altitude (m a.s.l.)	Number of plant	r Species and cytotype
Cakov	S Bohemia, Čakov: bare bottom of the Beranov pond	48°58'51.8"N	14°19'11.5"E	420	3	S. rubra 4x
Cerna	Českomoravská vrchovina highlands, Černá: field path 1.7 km NW of the village	49°26'00.9"N	15°50'41.7"E	560	20	S. rubra 4x
Cky	SW Bohemia, Lažany: bare bottom of the Cky pond	49°21'06.9"N	13°53'28.9"E	490	20	S. echinosperma $4x + 2x$
DolNovos	S Bohemia, Novosedly: bare bottom of the Dolní rybník pond	49°05'24.9"N	14°16'51.3"E	390	21	S. echinosperma 4x
Driten*	S Bohemia, Dříteň: bare bottom of the Kočínský rybník pond	49°08'56.1"N	14°21'15.0"E	460	20	S. echinosperma $4x + 2x$
Havlic	S Bohemia, České Budějovice, Havlíčkova kolonie: lawn in a city park	48°57'43.2"N	14°28'40.8"E	400	20	S. rubra 4x
HorMez	Českomoravská vrchovina highlands, Horní Meziříčko: grassy playground in the village	49°09'19.0"N	15°14'29.7"E	580	19	S. rubra 4x
HorNovos*	S Bohemia, Novosedly: bare bottom of the Horní rybník pond	49°05'21.5"N	14°16'24.6"E	400	21	S. echinosperma 4x
Hurka	SW Bohemia, Záboří: bare bottom of the Hůrka pond	49°22'23.0"N	13°50'44.3"E	530	19	S. echinosperma 2x
Jensov*	S Bohemia, Písek: bare bottom of the Jenšovský rybník pond	49°19'35.8"N	14°06'35.0"E	400	15	S. echinosperma 2x
Klec*	S Bohemia, Klec: lawn in the village	49°05'49.5"N	14°44'56.6"E	420	20	S. rubra 4x
Knizeci	S Bohemia, Pištín: bare bottom of the Knížecí rybník pond	49°03'01.9"N	14°19'02.6"E	400	20	S. echinosperma 4x
Koclirov	S Bohemia, Smržov: bare bottom of the Koclířov pond	49°04'05.3"N	14°41'42.1"E	430	20	S. echinosperma 4x
Kozcin	SW Bohemia, Pačejov: bare bottom of the Kozčínský rybník pond	49°24'10.1"N	13°37'19.6"E	510	17	S. echinosperma 4x
Lhota	SW Bohemia, Horažďovická Lhota: bare bottom of the Lhota pond	49°21'30.0"N	13°40'38.6"E	470	17	S. echinosperma 4x
Luznice*	S Bohemia, Lužnice: road margin in the village	49°03'46.0"N	14°45'37.5"E	420	24	S. rubra 4x
Maj	S Bohemia, České Budějovice, Máj: sandy playground	48°59'20.2"N	14°26'08.5"E	400	20	S. rubra 4x
Malobor*	SW Bohemia, Sedlice: bare bottom of the Malobor pond	49°22'00.4"N	13°58'32.0"E	460	20	S. echinosperma 2x
Pecihradek	W Bohemia, Plzeň, Pecihrádek: field margin	49°46'06.5"N	13°24'57.0"E	330	22	S. rubra 4x
Pisek	S Bohemia, Písek: edge of a quarry 3 km E of the town	49°19'00.9"N	14°11'16.1"E	590	21	S. rubra 4x
Pracejov	SW Bohemia, Katovice: bare bottom of the Pracejovický rybník pond	49°15'18.7"N	13°50'42.0"E	420	20	S. echinosperma 4x
Smrzov*	S Bohemia, Smržov: bare bottom of the Vydýmač u Smržova pond	49°04'44.4"N	14°40'47.5"E	440	15	S. echinosperma 4x
StHlina*	S Bohemia, Stará Hlína: road margin in the village	49°02'31.9"N	14°48'36.5"E	430	20	S. rubra 4x
Strmilov	Českomoravská vrchovina highlands, Strmilov: crevices in square paving in the village	49°09'32.8"N	15°12'07.0"E	560	20	S. rubra 4x
Veselsky	Českomoravská vrchovina highlands, Nové Veselí: bare bottom of the Veselský rybník pond	49°31'17.2"N	15°54'15.2"E	560	21	S. echinosperma 4x
Vlkov	S Bohemia, Vlkov: sandy field margin 1.2 km NNW of the village	49°09'36.9"N	14°42'57.0"E	420	20	S. rubra 4x
Zavlekov	W Bohemia, Zavlekov: lawn in the village	49°20'20.5"N	13°29'36.2"E	570	20	S. rubra 4x

# Paper II

# Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae).

Kúr P., Košnar J. & Štech M. (2014): Conservation Genetics Resources 6: 571–573.

#### MICROSATELLITE LETTERS

## Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae)

P. Kúr · J. Košnar · M. Štech

Received: 14 December 2013/Accepted: 2 January 2014/Published online: 11 January 2014 © Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2014

**Abstract** Sixteen polymorphic microsatellite loci are described for *Spergularia echinosperma*, an endangered plant endemic to Central Europe. Based on 51 individuals, the number of alleles per locus ranged from 2 to 5, and the observed and expected heterozygosities were both 0.00–0.17. The markers can be valuable tool to conservation genetics of this species across its distributional range.

**Keywords** Conservation genetics · Endemic plant · 454-Pyrosequencing · SSR markers

*Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelak.) Asch. et Graebn. is a representative of the Europe-wide threatened flora of annual herbs of ephemeral wetlands. It is also one of the few Central-European plant endemics (Kur et al. 2012). Despite being rare and red-listed in all the Central-European countries, it has not been given much attention by conservation scientists. This study reports 16 microsatellite loci in this diploid species and their cross-amplification in related tetraploid *S. rubra* (L.) J. et C. Presl.

**Electronic supplementary material** The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s12686-014-0141-8) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

P. Kúr (⊠) · J. Košnar · M. Štech
 Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branisovska
 31, 37005 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic
 e-mail: pavel.kur@prf.jcu.cz

The microsatellites were developed using SSR-enrichment and 454-pyrosequencing as described in Drag et al. (2013). The final dataset comprised 11,349 reads, and vielded 42 putative SSR loci, for 19 of which PCR primers were designed. The markers were tested using M13-tailed assay (Schuelke 2000) on 51 individuals of S. echinosperma from six Czech and German populations. PCRs contained 0.5 µl of DNA, 2.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.08 µM of M13-tailed forward primer, 0.33 µM of fluorescently labeled M13 primer and reverse primer, 0.25 U of Taq polymerase (Top-Bio), and water to final volume of 5 µl. Cycling parameters were: 30 cycles of 94 °C (30 s), locus-specific annealing temperature (30 s), 72 °C (30 s); 8 cycles of 94 °C (30 s), 46 °C (30 s), 72 °C (30 s); and final elongation of 72 °C (10 min). The PCR products were analyzed on ABI 3730xl DNA Analyser (ABI). Finally, 16 loci were selected that had consistent amplification and sufficient polymorphism (Table 1); the sequences are deposited in GenBank (see Supplementary materials). Based on the results from GenAIEx 6.5 (Peakall and Smouse 2012), the number of alleles per locus ranged from 2 to 5, and the average observed  $(H_{\Omega})$  and expected  $(H_{E})$  heterozygosities over all loci were extremely small (0.043 and 0.063, respectively). Genepop 4.2.1 (Rousset 2008) detected 7 of the loci to significantly differ from the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, but no evidence of linkage disequilibrium between all the loci.

The amplification in *S. rubra* (16 individuals from 4 populations) yielded products only for 9 of the loci, of which 3 demonstrated some level of polymorphism (Table 1). In conclusion, all the 16 markers proved to be a suitable tool for population studies in *S. echinosperma*, and some of them might also be helpful in genetic studies of the related species *S. rubra*.

Locus	Primer sequences $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Motif	Та	S. echinosperma					S. rubra	
				Size range (bp)	N <sub>A</sub>	H <sub>O</sub>	$H_{\rm E}$	GenBank accession no.	Size range (bp)	N <sub>A</sub>
SE_1*	F: AATGTGGTGGTTTTATCTGTG	(GT) <sub>11</sub>	57	115-121	3	0.167	0.167	KF953667	107-115	2
	R: AGCATAGAATGGTCTTGTTGGA									
$SE_4^*$	F: CTGCCCTTGAATCTTTGACC	(TTG)13	57	422-446	5	0.000	0.158	KF953668	×	
	R: TCTGCACTAACACGCATA									
$SE_8^*$	F: CGTCGTCGGAAACTGAAC	(CT) <sub>14</sub>	57	248-254	4	0.000	0.110	KF953669	242	1
	R: CATCTGCCTGTAAGAAGAAACAAA									
SE_37	F: CCCCTTATTCTTCACTGCTAT	(AC)11	57	346-348	2	0.167	0.083	KF953670	346	1
	R: GAATGTTGAATGCGTGATGT									
SE_69	F: CAAAGAGTGGCTTAGTGA	(CA)11	53	308-310	2	0.000	0.000	KF953671	×	
	R: TTATGGAAACCTGGGAGT									
SE_82	F: TGATTAGTAGGAATGCTTGTTC	(CA) <sub>13</sub>	55	298-300	2	0.000	0.000	KF953672	288-290	2
	R: TTGTACCAAGTTCTCTTTTCT									
SE_91*	F: CGGGAAAATGGACAAACC	(CAA) <sub>20</sub>	57	260-269	4	0.000	0.083	KF953673	223	1
	R: CTTGGCTACACGCACAATCA									
SE_108	F: TCTAATATCGCTTGAACTGCT	(TTG)20	53	278-290	3	0.017	0.046	KF953674	×	
	R: GCTTCAGACCCATTCATC									
SE_151	F: TGATTTGGTTTATGGTATTTGGA	(CA) <sub>15</sub>	57	405-407	2	0.000	0.030	KF953675	387	1
	R: CCTATTGTTCGTCATCTTCATCT									
SE_255	F: TGATTTGATTATTGAGTATTATTTGAC	(TTG)11	53	370-376	3	0.000	0.030	KF953676	×	
	R: GGCAAGAGCGTGTAAGTG									
SE_261	F: TGTATTGGACCCGCTTT	(CAA) <sub>20</sub>	53	270-276	2	0.000	0.000	KF953677	×	
	R: TATRTTTGGTTAGTTATTTTTCTGC									
SE_451*	F: CAGGTGAGGAAACAGCAGAA	(AC)11	57	249-253	2	0.167	0.083	KF953678	249-253	2
	R: CGAATGTGGTGGAGACGA									
SE_495*	F: AAACTGAAATTAACTCCTTCATTCAAC	(TTG)24	53	209-212	2	0.000	0.053	KF953679	×	
	R: ATGGGGAACCTACCTTTTGG									
SE_548	F: CTCTGCGTTCTGCTGGTTT	(GTT) <sub>18</sub>	55	171-180	2	0.000	0.000	KF953680	136	1
	R: CTGATTATGAGGTCGTGAAAGA									
$SE_{677}^*$	F: TTCAAGGCTCAACAACGACA	$(TGT)_{14}$	57	515-527	4	0.000	0.088	KF953681	488	1
	R: CACAAGTCCATAGTCAACGAAA									
SE_906	F: CTAATAAATAGCCCAATGTCCTT	$(CAA)_{11}$	53	333-345	2	0.167	0.083	KF953682	×	
	R: GCATCAGACCCCTTCTAACA									

Table 1 Characterization of the 16 microsatellite loci designed for Spergularia echinosperma

 $N_A$  number of alleles,  $H_O$  observed heterozygosity,  $H_E$  expected heterozygosity, Ta annealing temperature [°C], \* Significant deviation from Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium, × failed amplification

Conservation Genet Resour (2014) 6:571-573

573

Acknowledgments We wish to thank Jaroslav Vohánka and Lucie Vondráčková (both Roche Ltd.) for pyrosequencing assistance. This study was supported by the Higher Education Development Fund from the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (1904/2012), and the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia (084/2012/P).

#### References

Drag L, Kosnar J, Cizek L (2013) Development and characterization of ten polymorphic microsatellite loci for the Great Capricorn beetle (*Cerambyx cerdo*) (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). Conserv Genet Res 5:907–909

- Kur P, Stech M, Koutecky P, Travnicek P (2012) Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. Preslia 84:905–924
- Peakall R, Smouse PE (2012) GenAlEx 6.5: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research-an update. Bioinformatics 28:2537–2539
- Rousset F (2008) Genepop'007: a complete re-implementation of the Genepop software for Windows and Linux. Mol Ecol Res 8:103–106
- Schuelke M (2000) An economic method for the fluorescent labeling of PCR fragments. Nat Biotechnol 18:233–234

# Paper III

## Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2.

Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Štěpánková J., Ekrt L., Chrtek J., Zázvorka J., Grulich V., Řepka R., Prančl J., Ducháček M., Kúr P., Šumberová K. & Brůna J. (2016): *Preslia 88: 229–322*.

Considering the extreme length of this article, only sections contributed by Pavel Kúr are included in the thesis. Full text of the article is available at http://www.preslia.cz.

Rozšíření cévnatých rostlin v České republice. Část 2

Zdeněk Kaplan<sup>1</sup>, Jiří Danihelka<sup>1, 2</sup>, Jitka Štěpánková<sup>1</sup>, Libor Ekrt<sup>3</sup>, Jindřich Chrtek Jr.<sup>1</sup>, Jiří Zázvorka<sup>1</sup>, Vít Grulich<sup>2</sup>, Radomír Řepka<sup>4</sup>, Jan Prančl<sup>1, 5</sup>, Michal Ducháček<sup>6</sup>, Pavel Kúr<sup>3</sup>, Kateřina Šumberová<sup>1</sup> & Josef Brůna<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Botany, The Czech Academy of Sciences, CZ-252 43 Průhonice, Czech Republic, e-mail: kaplan@ibot.cas.cz, stepankova@ibot.cas.cz, chrtek@ibot.cas.cz, zazvorka @ibot.cas.cz, hroudova@ibot.cas.cz, prancl@ibot.cas.cz, katerina.sumberova@ibot.cas.cz, bruna@ibot.cas.cz; <sup>2</sup>Department of Botany and Zoology, Masaryk University, Kotlářská 2, CZ-611 37 Brno, Czech Republic, e-mail: danihel@sci.muni.cz, grulich@sci.muni.cz; <sup>3</sup> Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 1760, CZ-370 05 České Budějovice, Czech Republic, email: libor.ekrt@gmail.com, pavel.kur@prf.jcu.cz; <sup>4</sup>Department of Forest Botany, Dendrology and Geobiocenology, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Technology, Mendel University, Zemědělská 3, CZ-613 00 Brno, Czech Republic, e-mail: repka@mendelu.cz; <sup>5</sup>Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Benátská 2, CZ-128 01 Prague, Czech Republic; <sup>6</sup>Department of Botany, National Museum, Cirkusová 1740, CZ-193 00 Praha 9-Horní Počernice, Czech Republic, e-mail: duchace@seznam.cz

> Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Štěpánková J., Ekrt L., Chrtek J. Jr., Zázvorka J., Grulich V., Řepka R., Prančl J., Ducháček M., Kúr P., Šumberová K. & Brůna J. (2016): Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2. – Preslia 88: 229–322.

> The second part of the publication series on the distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic includes grid maps of 87 taxa of the genera Antennaria, Aposeris, Astragalus, Avenula, Bidens, Carex, Cenchrus, Centunculus, Convallaria, Crocus, Cryptogramma, Cyperus, Dryopteris, Gladiolus, Gratiola, Helictochloa, Hierochloë, Lindernia, Maianthemum, Myriophyllum, Notholaena, Nymphoides, Radiola, Schoenoplectus, Sisyrinchium, Spergularia, Tillaea, Veratrum and Veronica. The maps were produced by taxonomic experts based on all available herbarium, literature and field records. The plants studied include 56 taxa registered in the Red List of vascular plants of the Czech Republic, some of which showed remarkable declines. Astragalus arenarius, Hierochloë odorata and H. repens, as representatives of vegetation of inland sand dunes, are critically threatened due to conversion of their habitats to arable land, local sand mining, afforestation, changes in landscape management and eutrophication followed by succession. Each of them survives at a few localities and their populations are poor. Competitively weak wetland annuals, confined to open habitats such as exposed fishpond littorals and river beds, abandoned sand-pits and wet arable fields, have considerably declined and disappeared from large areas as a result of agriculture and fish-farming intensification, in particular fertilization and restriction of summer drainage of fishponds, and other changes in land-use. These include Centunculus minimus, Cyperus flavescens, C. michelianus, Lindernia procumbens, Radiola linoides and Tillaea aquatica. Observed recently at a few sites only, they are all classified as critically threatened. A map is for the first time provided also for Spergularia kurkae, a newly recognized species and a central-European endemic. Astragalus asper, Schoenoplectus supinus and Veronica pumila are now extirpated from the country's flora. In contrast, Spergularia marina, until recently confined to natural saline habitats and very rare, has been spreading along roads that are treated by de-icing salts. Examination of an old herbarium voucher showed that the only record of Astragalus alopecuroides in the Czech flora actually refers to the species whose correct name is A. alopecurus.

Further introduced casuals mapped in this paper include *Bidens pilosus*, *Cenchrus echinatus*, *Gratiola neglecta* and *Lindernia dubia*, each introduced to only a few sites. *Bidens connatus* was recorded at two dozen sites and appears to have spread as a consequence of the great floods in 2002. Typical examples of naturalized neophytes are *Veronica filiformis* and *V. peregrina*, both currently known from many parts of the country. Invasive aliens are represented by *Bidens frondosus*, which began to spread in the 1930s and now is frequent throughout the country. Spatial and temporal dynamics of individual species are shown in maps and documented by records included in the Pladias database and available in Electronic appendices. The maps are accompanied by comments, which include additional information on distribution, habitats, taxonomy and

K e y w o r d s: alien species, central Europe, chorology, Czech Republic, distribution atlas, distribution patterns, endangered species, endemic, flora, grid maps, herbaria, phytogeography, plant record, vascular plants

### Introduction

biology of the species.

A recent review on the Czech flora (Kaplan 2012) emphasized that no comprehensive piece of work with distribution maps in this country is available in spite of a long history of botanical research. The project of mapping plant distributions in the Czech Republic was launched two years ago with the aim to establish a modern plant record database and to prepare the first sets of distribution maps as a basis for a future complete atlas of the distribution of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. The first results of our effort were published a half year ago (Kaplan et al. 2015) within the PLADIAS project (www.pladias.org). The paper contained 75 grid distribution maps produced by taxonomic experts and based on critically evaluated and sorted records.

From September 2015 to February 2016 the plant record database has increased by ca 154,000 new records. Of these about 45,000 records resulted from critical examination of herbarium specimens by taxonomic experts. Maps of further 87 taxa, both native and alien, were finished at the beginning of February 2016 and these are published in this paper.

Current revisions of national plant diversity have brought several species new to the flora of the Czech Republic, which include both newly recognized native endemics (Kolář et al. 2015, Lepší et al. 2015) as well as recently introduced alien species (Kocián 2014, Hadinec & Lustyk 2015). Two changes in identification and nomenclature involve genera dealt with in this paper, which require an update of the checklist of vascular plants of the Czech Republic (Danihelka et al. 2012). Examination of an old herbarium voucher and the nomenclatural history of the respective plant group showed that the only record on the casual occurrence of *Astragalus alopecuroides* in the Czech flora actually refers to the species whose correct name is *A. alopecurus*. The name *Crocus albiflorus* has to be replaced by *C. vernus*, which was shown to be the correct name for the species largely known as *C. albiflorus* (Peruzzi et al. 2013).

## Materials and methods

#### Taxonomic scope

The following groups of vascular plants are mapped: native taxa, naturalized aliens and most casuals, and selected hybrids. Distribution maps are produced for species and sub-

species, in exceptional cases also for varieties or infrageneric taxa (e.g. sections). Plants of species groups that are difficult to assign to species may be mapped as species aggregates. Field crops and plants deliberately cultivated in gardens and parks are not included in the mapping project. Nomenclature, taxonomic concepts and delimitation of species aggregates mostly follow Danihelka et al. (2012), with differences indicated where necessary. For taxa not included in that checklist, a taxonomic reference is given. Publication of maps does not follow any alphabetical or systematic order but those maps that have resulted from recent revisions are preferably printed.

## Data sources

All relevant floristic data sources are used. Major national herbaria and some local and foreign collections were consulted, incl. BRA, BRNL, BRNM, BRNU, CB, CBFS, CESK, CHOM, FMM, GM, HOMP, HR, KHMS, LIM, LIT, MJ, MMI, MP, MZ, NJM, OH, OL, OLM, OMJ, OP, OSM, OSTR, OVMB, PL, PR, PRA, PRC, ROZ, SAV, SLO, SOB, SOKO, SUM, VM, VYM, W, WU and ZMT (acronyms follow Thiers 2016), as the main source of taxonomically revised records. Most records for maps of common and easy-to-identify taxa come from the recently developed Pladias database (hosted at the Institute of Botany, Průhonice; previously tentatively named CzechDistrib database), which has integrated all available records on the distribution of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Among the most important incorporated databases are the Database of the Distribution of Vascular Plants in the Czech Republic (FLDOK), the Czech National Phytosociological Database (CNPD), plant records from the Floristic Summer Schools and other activities of the Czech Botanical Society, the Species Occurrence Database of the Nature Conservation Agency of the Czech Republic (NDOP) and the Database of Forest Typology of the Forest Management Institute of the Czech Republic (DLT). Unpublished field records previously entered into the Pladias database by the authors of maps or regional contributors were also considered.

## Procedure of mapping

All records used for mapping are entered into the Pladias database and geographically sorted according to the traditionally used CEBA (Central European Basic Area) grid template (Niklfeld 1999) divided into quadrants of  $5 \times 3$  arc minutes (corresponding to approximately  $5.5 \times 5.9$  km). The territory of the Czech Republic is covered by 2551 quadrants, of which 2181 are completely within the border of the country. Individual records as well as the whole distribution pattern of each taxon are checked and evaluated by the author of a particular map in a web-based mapping interface of the Pladias database. Because maps of taxonomically critical groups are often highly inaccurate in distribution atlases (Gregor 2009), maps of such taxa are based solely or mainly on herbarium records revised by taxonomic experts; these cases are indicated in the text accompanying the particular map. Maps of all other taxa are based on records from databases, literature and herbaria, which were scrutinized by the authors of the respective maps. Records used for producing maps are listed in Electronic Appendices 1–87. In selected maps, native versus introduced occurrences are distinguished and corresponding records in the database classified accordingly. Draft distribution maps and the background records are released in a web-based review process for scrutiny to field botanists, regional collaborators and members of the Czech Botanical Society. Their comments and additional records are collected in the database and returned to the responsible specialists for consideration before producing final distribution maps.

## Final maps and comments

The treatment of each taxon consists of a grid distribution map and of an accompanying text; authors of maps are indicated in the figure captions, and they also took major part in preparing the first drafts of the respective texts. Maps are displayed using spherical Mercator projection (EPSG:3857) where meridians and parallels are shown perpendicular, and the mapping CEBA grids are thus nicely displayed. The background relief was derived from the SRTM data (http://www2.jpl.nasa.gov/srtm/, the version provided by http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org), and the river network was adapted from data provided by CENIA (www.cenia.cz). When appropriate, different symbols are used in the maps in order to distinguish one of the following attributes of the plant distribution records: (1) recent versus old records, (2) native occurrences versus introductions, or (3) records based on revised herbarium specimens versus all other records. These classifications of records are used only for those taxa where such distinction provides important information and, in addition, the amount and quality of records are sufficient. The mapping symbols used to indicate the different attributes of the records in the particular grid cell are shown in Table 1. Symbols specific to individual maps are explained in their captions. In the caption to each map, counts of occupied quadrants are indicated according to the symbols used in the map; uncertain occurrences are not included in the counts. The accompanying text includes the accepted scientific name, a brief outline of the total distribution, information on habitats occupied by the species and a description of its distribution in the Czech Republic. Where appropriate, comments on the taxonomy, biology and details of the spatial and temporal dynamics of the distribution are given.

Attribute distinguished	Symbol	Attribute state
None	•	all records
Time	•	recent occurrence (at least one record since 2000) old occurrence (all records before 2000, or demonstrably being extirpated from all localities after 2000, or all records undated)
Origin	• ×	native (at least one record) alien
Source data	•	a revised herbarium specimen (at least one record) all other
All	?	only record(s) uncertain regarding identification and/or locality

Table 1. – The mapping symbols used in the distribution maps to indicate the different attributes of the occurrence in a particular grid cell.

## Distribution maps and comments



Fig. 38. – Distribution of *Cyperus fuscus* in the Czech Republic (576 occupied quadrants). Prepared by Kateřina Šumberová, Pavel Dřevojan, Zdenka Hroudová & Pavel Kúr.

269

## Cyperus fuscus (Fig. 38)

Cyperus fuscus is a Eurasian wetland annual plant distributed mainly in warm temperate and Mediterranean parts of Europe, northern Africa and western Asia, with its northern distribution limit in southern Scandinavia. Eastwards it is scattered throughout the temperate zone of continental Asia (at high altitudes reaching the subtropical zone), being more frequent in floodplains of large rivers and around lakes. It is also known from North America where it is considered as introduced (Lampe 1996). Cyperus fuscus prefers mineral-rich calcareous soils, especially in northern parts of its distribution range (Hejný 1960). In the Czech Republic it is mainly confined to the Bohemian Cretaceous Basin, southern Moravia and some parts of the Carpathians (e.g. Bílé Karpaty Mts). Cyperus *fuscus* is a typical component of the vegetation of temporarily exposed bottoms of various water bodies, growing over a broad range of habitats, including fishponds, fish storage ponds, oxbows, river beds, sand pits, wet depressions in arable fields and disturbed places in wet meadows. In areas formed by acidic, mineral-poor bedrock, such as fishpond landscapes of southern Bohemia, the species was reported as rare until the 1950s, occurring mainly in eutrophic water bodies in settlements (Hejný 1960, Šumberová 2013a). As a consequence of overall eutrophication and soil chemistry changes associated with fish farming intensification, in particular combined fish and duck farming and intensive liming of some ponds, the number of records has considerably increased since then (Sumberová 2003, 2013a). Despite the loss of some populations due to habitat destruction in river alluvia, the species has recently had many hundreds of localities and is classified only as vulnerable (Grulich 2012).



Fig. 71. – Distribution of *Spergularia echinosperma* in the Czech Republic (44 occupied quadrants). Prepared by Pavel Kúr.



Fig. 72. – Distribution of *Spergularia kurkae* in the Czech Republic (80 occupied quadrants). Prepared by Pavel Kúr.

## Spergularia echinosperma (Fig. 71)

Spergularia echinosperma is a central-European endemic (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). A recent critical revision of herbarium collections (Kúr et al., in prep.) has confirmed its presence in the Czech Republic, Germany, Austria and Slovakia only. It is confined to vegetation of annual wetland herbs on periodically exposed bottoms of freshwater reservoirs. The primary habitat of S. echinosperma includes alluvial pools and sandy banks of rivers; the species, however, most frequently occurs in secondary habitats, mainly exposed bottoms of fishponds (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). In the Czech Republic S. echinosperma is most frequent in areas with many fishponds, i.e. southern, south-western and eastern Bohemia. The species prefers pond bottoms with lower trophic levels and a sandy substrate, which may be covered with a thin layer of mineral mud (Kúr et al., in prep.). It is currently threatened by the intensification of fishpond management and is classified as endangered (Grulich 2012). Spergularia echinosperma has unresolved taxonomy, and it probably comprises two intraspecific taxa. A taxonomic study of this species, employing molecular markers (Kúr et al. 2014), is currently in progress (Kúr et al., in prep.). Because of frequent misidentifications, the distribution map was based solely on revised herbarium specimens and our own field records.

## Spergularia kurkae (Fig. 72)

*Spergularia kurkae* is a newly recognized species, which was described by Dvořák (1989) as a hybrid between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* but has not been listed in any flora or checklist except for the Flora of the Czech Republic (Dvořák 1990) since then. Recent studies have proved that *S. kurkae*, although truly being of hybrid origin, is a stabilized, morphologically and ecologically well-separated species (Kúr et al. 2012, Kúr et

al., in prep.). The species occurs mainly in central Europe (Czech Republic, Germany and Austria), although outposts in Switzerland and France possibly exist (the taxonomic identity of these plants needs to be further investigated; Kúr et al., in prep.). It is confined to vegetation of annual wetland herbs on periodically exposed bottoms of freshwater reservoirs. The typical habitats of the species are alluvial pools, river banks, and, above all, fishponds and fish storage ponds. In the Czech Republic *S. kurkae* is most frequent in areas with many fishponds, i.e. southern, south-western and eastern Bohemia. The species has a wider ecological niche than *S. echinosperma* and can very rarely and for a short time survive outside pond bottoms (e.g. in pond sediment deposits). Its current threat level is unknown; herbarium records show that it is approximately twice as common as *S. echinosperma*. Because of frequent misidentifications, the distribution map was based solely on revised herbarium specimens and our own field records.

## Spergularia marina (Fig. 73)

Spergularia marina is a nearly cosmopolitan halophilous species occurring in coastal and inland salt marshes of Europe, Asia, northern and southern Africa, North and South America, Australia and New Zealand (Hultén & Fries 1986, Meusel & Jäger 1992, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005, Adams et al. 2008). It is not clear in which parts of its distribution range the species is indigenous and where it has been introduced. In the Czech Republic S. marina used to grow relatively frequently in natural saline habitats in north-western Bohemia and southern Moravia. An isolated occurrence was around mineral springs in the Soos National Nature Reserve in western Bohemia. Since World War II the species has declined considerably as a result of habitat destruction and changes in landscape management. Today it survives at a few localities only (two sites in north-western Bohemia and about ten sites in southern Moravia). However, the species has been recently found to be rapidly spreading along roads that are treated by de-icing salts during the winter. In Austria and Germany the spread of S. marina on road verges has been known since the 1970s (Friedrich 1979, Hohla & Melzer 2003, Hetzel 2006). In the Czech Republic the species occurs most frequently along motorways, especially in colder areas where the application of de-icing salts is more intense, and is rare in warm and dry areas. There is also a noticeable decreasing gradient in the species' abundance from the west of the country to the east. The indigenous populations are currently classified as critically threatened (Grulich 2012). Because of frequent misidentifications, the distribution map was based solely on revised herbarium specimens and our own field records.

## Spergularia media (Fig. 74)

*Spergularia media* is an obligate halophyte native to coastal and inland salt marshes of Eurasia and North Africa. It has been introduced to North and South America, Australia, New Zealand and southern Africa (Hultén & Fries 1986, Meusel & Jäger 1992, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005, Adams et al. 2008). In the Czech Republic *S. media* used to grow naturally in saline habitats in north-western Bohemia (three localities only) and southern Moravia (a few dozens of localities). It was also introduced to the ore yard of the ironworks in Polanka nad Odrou, north-eastern Moravia, in the 1960s (Kilián & Krkavec 1962; misidentified as *S. salina*). Since World War II the species has declined dramatically as a result of habitat destruction and changes in landscape management.



Fig. 73. – Distribution of *Spergularia marina* in the Czech Republic: ● native, at least one record in 2000–2016 (13 quadrants), ● native, pre 2000 records only (38 quadrants), × alien (224 quadrants). Prepared by Michal Ducháček & Pavel Kúr.



Fig. 74. – Distribution of *Spergularia media* in the Czech Republic: ● native, at least one record in 2000–2016 (4 quadrants), ◎ native, pre 2000 records only (14 quadrants), × alien (2 quadrants). Prepared by Michal Ducháček & Pavel Kúr.



Fig. 75. – Distribution of *Spergularia rubra* in the Czech Republic (1395 occupied quadrants). Prepared by Pavel Kúr & Michal Ducháček.

Today it survives at four localities in southern Moravia only. *Spergularia media* has also been recently found at three sites on motorway verges (motorways D1 in north-eastern Moravia and D2 in southern Moravia). The species has been known from this type of habitat from Austria too (Hohla & Melzer 2003, Adler et al. 2008, Fischer et al. 2008), but its establishment and spread along road verges is slow as it is adapted to less disturbed habitats (Scott & Davison 1982). The species is currently classified as critically threatened (Grulich 2012). Because of frequent misidentifications, the distribution map was based solely on revised herbarium specimens and our own field records.

## Spergularia rubra (Fig. 75)

*Spergularia rubra* is a cosmopolitan species native to Eurasia and introduced to North and South America, southern Africa, Australia and New Zealand (Hultén & Fries 1986, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005, Adams et al. 2008). Its assumed primary habitats are river banks and alluvial pools, but it has successfully spread to various types of secondary habitats. It prefers disturbed sandy sites, like footpaths, field margins or road verges, avoiding calcareous soils (Friedrich 1979, Hartman & Rabeler 2005). In the Czech Republic *S. rubra* is widespread throughout the country. Most of the gaps in the distribution map are due to under-recording but some may be true absences caused by the lack of suitable habitats or the dominance of base-rich and heavy soils.

See www.preslia.cz for Electronic Appendices 1-87

## Acknowledgements

Producing distribution maps would not be possible without the effort of innumerable field botanists who often devoted a lot of their time, and frequently also much of their lives, to collecting plant distribution records and plant specimens for herbaria. We are grateful to all who made this study possible and helped us in any way. Curators of the herbaria visited allowed us to study their specimens and collect records. Administrators of the integrated databases, particularly Jan Štěpánek, Milan Chytrý, Dana Michalcová and Karel Chobot as representatives of the major ones, agreed to share plant distribution records. Pavel Dřevojan, Petr Filippov and Zdenka Hroudová contributed with records to produce maps. The South-Bohemian branch of the Czech Botanical Society kindly provided data from the regional floristic database of Václav Chán. Regional collaborators, particularly Jan Doležal, Radek Štencl, Leo Bureš, Pavel Dřevojan, Lenka Pivoňková, Daniel Koutecký, David Hlisnikovský, Radim Paulič, Rudolf Hlaváček, Luděk Čech, Zuzana Mruzíková, Jiří Brabec, Věra Hromádková, Milan Štech, Jan Blahovec, Jan Košnar, Romana Prausová, Tomáš Svačina, Hana Galušková, Petr Koutecký, Tomáš Tichý, Karel Fajmon, Josef Komárek, Vladimír Melichar, Věra Samková, Ester Ektrová, Půbal, Hana Houzarová, Petra Juřáková, Milan Kotilínek, Martin Dančák, Michal Juříček, Dagmar Zábranská, Jana Janáková, Josef Albrecht, Milan Marek and Jaroslav Zámečník commented on early versions of maps

and/or provided additional records from their areas. Jörg Böckelmann, Kateřina Bubíková, Josef Harčarik, Soňa Píšová and Karin Tremetsberger helped with fieldwork. Anna Daňková, Petr Filippov, Hana Galušková, Klára Kabátová, Anna Kladivová Věra Matějovičová, Ludmila Mikovcová, Helena Prokešová, Lucie Rejchrtová, Petra Štěpánková, Václav Šulc, Kristýna Vazačová and Jan Wild georeferenced distribution records, computerized data, helped with the preparation of maps or provided other technical assistance. Programmers Petr Novotný and Martin Rohn produced the Pladias database and an internet-accessible mapping interface. Milan Stech and Christopher D. Preston carefully read the manuscript and suggested numerous valuable improvements. The research was supported by the Centre of Excellence PLADIAS, project no. 14-36079G from the Czech Science Foundation. ZK, JD, JŠ, JC, JZ, JP, KŠ and JB were also supported by the long-term research development project no. RVO 67985939 from the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, JP partly by the project Kontakt II, no. LH12099 from Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic, and partly by the institutional resources of Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic for the support of science and research, MD by project no. 00023272 (National Museum, DKRVO 2015/10 and 2015/11) from the Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic, and KŠ partly by the project FISHPOND2014, no. LD14045 from Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic, and partly by the project P 24558-B16 from Austrian Science Fund (FWF).

## Souhrn

Druhá část ze série publikací věnovaných rozšíření cévnatých rostlin v České republice obsahuje síťové mapy a doprovodné komentáře k 87 taxonům z rodů Antennaria, Aposeris, Astragalus, Avenula, Bidens, Carex, Cenchrus, Centunculus, Convallaria, Crocus, Cryptogramma, Cyperus, Dryopteris, Gladiolus, Gratiola, Helictochloa, Hierochloë, Lindernia, Maianthemum, Myriophyllum, Notholaena, Nymphoides, Radiola, Schoenoplectus, Sisyrinchium, Spergularia, Tillaea, Veratrum a Veronica. Základem jsou údaje získané excerpcí herbářů a literatury, terénní zápisy a nálezy dostupné v databázích, které prověřili taxonomičtí experti. Mnohé taxony patří mezi vzácné nebo ohrožené rostliny a jsou proto zařazeny na Červeném seznamu. Mezi skupiny rostlin zvláště zasažené změnami nebo úplným zničením biotopů patří psamofyty. Astragalus arenarius, Hierochloë odorata a H. repens jsou kriticky ohrožené druhy, které ustoupily zejména v důsledku převodu písčin na ornou půdu, těžbě písku, zalesňování, změnám v obhospodařování krajiny a eutrofizace prostředí následovanou sukcesí. Všechny tři jmenované druhy se dnes vyskytují na malém počtu lokalit a jejich populace jsou většinou velmi chudé. Další skupinou ohroženou kvůli vazbě na specifická stanoviště jsou konkurenčně slabé mokřadní jednoletky, jako jsou Centunculus minimus, Cyperus flavescens, C. michelianus, Lindernia procumbens, Radiola linoides a Tillaea aquatica. Ty se nejčastěji vyskytují na obnažených dnech rybníků nebo řečiští toků, v opuštěných pískovnách a na extenzivně obhospodařovaných vlhkých písčitých polích. Ačkoliv některé byly v minulosti i hojnější, všechny výrazně ustoupily v důsledku intenzifikace hospodaření na rybnících, zejména následkem přihnojování a omezení pravidelného letnění rybníků, a dále v důsledku rozsáhlých změn ve využívání krajiny. Dnes se tyto druhy vyskytují jen na malém počtu posledních lokalit, mnohdy nepravidelně, s delšími periodami absence, a jsou proto řazeny mezi kriticky ohrožené taxony. Článek přináší i první mapu rozšíření středoevropského endemita Spergularia kurkae, který byl jako samostatný druh rozlišen teprve nedávno. Dříve vzácné druhy Astragalus asper, Schoenoplectus supinus a Veronica pumila dnes patří mezi taxony na území ČR vyhynulé. Naproti tomu dříve vzácný druh Spergularia marina, která se vyskytoval jen na několika přirozených slaniskách, se v důsledku zimního solení silnic rozšířil po většině území ČR. Revize herbářového dokladu ke starému literárnímu údaji o výskytu zavlečeného druhu Astragalus alopecuroides ukázala, že se ve skutečnosti jedná o druh, jehož správné jméno je A. alopecurus. Mezi další přechodně zavlečené nebo jen lokálně zdomácnělé druhy, jejichž rozšíření je podrobně zpracováno v tomto článku, patří Bidens pilosus, Cenchrus echinatus, Gratiola neglecta a Lindernia dubia, které jsou dokumentovány jen z malého počtu lokalit. Bidens connatus byl donedávna velmi vzácný, ale v poslední době se začal šířit na nově uvolněná stanoviště po extrémní povodni v roce 2002. Typickým případem zdomácnělých neofytů jsou Veronica filiformis a V. peregrina, které se již vyskytují na několika až mnoha stovkách lokalit v různých částech ČR. Invazní druhy zastupuje Bidens frondosus, který se začal intenzivněji šířit ve 30. letech 20. století a dnes je široce rozšířený a běžný. Celkový obraz rozšíření jednotlivých zpracovávaných taxonů poskytují mapy, konkrétní floristické údaje odrážející odlišné trendy v různých oblastech a v různých obdobích jsou uloženy v databázi Pladias a dostupné v elektronických přílohách. Každou mapu doprovází textový komentář, který obsahuje nástin celkového rozšíření, výčet nejčastějších stanovišť a stručnou charakteristiku rozšíření v České republice, případně i doplňující informace k taxonomii, biologii, změnám v rozšíření a míře ohrožení.

## References

- Adams L. G., West J. G. & Cowley K. J. (2008): Revision of Spergularia (Caryophyllaceae) in Australia. Aust. Syst. Bot. 21: 251–270.
- Adler W., Mrkvicka A. Ch. & Fischer M. A. (2008): Nachträge zur "Flora Wiens" (III). Neilreichia 5: 173–180.
- Albach D. C., Schönswetter P. & Tribsch A. (2006): Comparative phylogeography of the Veronica alpina complex in Europe and North America. – Mol. Ecol. 15: 3269–3286.
- Bayer R. J. (2000): Observations on the morphology and geographic range of *Antennaria dioica* (L.) Gaertn. (*Asteraceae: Gnaphalieae*). Madroño 46: 205–207.
- Bílý F. (1931): Druhý příspěvek ku poznání kapradin Moravského krasu [The second contribution to the knowledge of ferns of the Moravian Karst]. – Sborn. Klubu Přírod. Brno 14: 65–77.
- Bílý F. (1937): Třetí příspěvek ku poznání kapradin Moravského krasu [The third contribution to the knowledge of ferns of the Moravian Karst]. – Sborn. Klubu Přírod. Brno 19: 22–32.
- Bureš L. (2013): Chráněné a ohrožené rostliny chráněné krajinné oblasti Jeseníky [Protected and endangered plants of the Protected Landscape Area Jeseníky]. – Agentura Rubico, Olomouc-Slavonín.
- Burkart M. (2001): River corridor plants (Stromtalpflanzen) in Central European lowland: a review of a poorly understood plant distribution pattern. – Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 10: 449–468.
- Chater A. O. (1980): *Carex.* In: Tutin T. G., Heywood V. H., Burges N. A., Moore D. M., Valentine D. H. Walters S. M. & Webb D. A. (eds), Flora Europaea 5: 290–323, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Chen Y.-S. & Hind D. J. N. (2011): Tribe *Heliantheae*. In: Wu Z. Y., Raven P. H. & Hong D. Y. (eds.), Flora of China 20–21: 852–878, Science Press, Beijing & Missouri Botanical Garden Press, St. Louis.
- Chrtek J. & Jirásek V. (1964): Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Veränderlichkeit von *Hierochloë* (L.) Pal.-Beauv. in der Tschechoslowakei. Preslia 36: 245–250.
- Chrtek J., Plačková I., Zahradníková J., Kirschner J., Kirschnerová L., Štěpánek J., Krahulcová A., Krahulec F. & Harčarik J. (2007): Genetická variabilita vybraných horských druhů cévnatých rostlin v Krkonoších [Genetic variation in selected mountain species of vascular plants in the Giant Mountains]. – In: Štursa J. & Knapik R. (eds), Geoekologické problémy Krkonoš, Sborn. Mezin. Věd. Konf., říjen 2006, Svoboda nad Úpou, Opera Corcont. 44: 251–264.
- Chytrý M. (2007a): Euphorbio cyparissiae-Callunetum vulgaris Schubert 1960. Suchá vřesoviště nížin a pahorkatin [Euphorbio cyparissiae-Callunetum vulgaris Schubert 1960. Dry heathlands in lowland and colline landscapes]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 1. Travinná a keříčková vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 1. Grassland and Heathland Vegetation], p. 308–310, Academia, Praha.
- Chytrý M. (2007b): Festucion valesiacae Klika 1931. Úzkolisté suché trávníky [Festucion valesiacae Klika 1931. Narrow-leaved dry grasslands]. In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 1. Travinná a keříčková vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 1. Grassland and Heathland Vegetation], p. 409–425, Academia, Praha.
- Chytrý M. & Sádlo J. (2007): Corynephorion canescentis Klika 1931. Otevřené trávníky vátých písků s paličkovcem šedavým [Corynephorion canescentis Klika 1931. Open vegetation of inland sand dunes dominated by Corynephorus canescens]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 1. Travinná a keříčková vegetace. [Vegetation of the Czech Republic. Vol. 1. Grassland and heathland vegetation], p. 323–330, Academia, Praha.
- Conert H. J. (ed.) (1998): Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa. Ed. 3. Vol. 1/3. *Spermatophyta: Angiospermae: Monocotyledones* 1/2. *Poaceae* (Echte Gräser oder Süßgräser). – Parey Buchverlag, Berlin. Čelakovský L. (1871): Prodromus der Flora von Böhmen. Vol. 2. – Prag.
- $\tilde{C}$  1 1 1/L (1077). P 1 P 1 P 1 P 1 V 1 2 P

Celakovský L. (1875): Prodromus der Flora von Böhmen. Vol. 3. – Prag.

- Čížek K. & Král M. (2009): Park v areálu nemocnice v Klatovech [The park of the Klatovy hospital]. Calluna 14: 7–8.
- Danihelka J., Chrtek J. jun. & Kaplan Z. (2012): Checklist of vascular plants of the Czech Republic. Preslia 84: 647–811.
- DeLisle D. G. (1963): Taxonomy and distribution of the genus *Cenchrus*. Iowa State Coll. J. Sci. 37: 259–351.
- Dřevojan P. (2012): Kozinec bezlodyžný (Astragalus exscapus) dosud součástí flóry Znojemska [Astragalus exscapus still a flora element of the Znojmo region, SE Czech Republic]. Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 47: 291–296.
- Dvořák F. (1989): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun., Biol., 19: 301–322.
- Dvořák F. (1990): Spergularia (Pers.) J. et C. Presl kuřinka. In: Hejný S., Slavík B., Hrouda L. & Skalický V. (eds), Květena České republiky [Flora of the Czech Republic] 2: 81–86, Academia, Praha.

- Egorova T. V. (1999): The sedges (*Carex* L.) of Russia and adjacent states (within the limits of the former USSR). – St.-Peterburg State Chemical Pharmaceutical Academy & Missouri Botanical Garden Press, St.-Peterburg & St. Louis.
- Ekrt L. (2015): Revize populace podmrvky hadcové (*Notholaena marantae*) na Mohelenské hadcové stepi: rozšíření, početnost, stanovištní preference [Revision of *Notholaena marantae* population on serpentine steppe near Mohelno: distribution, abundance, habitat preferences]. – Acta Rer. Natur. 18: 1–8.
- Ekrt L., Lepší M., Boublík K. & Lepší P. (2007): Dryopteris remota rediscovered for the flora of the Czech Republic. – Preslia 79: 69–82.
- Ekrt L., Linhartová R. & Štech M. (2013): Rozlišování a revize rozšíření kapradě podobné (*Dryopteris expansa*) a jejího křížence D. xambroseae v České republice [Determination and revision of distribution of *Dryopteris expansa* and its hybrid D. xambroseae in the Czech Republic]. Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 48: 263–291.
- Ekrt L., Štech M., Lepší M. & Boublík K. (2010): Rozšíření a taxonomická problematika skupiny Dryopteris affinis v České republice [Distribution and taxonomy of the Dryopteris affinis group in the Czech Republic]. – Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 45: 25–52.
- Ekrt L., Trávníček P., Jarolímová V., Vít P. & Urfus T. (2009): Genome size and morphology of the Dryopteris affinis group in Central Europe. – Preslia 81: 261–280.
- Elven R. (ed.) (2016): Annotated Checklist of the Panarctic Flora (PAF). Vascular plants. Natural History Museum, University of Oslo, URL: http://nhm2.uio.no/paf/ (accessed February 2016).
- Fischer M. A. (ed.) (2008): Exkursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein und Südtirol. Ed. 3. OÖ Landesmuseen, Linz.
- Formánek E. (1884): Correspondenz. Oesterr. Bot. Z. 34: 448.
- Fraser-Jenkins C. R. (1976): Dryopteris caucasica and the cytology of its hybrids. Fern Gaz. 11: 263-267.
- Fraser-Jenkins C. R. (2007): The species and subspecies in the Dryopteris affinis group. Fern Gaz. 18: 1-26.
- Friedrich H. C. (1979): Familie Caryophyllaceae. In: Reichinger K. H. (ed.), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa, ed. 2, vol. 3/2. Angiospermae, Dicotyledones 1. Phytolaccaceae, Amaranthaceae, Chenopodiaceae, Illecebraceae, Caryophyllaceae, Portulacaceae, p. 763–1182, Verlag Paul Parey, Berlin & Hamburg.
- Gibby M. & Walker S. (1977): Further cytogenetic studies and a reappraisal of the diploid ancestry in the *Dryopteris carthusiana* complex. Brit. Fern Gaz. 11: 313–324.
- Grabowski H. (1843): Flora von Ober-Schlesien und dem Gesenke. Breslau.
- Gregor T. (2009): The distribution of *Galeopsis ladanum* in Germany based on an analysis of herbarium material is smaller than that indicated in plant atlases. – Preslia 81: 377–386.
- Greuter W. (2006): Compositae (pro parte majore). In: Euro+Med Plantbase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. URL: http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed (accessed February 2016).
- Grulich V. (1985). Masnice vodní (*Tillaea aquatica* L.) v Československu [*Tillaea aquatica* in Czechoslovakia]. – Sborn. Jihočes. Muz. České Budějovice, Přír. Vědy, 25: 53–56.
- Grulich V. (2012): Red List of vascular plants of the Czech Republic: 3rd edition. Preslia 84: 631-645.
- Hadač E. & Hadačová V. (1969): Notes on the ecology and distribution of *Bidens pilosa* L. in Cuba. Folia Geobot. Phytotax. 4: 165–173.
- Hadinec J. & Lustyk P. (eds) (2015): Additamenta ad floram Reipublicae Bohemicae. XIII [Additions to the flora of the Czech Republic. XIII]. Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 50: 23–129.
- Hájková P., Roleček J., Hájek M., Horsák M., Fajmon K., Polák M. & Jamrichová E. (2011): Prehistoric origin of the extremely species-rich semi-dry grasslands in the Bílé Karpaty Mts (Czech Republic and Slovakia).
   – Preslia 83: 185–204.
- Han Y., Cho Y., Kim Y., Lim H., Kwon O. & Nam S-H. (2009): Insect herbivores associated with the introduced weed *Bidens frondosa* L. (*Asteraceae*) in Korea, and their potential role as augmentative biological control agents. – Entomological Research 39: 394–400.
- Harpke D., Carta A., Tomović G., Ranđelović V., Ranđelović N., Blattner F. R. & Peruzzi L. (2015): Phylogeny, karyotype evolution and taxonomy of *Crocus* series *Verni* (*Iridaceae*). – Pl. Syst. Evol. 301: 309–325.
- Hartl D. (1975): Familie Scrophulariaceae. In: Hartl D. & Wagenitz G. (eds), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa, ed. 2, vol. 6/1, Angiospermae, Dicotyledones 4. Scrophulariaceae, Orobanchaceae, Lentibulariaceae, Globulariaceae, Plantaginaceae, p. 1–469, Verlag Paul Parey, Berlin & Hamburg.
- Hartman R. L. & Rabeler K. R. (2005): *Spergularia*. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (eds), Flora of North America North of Mexico 5/2: 16–23, Oxford University Press, New York & Oxford.
- Hartvig P. (1987): Chromosome numbers in Nordic populations of the Carex muricata group (Cyperaceae). Symb. Bot. Upsal. 27: 127–138.
- Hegi G. (1925): Illustrierte Flora von Mittel-Europa. Vol. 6/1. München.

- Hejný S. (1948): Zdomácnění dvouzubce listnatého (*Bidens frondosus* L.) v ČSR [Naturalization of *Bidens frondosus* L. in the Czechoslovak Republic]. Čs. Bot. Listy 1: 56–63.
- Hejný S. (1960): Ökologische Charakteristik der Wasser- und Sumpfpflanzen in den slowakischen Tiefebenen (Donau- und Theissgebiet). Vydavateľstvo SAV, Bratislava.
- Hejný S. (1999): Trojřadka Micheliova (*Dichostylis micheliana*), puštička rozprostřená (*Lindernia procumbens*),
  šmel okoličnatý (*Butomus umbellatus*) a rybniční soustava Podkrčí u Protivína [*Dichostylis micheliana*, *Lindernia procumbens*, *Butomus umbellatus* and the fishpond system of Podkrčí near Protivín]. Sborn.
  Jihočes. Muz. České Budějovice, Přír. Vědy, 39: 47–52.
- Hetzel G. (2006): Die Neophyten Oberfrankens. Floristik, Standortcharakteristik, Vergesellschaftung, Verbreitung, Dynamik. – PhD thesis, Universität Würzburg, Fakultät für Biologie, Würzburg.
- Hohla M. & Melzer H. (2003): Floristisches von den Autobahnen der Bundesländer Salzburg, Oberösterreich, Niederösterreich und Burgenland. – Linzer Biol. Beitr. 35: 1307–1326.
- Holm L. G., Pancho J. V., Herberger J. P. & Plucknett D. L. (1991): A geographic atlas of World weeds. Krieger Publishing Company, Malabar.
- Holub J. (1958): Bemerkungen zur Taxonomie der Gattung Helictotrichon Bess. In: Klášterský I. et al. (eds), Philipp Maxmilian Opiz und seine Bedeutung für die Pflanzentaxonomie, p. 101–133, Praha.
- Holub J. (1962): Helictotrichon desertorum (Less.) Nevskij ein bedeutsames Relikt der tschechoslowakischen Flora. – Acta Univ. Carol. – Biol. 2 (1962): 153–188.
- Holub J. (1972): A note on the infraspecific classification of *Helictotrichon desertorum* (Less.) Nevskij. Folia Geobot. Phytotax. 7: 419–421.
- Hong D.-Y. & Fischer M. A. (1998): Veronica. In: Wu Z.-Y. & Raven P. H. (eds), Flora of China 18: 65–80, Science Press, Beijing & Missouri Botanical Garden Press, St. Louis.
- Howell C. J. & Sawyer J. W. (2006): New Zealand naturalised vascular plant checklist. New Zealand Plant Conservation Network, Wellington.
- Hrivnák R., Kochjarová J., Šumberová K. & Schmotzer A. (2016): Lindernia dubia (Scrophulariaceae): a new alien species to the Slovak flora. – Biológia, 71: 281–286.
- Hsu T.-C., Lin J.-J. & Chung S. W. (2009): Two newly discovered plants in Taiwan. Taiwania 54: 403-407.

Hultén E. (1958): The amphi-atlantic plants and their phytogeographical connections. - Stockholm.

- Hultén E. & Fries M. (1986): Atlas of North European vascular plants north of the Tropic of Cancer. Vols 1–3. Koeltz Scientific Books, Königstein.
- Hylander N. (1966): Nordisk Kärlväxtflora [Scandinavian Flora]. Vol. 2. Almquist & Wiksell, Stockholm.
- Jehlík V. (ed.) (1998): Cizí expanzivní plevele České republiky a Slovenské republiky [Alien expansive weeds of the Czech Republic and Slovak Republic]. – Academia, Praha.
- Jessen S., Bujnoch W., Zenner G. & Stark C. (2011): Dryopteris lacunosa eine neue Art des Dryopterisaffinis-Aggregats (Dryopteridaceae, Pteridophyta). – Kochia 5: 9–31.
- Jiménez-Mejías P. & Luceńo M. (2011): Cyperaceae. In: Euro+Med Plantbase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. URL: http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/ (accessed 11 February 2016).
- Juratzka J. (1858): Ueber die Entdeckung von Notochlaena marantae R. Br. in M\u00e4hren. Verh. Zool.-Bot. Ges., S.-B., 8: 92.
- Juslén A., Väre H. & Wikström N. (2011): Relationships and evolutionary origins of polyploid *Dryopteris* (*Dryopteridaceae*) from Europe inferred using nuclear *pgi*C and plastid *trn*L-F sequence data. – Taxon 60: 1284–1294.
- Kaplan Z. (2012): Flora and phytogeography of the Czech Republic. Preslia 84: 505-573.
- Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Štěpánková J., Bureš P., Zázvorka J., Hroudová Z., Ducháček M., Grulich V., Řepka R., Dančák M., Prančl J., Šumberová K., Wild J. & Trávníček B. (2015): Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 1. Preslia 87: 417–500.
- Kilián Z. & Krkavec F. (1962): Několik dalších rostlin z rudišť na Ostravsku [Several other plant species from the ore yards in the Ostrava region]. – Zpr. Slezs. Úst. ČSAV Opava, ser. B, 126: 7–10.
- Kocián P. (2014): Linaria pelisseriana (L.) Mill. a new alien species in the Czech Republic. Acta Mus. Siles., Sci. Natur., 63: 283–288.
- Kolář F., Kaplan Z., Suda J. & Štech M. (2015): Populations of *Knautia* in ecologically distinct refugia of the Hercynian massif belong to two endemic species. – Preslia 87: 363–386.
- Kolbek J. & Boublík K. (2007): Rostlinná společenstva s *Helictotrichon desertorum* v České republice [Plant communities with *Helictotrichon desertorum* in the Czech Republic]. – Severočes. Přír. 38 (2006): 1–10. Kolenati F. A. (1860): Höhenflora des Altvaters. – Brünn.
- Korniak T. (1987): Carex stenophylla Wahlenberg nowy gatunek turzycy dla flory polskiej i inne interesujące rośliny kserotermiczne koło Dąbrowy Białostockiej [Carex stenophylla Wahlenberg – a new species of

sedge in the Polish flora and other interesting xerothermic plants near Dąbrowa Białostocka (north-western Poland)] – Fragm. Flor. Geobot. 31–32: 55–63.

- Kupriyanova L. A. (1986): Nekotorye voprosy sistematiki i palinomorfologii vidov roda *Convallaria* (*Asparagaceae*) [Some topics of systematics and palynology of *Convallaria* species (*Asparagaceae*)]. Bot. Zhurn. 71: 185–194.
- Küpfer Ph. (1974): Recherches sur les liens de parenté entre la flore orophile des Alpes et celle des Pyrénées. Boissiera 23: 1–322.
- Kurka R. (1990): Lindernia dubia nový zavlečený druh v Československu [Lindernia dubia a new alien species to the flora of the Czech Republic]. – Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 25: 47–48.
- Kúr P., Košnar J. & Štech M. (2014): Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in Spergularia echinosperma (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae). – Conserv. Genet. Res. 6: 571–573.
- Kúr P., Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. Preslia 84: 905–924.
- Lampe M. von (1996): Wuchsform, Wuchsrhythmus und Verbreitung der Arten der Zwergbinsengesellschaften. – Diss. Bot. 266: 1–353.
- Lepší M. & Douda J. (2005): *Lindernia dubia* (L.) Pennel puštička pochybná. In: Chán V., Lepší M. & Lepší P. (eds), Nálezy zajímavých a nových druhů v květeně jižní části Čech XI [Records of interesting and new plants in the South Bohemian flora XI], Sborn. Jihočes. Muz. České Budějovice, Přír. Vědy, 45: 170–171.
- Lepší M., Lepší P., Koutecký P., Bílá J. & Vít P. (2015): Taxonomic revision of Sorbus subgenus Aria occurring in the Czech Republic. – Preslia 87: 109–162.
- Lhotská M. (1966): Der älteste Fund der Bidens frondosa L. in Europa. Folia Geobot. Phytotax. 1: 186-189.
- Lhotská M. (1968): Die Gattung Bidens L. in der Tschechoslowakei. Folia Geobot. Phytotax. 3: 65-98.
- Liang S.-Y., Tucker G. C. & Koyama T. (2010): Schoenoplectus. In: Wu Z. Y., Raven P. H. & Hong D. Y. (eds), Flora of China 23. Acoraceae through Cyperaceae, p. 181–188, Science Press, Beijing, and Missouri Botanical Garden Press, St. Louis.
- Loos G. H. (1996): Zur Identität von *Carex leersiana* Rauschert, *C. chabertii* F. W. Schultz, *C. polyphylla* Kar. et Kir. und *C. guestphalica* (Boenn. ex Rchb.) Boenn. ex O. F. Lang. Feddes Repert. 107: 61–74.
- Lustyk P. (2015): Gratiola neglecta Torr. In: Hadinec J. & Lustyk P. (eds), Additamenta ad floram Reipublicae Bohemicae. XIII [Additions to the flora of the Czech Republic. XIII], Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 50: 66–67.
- Meusel H. & Jäger E. J. (eds) (1992): Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora. Vol. 3. Gustav Fischer, Jena, Stuttgart & New York.
- Meusel H., Jäger E., Rauschert S. & Weinert E. (1978): Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora. Vol. 2. Gustav Fischer, Jena.
- Meusel H., Jäger E. & Weinert E. (1965): Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora. Vol. 1. Gustav Fischer, Jena.
- Molina A., Acedo C. & Llamas F. (2008a): Taxonomy and new taxa of the *Carex divulsa* aggregate in Eurasia (section *Phaestoglochin*, *Cyperaceae*). – Bot. J. Linn. Soc. 156: 385–409.
- Molina A., Acedo C. & Llamas F. (2008b): Taxonomy and new taxa in Eurasian *Carex* (section *Phaestoglochin, Cyperaceae*). Syst. Botany 33: 237–250.
- Monnier P. & Ratter J. A. (1993): Spergularia (Pers.) J. & C. Presl. In: Tutin T. G., Burges N. A., Chater A. O., Edmondson J. R., Heywood V. H., Moore D. M., Valentine D. H., Walters S. M. & Webb D. A. (eds), Flora Europaea, ed. 2, 1: 186–188, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Mouterde P. (1986): Nouvelle flore du Liban et de la Syrie. Vol. 3. Texte. Librairie orientale, Beyrouth & Secrétariat Optima, Berlin.
- Niklfeld H. (1971): Bericht über die Kartierung der Flora Mitteleuropas. Taxon 20: 545-574.
- Niklfeld H. (1999): Mapping the flora of Austria and the Eastern Alps. Rev. Valdôtaine Hist. Nat. 51, suppl. 51: 53–62.
- Nobis M. & Nowak A. (2011): New data on the vascular flora of the central Pamir Alai Mountains (Tajikistan, Central Asia). – Pol. Bot. J. 56: 195–201.
- Nobis A., Nobis M., Piotrowicz K., Kącki Z. & Dajdok Z. (2010): *Lindernia procumbens* in Poland: the relationships between weather conditions and the occurrence of the species. Biodiv. Res. Conserv. 17: 39–46.
- Nosova L. M. (1965): Nekotorye vidy s dizjunktivnymi arealami vo flore severnoj (lugovoi) stepi evropejskoi chasti SSSR [Some new species with disjunctive ranges in the flora of northern steppe in the European part of USSR]. Bjull. Moskov. Obshch. Isp. Prir., sect. biol., 70/6: 116–130.
- Novák J. & Chytrý M. (2007): Cirsio-Brachypodion pinnati Hadač et Klika ex Klika 1951. Subkontinentální širokolisté suché trávníky [Cirsio-Brachypodion pinnati Hadač et Klika ex Klika 1951. Subcontinental

semi-dry broad-leaved grasslands]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 1. Travinná a keříčková vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 1. Grassland and Heathland Vegetation], p. 425–449, Academia, Praha.

- Ohwi J. (1965): Flora of Japan. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.
- Page S. E. & Rieley J. O. (1985): Ecology and distribution of *Carex chordorrhiza* L. fil. Watsonia 15: 253–259.
- Pennell F. W. (1935): The Scrophulariaceae of eastern temperate North America. Acad. Natur. Sci. Phil. Monogr. 1: 1–650.
- Peruzzi L., Carta A. & Garbari F. (2013): Lectotypification of the name Crocus sativus var. vernus L. (Iridaceae) and its consequences within Crocus ser. Verni. – Taxon 65: 1037–1040.
- Pichi Sermoli R. E. (1979): A survey of the pteridological flora of the Mediterranean region. Webbia 34: 175–242.
- Plocek A. (1986): Květena Jizerských hor. 4. Balsaminaceae až Cyperaceae [Flora of the Jizerské hory Mts. 4. Balsaminaceae to Cyperaceae]. – Sborn. Severočes. Muz. – Přír. Vědy 15: 5–52.
- Podlech D. & Zarre Sh. (2013): A taxonomic revision of the genus Astragalus L. (Leguminosae) in the Old World. Vol. 1–3. – Naturhistorisches Museum Wien, Wien.
- Podpěra J. (1930): Květena Moravy ve vztazích systematických a geobotanických. Fasc. 6/3 [Flora of Moravia in taxonomic and geobotanical context]. – Pr. Morav. Přírod. Společ. 5 (1928)/5: 57–415.
- Popiela A. (1998): The distribution of character species of the *Isoëto-Nanojuncetea*-class in Poland. Part I. *Centunculus minimus, Radiola linoides* and *Illecebrum verticillatum.* – Fragm. Florist. Geobot. 43: 223–230.
- Procházka F. (1977). Současné změny východočeské flóry a poznámky k rozšíření chráněných druhů rostlin [Recent changes in the flora of eastern Bohemia and notes on the distribution of protected species]. – Hradec Králové.
- Pyke S. B., Michaud H., Ferrer, P., Argagnon O., Virevaire, M. & Montserrat J. M. (2008): Notes on vascular plants in Morocco. – Lagascalia 28: 473–480.
- Pyšek P., Chytrý M., Pergl J., Sádlo J. & Wild J. (2012a): Plant invasions in the Czech Republic: current state, introduction dynamics, invasive species and invaded habitats. – Preslia 84: 575–629.
- Pyšek P., Danihelka J., Sádlo J., Chrtek J. Jr., Chytrý M., Jarošík V., Kaplan Z., Krahulec F., Moravcová L., Pergl J., Štajerová K. & Tichý L. (2012b): Catalogue of alien plants of the Czech Republic (2nd edition): checklist update, taxonomic diversity and invasion patterns. – Preslia 84: 155–255.
- Raabe U. (2007): Ein Vorkommen des Übersehenen Gnadenkrautes (Gratiola neglecta Torr.) in Brandenburg. – Flor. Runbr. 40: 111–112.
- Randall R. P. (2007): The introduced flora of Australia and its weed status. CRC for Australian Weed Management, Adelaide.
- Rohlena J. (1926): Příspěvky k floristickému výzkumu Čech. VI. [Contributions to the research into the flora of Bohemia]. – Čas. Nár. Mus., sect. sci. natur., 100: 139–158.
- Roleček J., Hájek M., Karlík P. & Novák J. (2015): Reliktní vegetace na mezických stanovištích [Relict vegetation on mesic sites]. – Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 50: 201–245.
- Romero-Zarco C. (2011): *Helictochloa* Romero Zarco (*Poaceae*), a new genus of oat grass. Candollea 66: 87–103.
- Röser M. (1996): Ecogeography of the grass genus *Helictotrichon (Poaceae: Aveneae)* in the Mediterranean and adjacent regions. – Plant Syst. Evol. 203: 181–281.
- Rünk K., Zobel M. & Zobel K. (2012): Biological flora of the British Isles: Dryopteris carthusiana, D. dilatata and D. expansa. – J. Ecol. 100: 1039–1063.
- Řepka R. (1983): Poznámky k výskytu *Carex stenophylla* Wahlenb. na Moravě [Notes on the occurrence of *Carex stenophylla* in Moravia]. – Zpr. Čs. Bot. Společ. 18: 123–128.
- Řepka R. (1988): Předběžné sdělení o výskytu Carex chabertii F. W. Schultz v Československu [A preliminary report on the occurence of Carex chabertii in Czechoslovakia]. – Zpr. Čs. Bot. Společ. 23: 81–90.
- Řepka R. (2003): Carex muricata aggregate in the Czech Republic: multivariate analysis of quantitative morphological characters. – Preslia 75: 233–248.
- Sádlo J. (2011): Schoenoplectetum tabernaemontani De Soó 1947. Brakické rákosiny se skřípincem Tabaernemontanovým [Schoenoplectetum tabernaemontani De Soó 1947. Brackish marshes dominated by Schoenoplectus tabernaemontani]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 3. Vodní a mokřadní vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 3. Aquatic and wetland vegetation], p. 437–440, Academia, Praha.
- Sarika-Hatzinikolaou M., Koupli-Sovantzi L. & Yannitsaros A. (1994): Myriophyllum alterniflorum DC. (Haloragaceae), a new record for the Greek flora. – Phyton (Horn) 34: 243–246.

- Scalone R. & Albach D. (2012): Degradation of sexual reproduction in Veronica filiformis after introduction to Europe. – BMC Evolutionary Biology 12: 233.
- Schmidt F. W. (1793): Flora Boëmica inchoata, exhibens plantarum regni Boëmiae indigenarum species. Cent. 1. – Pragae.
- Schultze-Motel W. (1980): Cyperus L. In: Conert H. J., Hamann U., Schultze-Motel W. & Wagenitz G. (eds), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa, ed. 3, vol. 2/1. Angiospermae. Monocotyledones 2. Cyperaceae, Typhaceae, incl. Sparganiaceae, Araceae, Lemnaceae, Juncaceae, p. 80–92, Verlag Paul Parey, Berlin & Hamburg.
- Scribailo R. W. & Alix M. S. (2014): *Haloragaceae*. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (eds), Flora of North America, Provisional Publication (May 28, 2014), p. 1–23, Flora of North America Association. URL: http://floranorthamerica.org/files/Haloragaceae.provisional.Gal\_.pdf (accessed 10 February 2016).
- Scott N. E. & Davison A. W. (1982): De-icing salt and the invasion of road verges by maritime plants. Watsonia 14: 41–52.
- Sessa E. B., Zimmer E. A. & Givnish T. J. (2012): Unraveling reticulate evolution in North American Dryopteris (Dryopteridaceae). – BMC Evol. Biol. 12: 104.
- Simon C. (1960): Gratiola neglecta Torr. im Oberelsaß. Bauhinia 1: 184-188.
- Skokan J. (1928): Konitrud lékařský (Gratiola officinalis L.). Věda Přír. 9: 131–144, 212–216, 247–251.
- Smith S. G. (2002): Schoenoplectus. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (eds), Flora of North America north of Mexico 23: 44–60, Oxford University Press, New York & Oxford.
- Soriano I. & Romero T. (2008): Sobre el género Gratiola L. (Scrophulariaceae) en el norte de Marruecos y Andalucía. – Lagascalia 28: 443–450.
- Soukup M., Štech M., Paulič R. & Chán V. (2010): Rozšíření ovsíře lučního Avenula pratensis (L.) Dumort. v jižní části Čech [Distribution of Avenula pratensis (L.) Dumort. in southern Bohemia]. – Sborn. Jihočes. Muz. České Budějovice, sci. natur., 50: 105–114.
- Stace C. (2010): Flora of the British Isles. Ed. 3. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stein D. B., Hutton C., Conant D. S., Haufler C. H. & Werth C. R. (2010): Reconstructing Dryopteris "semicristata" (Dryopteridaceae): Molecular profiles of tetraploids verify their undiscovered diploid ancestor. – Am. J. Bot. 97: 998–1004.
- Stuckey R. L. (1974): The introduction and distribution of Nymphoides peltatum (Menyanthaceae) in North America. - Bartonia 42: 14–23.
- Suominen J. (1984): *Gratiola neglecta (Scrophulariaceae)*, Mantsalanjoen rantakasvi [*Gratiola neglecta*, a North American wetland plant naturalized in Finland]. Memor. Soc. Fauna Fl. Fenn. 60: 5–9.
- Šprynar P. (2004): Poznámky k překvapivému výskytu podmrvky jižní (Notholaena marantae) a sleziníku hadcového (Asplenium cuneifolium) na ultrabazickém pikritu v Českém krasu [Notes on the surprising occurrence of Notholaena marantae and Asplenium cuneifolium on the ultrabasic picrite in the Bohemian Karst (central Bohemia)]. – Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 30: 321–338.
- Šumberová K. (2003): Veränderungen in der Teichwirtschaft und ihr Einfluß auf die Vegetation in der Tschechischen Republik. Mit Beispielen von Isoëto-Nanojuncetea-, Isoëto-Littorelletea- und Bidentetea-Arten im Becken von Třeboň (Wittingauer Becken). – Mitt. Bad. Landesver. Naturkunde u. Naturschutz, N. F., 18: 7–24.
- Šumberová K. (2011a): Nymphoidetum peltatae Bellot 1951. Vegetace mělkých stojatých vod teplých oblastí s plavínem štítnatým [Nymphoidetum peltatae Bellot 1951. Vegetation of shallow water bodies in warm areas dominated by Nymphoides peltata]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 3. Vodní a mokřadní vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 3. Aquatic and wetland vegetation], p. 124–127, Academia, Praha.
- Šumberová K. (2011b): Schoenoplectetum lacustris Chouard 1924. Rákosiny se skřípincem jezerním [Schoenoplectetum lacustris Chouard 1924. Marshes dominated by Schoenoplectus lacustris]. – In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky 3. Vodní a mokřadní vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 3. Aquatic and wetland vegetation], p. 394–397, Academia, Praha.
- Šumberová K. (2013a): Cyperus fuscus L. šáchor hnědý, š. tmavý. In: Lepší P., Lepší M., Boublík K., Štech M. & Hans V. (eds), Červená kniha květeny jižní části Čech [Red Data Book of the flora of southern part of Bohemia], p. 151–152, Jihočeské muzeum v Českých Budějovicích, České Budějovice.
- Šumberová K. (2013b): Gratiola neglecta Torr. In: Hadinec J. & Lustyk P. (eds), Additamenta ad floram Reipublicae Bohemicae. XI. [Additions to the flora of the Czech Republic. XI], Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 48: 92–90.
- Šumberová K. (2013c): Radiola linoides Roth stozrník lnovitý. In: Lepší P., Lepší M., Boublík K., Štech M. & Hans V. (eds), Červená kniha květeny jižní části Čech [Red Data Book of the flora of southern part of Bohemia], p. 341, Jihočeské muzeum v Českých Budějovicích, České Budějovice.

- Šumberová K. & Ducháček M. (2009): Gratiola neglecta nový zavlečený druh pro květenu České republiky [Gratiola neglecta – a new alien species to the flora of the Czech Republic]. – Zpr. Čes. Bot. Společ. 44: 151–175.
- Šumberová K., Ducháček M. & Lososová Z. (2012a): Life-history traits controlling the survival of *Tillaea* aquatica: a threatened wetland species in intensively managed fishpond landscapes of the Czech Republic. – Hydrobiologia 689: 91–110.
- Šumberová K., Lososová Z., Ducháček M., Horáková V. & Fabšičová M. (2012b): Distribution, habitat ecology, soil seed bank and seed dispersal of threatened *Lindernia procumbens* and alien *Lindernia dubia* (*Antirrhinaceae*) in the Czech Republic. Phyton (Horn) 52: 39–72.
- Šumberová K., Štech M. & Rektoris L. (2013): Lindernia procumbens (Krock.) Borbás puštička pouzdernatá, p. rozprostřená. – In: Lepší P., Lepší M., Boublík K., Štech M. & Hans V. (eds), Červená kniha květeny jižní části Čech [Red Data Book of the flora of southern part of Bohemia], p. 248–249, Jihočeské muzeum v Českých Budějovicích, České Budějovice.
- Thiers B. (2016): Index Herbariorum: a global directory of public herbaria and associated staff. New York Botanical Garden's Virtual Herbarium. URL: http://sciweb.nybg.org/science2/IndexHerbariorum.asp (accessed February 2016)
- Timohina S. A. (1990): Scirpus L. Kamyš. In: Peshkova G. A. & Malyshev L. I. (eds), Flora Sibiri [Flora of Siberia] 3: 20–74, Nauka, Novosibirsk.
- Toman M. (1973): Rozšíření některých stepních druhů v Čechách [Distribution of some steppe species in Bohemia]. Sborn. Pedagog. Fak. Ústí nad Labem, ser. sci. natur., 2: 21–102.
- Tsvelev N. N. (1980): Nizmyanka *Centunculus (Primulaceae*): novyi rod flory Dal'nego Vostoka [*Centunculus (Primulaceae*): a new genus of the flora of the Far East]. Bot. Zhurn. 65: 587–588.
- Turland N. J. & Jarvis C. E. (1997): Typification of Linnaean specific and varietal names in the Leguminosae (Fabaceae). – Taxon 46: 457–485.
- USDA, NRCS (2016): The Plants Database. United States Department of Agriculture. URL: http://plants.usda.gov (accessed 9 February 2016).
- Valdés B., Scholz H., Raab-Straube E. von & Parolly G. (2009): *Poaceae* (pro parte majore). In: Euro+Med Plantbase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity.

URL: http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed (accessed February 2016).

- van den Berg L. J. L., Dorland E., Vergeer P., Hart M. A. C., Bobbink R. & Roelefs J. G. M. (2005): Decline of acid sensitive plant species in heathland can be attributed to ammonium toxicity in combination with low pH. New Phytol. 166: 551–564.
- von Lampe M. (1996): Wuchsform, Wuchsrhythmus und Verbreitung der Arten der Zwergbinsengesellschaften. – Diss. Bot. 226: 1–353.
- Vydrina S. N. (1994): Astragalus L. Astragal. In: Polozhiy A. V. & Malyshev L. I. (eds), Flora Sibiri [Flora of Siberia] 9: 20–74, Nauka, Novosibirsk.
- Walsh N. G. (2003): Primulaceae. In: Walsh N. G. &. Entwisle T. J. (eds), Flora of Victoria 3: 517–522, Inkata Press, Melbourne.
- Webb C. J., Sykes W. R. & Garnock-Jones P. J. (1988): Flora of New Zealand. Vol. 4. Naturalised pteridophytes, gymnosperm and dicotyledons. – Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Weimarck G. (1971): Variation and taxonomy of *Hierochloë* (*Gramineae*) in the Northern Hemisphere. Bot. Not. 124: 129–175.
- Weyl P. S. R. & Coetzee J. A. (2014): The invasion status of *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. in southern Africa. Manag. Biol. Invas. 5: 31–37.
- Widén C.-J., Fraser-Jenkins C. R., Reichstein T., Gibby M. & Sarvela J. (1996): Phloroglucinol derivatives in Dryopteris sect. Fibrillosae and related taxa (Pteridophyta, Dryopteridaceae). – Ann. Bot. Fenn. 33: 69–100.
- Yu D., Wang D., Li Z.-Y. & Funston A. M. (2002): The taxonomic revision of the genus *Myriophyllum* (*Haloragaceae*) in China. – Rhodora 104: 396–421.
- Zuloaga F. O. & Morrone O. (1999): Catálogo de las plantas vasculares de la República Argentina [Catalogue of vascular plants of Argentina]. Vol. 2. Missouri Botanical Garden, St. Louis.

Received 27 February 2016 Revision received 15 May 2016 Accepted 16 May 2016

# Paper IV

# Origin of *Spergularia* ×*kurkae*, a hybrid between the rare endemic *S. echinosperma* and its widespread congener *S. rubra*.

Kúr P., Košnar J., Koutecký P., Tremetsberger K. & Štech M. (2016): Preslia 88: 391-407.

# Origin of *Spergularia* ×*kurkae*, a hybrid between the rare endemic *S. echinosperma* and its widespread congener *S. rubra*

Původ *Spergularia ×kurkae*, křížence mezi vzácným endemickým druhem *S. echinosperma* a široce rozšířeným *S. rubra* 

Pavel Kú r<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Jiří Košnar<sup>1</sup>, Petr Koutecký<sup>1</sup>, Karin Tremetsberger<sup>4</sup> & Milan Štech<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 31, CZ-370 05 České Budějovice, Czech Republic, e-mail: kur.pavel@gmail.com, jirikosnar@seznam.cz, kouta@prf.jcu.cz, stech@prf.jcu.cz; <sup>2</sup>Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Benátská 2, CZ-128 01 Praha, Czech Republic; <sup>3</sup>Department of Botany, National Museum, Cirkusová 1740, CZ-193 00 Praha 9 – Horní Počernice, Czech Republic; <sup>4</sup>Institute of Botany, Department of Integrative Biology and Biodiversity Research, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Gregor-Mendel-Straβe 33, A-1180 Wien, e-mail: karin.tremetsberger@boku.ac.at

Kúr P., Košnar J., Koutecký P., Tremetsberger K. & Štech M. (2016): Origin of *Spergularia xkurkae*, a hybrid between the rare endemic *S. echinosperma* and its widespread congener *S. rubra.* – Preslia 88: 391–407.

The origin of *Spergularia* ×*kurkae*, a presumed tetraploid hybrid between the diploid central-European endemic *S. echinosperma* and its widespread tetraploid congener *S. rubra*, was investigated by sequencing the nrDNA ITS region and cpDNA *rpo*C1 intron. *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra* differed markedly in their ITS sequences. The presence of both sequences within the genome of *S.* ×*kurkae* confirmed its hybrid origin and parentage; cpDNA sequences identified *S. echinosperma* as the sole maternal parent. Because both parental ITS homeologs were clearly visible in the sequences of almost all of the *S.* ×*kurkae* individuals, we conclude that this taxon is of a relatively young age. We hypothesize that *S.* ×*kurkae* might have evolved as a result of human-mediated introduction of *S. rubra* into fishponds. Cross-amplification of species-specific ITS primers revealed high levels of intra-individual ITS polymorphisms in *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*. Our results suggest ongoing gene flow from *S.* ×*kurkae* to *S. rubra*. In contrast, no evidence of gene flow from *S.* ×*kurkae* or *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma*. Our current data also support for the threat of the genetic assimilation of *S. echinosperma*. Our current

K e y w o r d s: endemism, hybridization, introgression, repeat-specific amplification, Spergularia

## Introduction

Interspecific hybridization is assumed to be a major force driving the evolution of vascular plants (Rieseberg et al. 1993, Ellstrand et al. 1996, Prentis et al. 2007, Soltis & Soltis 2009, Soltis 2013). It is estimated that as many as 50% of angiosperms may be of hybrid origin (Arnold 1997). The most significant trigger for hybridization has been the effect of humans on ecosystems. Creation of new habitats and the introduction of allochthonous species have led to the formation of an unprecedented number of hybrid zones (Levin et al. 1996, Rhymer & Simberloff 1996, Arnold 1997, Rieseberg 1997, Ellstrand & Schierenbeck 2000, Soltis & Soltis 2009). Whereas hybrid zones are of undeniable importance for the study of evolutionary processes, they can also pose a threat to endangered species in the form of genetic assimilation by widespread congeners (Levin et al. 1996, Wolf et al. 2001, Prentis et al. 2007).

Gene flow is usually limited to species of the same ploidy level (Chapman & Abbott 2010). Heteroploid hybridization is hampered by the production of sterile odd-ploidy offspring and typically occurs only in higher-ploidy taxa (Schneider 1958, Brochmann et al. 1992, Kolář et al. 2009, Hülber et al. 2015). However, there are an increasing number of documented cases of gene flow between diploids and tetraploids (e.g. Neuffer et al. 1999, Bleeker & Matthies 2005, Thórsson et al. 2010, Jørgensen et al. 2011, Koutecký et al. 2011, Moraes et al. 2013). The most important mechanism of inter-ploidy gene flow appears to be the fusion of reduced (n) and unreduced (2n) gametes (Ramsey & Schemske 1998, Soltis et al. 2004).

Spergularia echinosperma (Čelak.) Asch. et Graebn. is one of the few species of vascular plants that is endemic to central Europe and does not occur in high mountains (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990, Kúr et al. 2012). It is confined to the vegetation of annual wetland herbaceous plants (class *Isoëto-Nanojuncetea*) that are mainly recorded growing in the dried out bottoms of freshwater reservoirs that are periodically drained. The primary habitats of *S. echinosperma* are alluvial pools and sandy banks of rivers (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). Unfortunately, most of these habitats have been destroyed by the channelling of rivers. *Spergularia echinosperma* also occurs in secondary habitats, especially the bottoms of drained fishponds, where it has also been threatened by the intensification of fishpond management over the last century (Popiela 2005, Šumberová et al. 2005, 2006, Šumberová 2011).

Spergularia echinosperma is morphologically similar to *S. rubra* (L.) J. Presl et C. Presl, a nearly cosmopolitan weedy species that mainly occurs in disturbed habitats such as sandy fields, roadsides and waste ground (Dvořák 1979, Friedrich 1979, Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005). *Spergularia rubra* also sometimes grows in the same habitats as *S. echinosperma*, e.g. river banks and drained bottoms of ponds, where the two species have the same ecological niche and mixed populations are occasionally found (P. Kúr et al., unpubl.). These species differ in their ploidy levels, with *S. echinosperma* diploid (2n = 2x = 18; Dvořák & Dadáková 1984) and *S. rubra* tetraploid (2n = 4x = 36; Dvořák 1990, Wisskirchen & Haeupler 1998); there are records of other ploidy levels in countries other than those in central Europe (Ratter 1964, Fernandes & Leitao 1971).

Morphological observations have led some authors to conclude that *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* hybridize (Jage 1974, Dvořák 1989, 1990), and the hybrid was formally described as *S.* ×*kurkae* F. Dvořák (Dvořák 1989). The formal description is supplemented with a chromosome count, which is tetraploid (2n = 36). A more detailed study by Kúr et al. (2012) reports tetraploid populations that match the description of *S.* ×*kurkae*. These populations are clearly morphologically intermediate between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, supporting their hybrid origin. However, their genome size deviates significantly from the genome size of a modelled allotetraploid hybrid *S. echinosperma* × *S. rubra*. Dvořák (1990) also assumes introgressive hybridization between *S.* ×*kurkae* and *S. echinosperma*. However, Kúr et al. (2012) reports no morphological indications of gene flow between these taxa. Rather, they detect possible hybridization at the tetraploid level between *S.* ×*kurkae* and *S. rubra*. Therefore, in the current study, we investigate the hybridization of the two *Spergularia* species using molecular methods.
To accomplish our objective, we sequenced the biparentally inherited internal transcribed spacer (ITS) of nuclear ribosomal DNA and the maternally inherited rpoC1intron of chloroplast DNA (cpDNA). The ITS region was chosen because it is a multicopy marker that often retains intra-individual polymorphism in hybrid taxa, thus allowing clear inferences about their parentage (Sang et al. 1995, Koch 2003). To evaluate interspecific gene flow, we also used repeat-specific amplification of the ITS region. This is a very sensitive method that enables the detection of minority sequence variants and is suitable for inferring hybridization and reconstructing phylogeny (Rauscher et al. 2002, 2004, Soltis et al. 2008, Laureto & Barkman 2011). The cpDNA was used to indicate the direction of hybridization (i.e. to identify the maternal species). The combined use of these two markers allowed us to answer the following two questions: (i) What is the parentage of tetraploid *S.* ×*kurkae*? (ii) Does introgression among *S.* ×*kurkae*, *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* occur?

#### Materials and methods

#### Plant sampling

A total of 516 plants from 91 populations of *Spergularia echinosperma*, *S. rubra* and *S.* ×*kurkae* (1–20 individuals per population and taxon) in the Czech Republic and Germany were sampled between the years 2008 and 2012 (Fig. 1; see Electronic Appendix 1 for the exact localities and acronyms of the populations used in the text). Voucher specimens were deposited in the herbarium CBFS. Additionally, the holotype of *S.* ×*kurkae* (deposited in the herbarium CB) was used for DNA sequencing.

#### Flow cytometry and chromosome counting

To confirm the determination of the plants analysed, flow cytometry was used to estimate the genome size and DNA ploidy level (sensu Suda et al. 2006) of all the plants collected. We followed the protocol presented in Kúr et al. (2012).

We calibrated the flow cytometric measurements using the chromosome counts of all three taxa. One plant from each of the populations Siglovec (S. rubra), Kojatín (S. echinosperma) and Nový Dářko (S. ×kurkae) were used. The apical root meristems of germinated seedlings were pre-treated with a saturated water solution of p-dichlorobenzene (3 h, room temperature) and fixed in a 3:1 mixture of 96% ethanol and glacial acetic acid overnight at 4 °C. Chromosome counts were made after digestion using enzymes and squashing as described by Schwarzacher & Heslop-Harrison (2000) and Schönswetter et al. (2007). The fixed material was maintained in citrate buffer (pH = 4.8; freshly prepared by mixing 4 ml of 0.1 M citric acid monohydrate  $C_6H_8O_7 \cdot H_2O$  and 6 ml of 0.1 M trisodium citrate dihydrate C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>O<sub>7</sub>Na<sub>3</sub> · 2 H<sub>2</sub>O, and diluting 10× with distilled water) for 20 min, transferred to an enzyme mixture containing 1% (w/v) cellulase Onozuka (Serva, Heidelberg, Germany), 0.4% (w/v) cytohelicase (Sigma-Aldrich, Vienna, Austria) and 0.4% (w/v) pectolyase (Sigma-Aldrich) in citrate buffer (pH = 4.8, pre-warmed at 37 °C) and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C. Next, the loose root material was washed in citrate buffer for a minimum of 30 min and transferred to a drop of 60% acetic acid on a microscopic slide. The material was then dissected using entomological needles under a stereomicroscope,



Fig. 1. – Distributions of the populations of *Spergularia echinosperma* (white), *S.* ×*kurkae* (grey) and *S. rubra* (black) studied. The dashed lines denote the distribution of *S. echinosperma* (compiled from the review of herbarium specimens; P. Kúr et al., unpubl.). The distribution of *S. rubra* is not mapped, as this species is wide-spread throughout the study area.

covered with a cover slip and squashed. Preparations were frozen on a cooling plate, air dried after cover slip removal, and stored at -20 °C until required. After application of 9 µl of Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) with 2 µg/ml DAPI to the dry preparations, the preparations were screened for well-spread mitotic metaphases under a Zeiss Axio Imager.M2 epifluorescence microscope equipped with an Axiocam HRm camera. Images were acquired using Zeiss AxioVision SE64 software (Carl Zeiss Meditec AG, Oberkochen, Germany).

#### DNA extraction

Parts of plants (typically a whole lateral branch) were silica-dried and processed using the rapid DNA extraction method of Werner et al. (2002). A small amount of plant material was ground in 30  $\mu$ l of 0.5 M NaOH and centrifuged. The supernatant was diluted 1:10 with 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH = 8.3). In order to obtain DNA isolates of high quality, DNA from plants that were only available as herbarium specimens was extracted using the Invisorb Spin Plant Mini Kit (Invitek, Germany) following the manufacturer's protocol.

#### DNA sequencing and cloning

To amplify the ITS region, the ITS4i and ITS5i PCR primers (Roalson & Friar 2000) were used with the following cycling program: 94 °C for 2 min; 35 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, 50 °C for 1 min, 72 °C for 1 min; and final elongation at 72 °C for 10 min. The *rpo*C1 intron was amplified using the ANU cp033-L and ANU cp034-R primers (Ebert & Peakall 2009) with the following cycling program: 94 °C for 2 min; 12 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, 66–51 °C (gradually reduced by 3 °C every second cycle) for 30 s, 72 °C for 45 s; 33 cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, 47 °C for 30 s and 72 °C for 45 s; and final elongation at 72 °C for 10 min. The PCR reactions were carried out with 2.5 µl of Plain PP Master Mix (Top-Bio, Czech Republic), 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.3 µM of each primer, and 0.4 µl of the template DNA in a final reaction volume of 5 µl. The PCR products were sequenced using the ITS5i and ANU\_cp033-L primers on an ABI PRISM 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Laboratory of Genomics, Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, České Budějovice). The resulting electropherograms were inspected in Finch TV 1.4 (Geospiza, USA).

All but seven samples of *S*. ×*kurkae* showed multiple additive peaks in the direct ITS sequences, indicating intra-individual variation in the sequences. To separate the particular ITS molecules, PCR products were cloned into competent *Escherichia coli* DH5 alpha cells using the pGEM-T Easy Vector System (Promega, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions except that only one quarter of the recommended volumes for the reactions were used. Because the pattern of nucleotide additivity was the same for all of the samples, only one sample was chosen for cloning (population Cky). Five clones were sequenced to investigate the potential presence of different ITS copies.

#### Repeat-specific amplification

As the sequencing revealed two distinct ITS ribotypes, one specific to S. echinosperma and the other to S. rubra (see Results), we designed two sets of taxon-specific ITS primers using Primer3 (Koressaar & Remm 2007). Two primer pairs each consisted of a universal forward primer targeting both ribotypes (SIf, 5'-TCGTAACAAGGTTTCCGTAGGTG-3') in the 18S rRNA region and a reverse primer specific for S. echinosperma (EIr, 5'-CTCTAACGGGCGGGCG-3') or S. rubra (RIr, 5'-CTCTGGAAACGGGGCGG-3') ribotype, which targeted a variable site in the middle of the ITS1 region, producing a short partial fragment of the ITS1 region c. 100 bp long. The other two primer pairs each had a forward primer specific for S. echinosperma (EIf, 5'-TTGGTGCGTCCGCTCTAAC-3'; located 9 bp downstream of EIr) or S. rubra (RIf, 5'-CGCCCGCTCTGGAAAC-3'; located 7 bp downstream of RIr) and the universal reverse ITS4i primer, producing a long fragment ~ 500 bp long that included partial ITS1, complete 5.8S and complete ITS2 regions (Fig. 2). The echinosperma-specific amplification was done using 260 individuals of S. rubra, and the rubra-specific amplification was done using 58 individuals of S. echinosperma. In addition, the rubra-specific amplification was tested in the seven above-mentioned individuals of S. × kurkae that had only the S. echinosperma homeolog visible on the direct sequences (see Electronic Appendix 1). The PCR program was 95 °C for 3 min; 35/45 cycles of 95 °C for 30 s, primer-pair specific annealing temperature for 60 s, and 72 °C for 60 s; and 72 °C for 10 min. The annealing temperatures were 69 °C for the EIf/ITS4i primer pair, 67 °C for the RIf/ITS4i primer pair, and 64 °C for the SIf/EIr



Fig. 2. – (A) Scheme of the primers used in the repeat-specific amplification of *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, with approximate lengths of the PCR products. (B) Variable site in the ITS sequences of *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* targeted by the repeat-specific PCR primers.

and SIf/RIr primer pairs. Each PCR was run in two replicates consisting of 35 and 45 cycles. The PCR products were visualized on a 1.5% (w/v) agarose gel.

The percentages of individuals with positive amplification were calculated for each population of *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* tested, with at least 3 individuals analysed for each primer pair. Populations with significantly higher amplification rates were detected using Grubbs' test for outlier detection in R 3.2.0 (R Development Core Team 2015; grubbs.test function from the outliers package, ver. 0.14; Komsta 2011).

In addition, the products of the repeat-specific amplification were sequenced in a subset of the samples (17 in EIf/ITS4i, 19 in SIf/EIr, 6 in RIf/ITS4i and 13 in SIf/RIr; Table 1). PCR products showing multiple peaks in the direct sequences were cloned. The resulting sequences were aligned manually in BioEdit 7.2.0 (Hall 1999) and compared with the sequences obtained by direct sequencing. A ribotype network was constructed in TCS 1.21 (Clement et al. 2000) with a 90% connection limit and gaps included as the 5th state. Because of the problems with the RIf/ITS4i sequencing of the longer fragment in *S. echinosperma*, the network was computed only for the sequences of the short fragments (i.e. SIf/EIr and SIf/RIr amplifications).

#### PCR-RFLP

Only two distinct *rpo*C1 haplotypes were found among all of the samples sequenced, one being specific to *S. echinosperma* and the other to *S. rubra* (see Results). The *rubra*-haplotype possessed a restriction site for the enzyme PdmI (XmnI) at the 569th position of the alignment where the *echinosperma*-haplotype had a one-base substitution preventing this enzyme from cutting. Therefore, a PCR-RFLP protocol for fast identification of particular *rpo*C1 haplotypes was developed. The reactions were as follows: 1.8 µl of the PCR

Population	Individual	Taxon	Haplotypes	Percentage of positive amplification of alternative ribotypes [%]					
				Long fragm	ent (EIf/RIf)	Short fragm	ent (EIr/RIr)		
				35 cycles	45 cycles	35 cycles	45 cycles		
Babák	1 2	Е	RIr0, 1 RIr1, 4, 8	-	-	_	-		
Dříteň	1	Е	_	0	50	0	0		
Hůrka	1	E	_	0	20	0	0		
Chvalovec	3	E	RIr1	0	20	0	14		
	4		RIr1						
Hoděmyšl	1	Е	RIr3	17	33	0	40		
Jenšov	1	Е	RIr0, 9	-	-	-	-		
	2		RIr1, 6, 7						
Malobor	1	Е	RIr1, 4, 5	0	0	0	0		
	2		RIr0, 1						
Mlýnhor	1	Е	_	0	0	0	0		
Pařezný	1	Е	RIr1, 2	0	0	0	0		
	2		RIr1						
Podhůrský	1	Е	_	0	50	0	17		
Skopec	1	Е	RIr1	0	33	0	33		
Švihov	1	E	-	0	17	0	50		
Vosecký	1	E	RIr3	0	0	0	25		
Beranov	1	R	EIf0	0	67	33	67		
	2		EIf0						
	3		EIf0						
	4		EIr0						
Beranov-road	1	R	EIr0, 1	22	11	0	29		
Bleddin-road	1	R	-	17	50	0	17		
Bohdalov	1	R	-	0	17	0	40		
Březejc	1	R	-	0	33	0	0		
Černá	1	R	-	0	0	0	40		
Dvořák	1	R	-	0	0	0	25		
Hoděmysl-road	1	R	-	17	0	0	50		
HorMez	1	R	-	0	0	20	0		
Chvalovec	1	R	EIf0	71	71	67	83		
	2		EIr0, EIf0						
Chvalovec-road	1	R	EIf0	94	94	35	31		
	2		EIr0, EIf0						
Dessau	1	R	EIf0	17	17	17	33		
	2		EIr0						
Dobev	1	R	EIr0	17	0	33	17		
	2		EIr0, EIf0						
Domburg	1	R	EIf0	0	25	0	0		
Grieben	1	R	EIr0	0	17	33	17		
Heinrichsberg	1	R	EIf0	33	17	0	40		
Januš	1	R	EIf1	-	-	-	-		
Klec	1	R	-	0	0	0	0		
Klieken	1	R	EIf0	33	17	17	40		
	2		EIr0						
Konračský-road	1	R	-	0	0	0	17		

Short fragment (EIr/RIr)

Population	Individual	Taxon	Haplotypes	Perc	entage of pos	itive amplific	ation
				Long fragm	ent (EIf/RIf)	Short fragment (!	
				35 cycles	45 cycles	35 cycles	45
KrLes	1	R	EIf0	14	29	0	-
Lužnice	1	R	_	0	0	0	
Máj	1	R	_	0	0	0	
Mlýnhor-road	1	R	_	0	0	0	

				35 cycles	45 cycles	35 cycles	45 cycles
KrLes	1	R	EIf0	14	29	0	29
Lužnice	1	R	_	0	0	0	0
Máj	1	R	_	0	0	0	0
Mlýnhor-road	1	R	_	0	0	0	33
Mříč	1	R	EIr0	0	0	17	67
Mýto	1	R	_	0	0	0	0
Nový Dářko-road	1	R	_	0	0	0	33
Pecihrádek	1	R	_	0	0	20	0
Písek	1	R	_	0	0	0	40
Pláňava	1	R	_	0	0	0	60
Pobočenský	1	R	EIr0	0	0	25	0
Polom	1	R	EIr0	0	33	33	60
Ptáčov	1	R	EIr0	0	17	17	33
Rožmitál	1	R	_	0	0	0	0
Siglovec	1	R	EIf0	17	50	0	20
	2		EIf2				
Skopec-road	1	R	EIr0	0	50	33	67
Slavkovický	1	R	EIr0, EIf0	20	20	20	20
St Hlína	1	R	_	0	20	0	0
Strmilov	1	R	_	0	0	25	0
Švihov-road	1	R	EIr0	0	33	17	33
Telč Štěpnice	1	R	EIr0	0	17	17	50
Vlkov	1	R	_	0	0	0	0
Vosecký-road	1	R	_	0	11	0	11
Vrbinec	1	R	EIr0	0	0	17	50
Waidhaus	1	R	_	0	20	0	0
Zavlekov	1	R	EIr0	0	0	40	20

product was added to a mixture containing 1.35 U of PdmI enzyme (Fermentas, Lithuania), 0.27 µl of 10× Tango buffer (Fermentas) and 1.98 µl of sterile H<sub>2</sub>O. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 6 h and the entire reaction volume was analysed electrophoretically on a 1.5% (w/v) agarose gel. The specificity of this method was tested using 27 samples of S. echinosperma and 60 samples of S. rubra, the identities of which were confirmed by direct sequencing.

#### Results

#### Chromosome counts and ploidy levels

Three different cytotypes were found, corresponding to diploid S. echinosperma, tetraploid S. ×kurkae and tetraploid S. rubra. All three taxa also differed in monoploid genome size (Fig. 3). An exception was one individual of S.  $\times kurkae$  (population Gbelinek), which had a monoploid genome size significantly larger than that of the other S.  $\times$  kurkae individuals. Chromosome counts confirmed 2n = 36 for S. rubra and *S.* ×*kurkae* and 2n = 18 for *S. echinosperma* (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. – Range plot of the equivalents of the 1Cx values calculated from the genome sizes based on DAPI staining for *Spergularia echinosperma*, *S.* ×*kurkae*, and *S. rubra* expressed in terms of a ratio with the 1C value of the internal standard *Glycine max*. Midpoint = median; error bar = min–max. The *S.* ×*kurkae* outlier is marked with an asterisk.



Fig. 4. – Mitotic chromosome spreads of *Spergularia echinosperma* (A; 2n = 18), *S*. ×*kurkae* (B; 2n = 36) and *S*. *rubra* (C; 2n = 36).

#### Direct sequencing and cloning

Direct sequencing of the ITS region of 112 plants resulted in two distinct ribotypes that were specific for *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* (GenBank acc. no. KU662347–KU662348). The alignment had a length of 674 bp and contained 16 substitutions and 4 indels (Electronic Appendix 2). Cloning of *S.* ×*kurkae* resulted in two ITS sequences that were identical with the ribotypes of *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra*. The pattern of nucleotide

additivity of these two ribotypes was recorded in the direct sequences of 39 individuals of *S*. ×*kurkae*, including the holotype. Seven individuals were exceptions, in which only the peaks of *S*. *echinosperma* were observable (populations: Špitálský – 3 individuals, Chvalovec, Bleddin, Kozcin, Veselský – 1 individual each).

Only two different *rpo*C1 haplotypes were found among all of the 95 plants sequenced: one unique for *S. rubra* and the other unique for *S. echinosperma* and *S.* ×*kurkae* (GenBank acc. no. KU671397–KU671398). The alignment had a length of 802 bp and contained two substitutions and one indel (Electronic Appendix 3). The PdmI assay consistently produced two fragments for *S. rubra* (200 and 600 bp), whereas no digestion was detectable for *S. echinosperma*. We confirmed the presence of the *S. echinosperma* haplotype in all 164 individuals of *S.* ×*kurkae* (Electronic Appendix 1). The attempts to amplify the *rpo*C1 intron in the holotype of *S.* ×*kurkae* failed.

#### Repeat-specific amplification

Both sets of the *rubra*-specific ITS primers amplified positively in five out of the seven individuals of *S*. ×*kurkae* for which the *S*. *rubra* ribotype was not visible in the direct sequences (populations Bleddin, Chvalovec, Kozcin, Špitálský, and Veselský). The other two samples (population Špitálský) did not show any positive amplification.

The *echinosperma*-specific ITS primers amplified positively in 18% of the 267 individuals of *S. rubra*, averaged over both PCR replicates. The rate of positive amplification was distributed unequally among the *S. rubra* populations, with only a few highly amplifying populations (Beranov, Chvalovec, Chvalovec-road, Heinrichsberg, and Klieken; Table 1). The *rubra*-specific primers amplified positively in 10% of the 64 individuals of *S. echinosperma*, averaged over both PCR replicates. The rates of positive amplification were distributed randomly among the populations of *S. echinosperma*, and there were no populations with consistently higher amplification rates (Table 1).

A subset of the PCR products of the *echinosperma*-specific amplification in *S. rubra* (32 individuals) and the *rubra*-specific amplification in *S. echinosperma* (13 individuals) was sequenced. The longer *echinosperma*-specific EIf/ITS4i products from *S. rubra* were found in all but two of the individuals to be identical with the ITS sequence of *S. echinosperma* (ribotype EIf0). The two *S. rubra* individuals produced sequences differing from this ribotype by a single substitution (ribotypes EIf1–EIf2; Tables 1 and 2). Sequencing of the longer *rubra*-specific RIf/ITS4i products from *S. echinosperma* was unsuccessful due to a very weak signal.

The shorter *echinosperma*-specific SIf/EIr products from *S. rubra* were in nearly all of the individuals identical with the ITS ribotype of *S. echinosperma* (ribotype EIr0). Additionally, one individual displayed intra-individual sequence variation and contained another unique sequence differing from the EIr0 ribotype in one substitution (ribotype EIr1; Tables 1 and 3). The shorter *rubra*-specific SIf/RIr products from *S. echinosperma* resulted in 10 different *rubra*-like ribotypes (RIr0–RIr9), which were clearly separated from the *echinosperma*-like ribotypes (EIr) in the TCS network (Fig. 5). The separation between the RIr and EIr groups of ribotypes was distinct, with at least three hypothetical missing haplotypes. Importantly, the ribotype matching the ITS sequence of *S. rubra* (RIr0) was very rare in *S. echinosperma*, being detected in only three individuals (Tables 1 and 3). The remaining *rubra*-like ribotypes (RIr1–9) found in 13 individuals of *S. echinosperma* 

were derived from the RIr0 ribotype of *S. rubra* and differed by 1–4 substitutions. There was no clear pattern in the geographic distribution of the different ribotypes (Electronic Appendix 4).

Table 2. – Ribotypes recorded using repeat-specific amplification by EIf/ITS4i primers in *Spergularia rubra* and their comparison with the ITS sequence of *S. rubra*. Only variable sites are shown. The position numbers correspond to the alignment of the whole ITS region (Electronic Appendix 2).

Haplotype/position	131	171	190	202	205	208	235	306	488
S. rubra	G	А	С	С	Т	Т	С	А	С
EIf0 (= S. echinosperma)	-	А	Т	Т	С	С	Т	А	Т
EIf1	G	G	Т	Т	С	С	Т	А	Т
EIf2	G	А	Т	Т	С	С	Т	С	Т

Table 3. – Ribotypes recorded using repeat-specific amplification by SIf/EIr primers in *Spergularia rubra* (haplotypes EIr0-EIr1) and SIf/RIr primers in *S. echinosperma* (haplotypes RIr0-RIr9). Only variable sites are shown. The position numbers correspond to the alignment of the whole ITS region (Electronic Appendix 2).

Haplotype/position	73	74	77	78	79	80	87	95	107	110	112	114	116
EIr0 (= S. echinosperma)	G	G	С	G	С	С	_	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	С
EIr1	А	G	С	G	С	С	_	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	С
RIr0 (= S. rubra)	G	G	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С
RIr1	G	G	А	G	С	С	Т	С	Т	Т	С	С	С
RIr2	G	G	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	С	А	С	С
RIr3	G	G	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	Т	С	С	С
RIr4	G	G	С	G	С	Т	С	С	С	С	С	С	С
RIr5	G	G	С	А	С	С	С	С	Т	Т	С	С	С
RIr6	G	G	С	G	Т	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С
RIr7	G	Т	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С
RIr8	G	G	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	Т	С
RIr9	G	G	С	G	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	А

#### Discussion

#### Origin of Spergularia ×kurkae

The chromosome counts and flow cytometric measurements confirmed previous reports of the ploidy levels for all the taxa studied. Only one individual of *S*. *×kurkae* displayed an exceptionally high genome size and may be an aneuploid. The concurrent presence of the ITS ribotypes from *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* in nearly all of the individuals of *S. ×kurkae* (including the holotype) convincingly demonstrates the hybrid origin of *S. ×kurkae*. This finding is in accordance with the morphological evidence of Kúr et al. (2012).

The chloroplast DNA revealed that *S. echinosperma* was the maternal progenitor of *S.* ×*kurkae* in all cases. No triploids were found among the populations of *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* in either this study or in that of Kúr et al. (2012), indicating that triploids do not play a role in the evolution of this group. It is therefore likely that the formation of *S.* ×*kurkae* was a one-step process that involved unreduced gametes of *S. echinosperma*.



Fig. 5. – Ribotype network based on the sequences obtained from repeat-specific amplification with SIf/EIr and SIf/RIr primers. The size of the ovals indicate the relative frequencies of particular ribotypes in our data. The empty circles represent hypothetical missing haplotypes.

The incomplete concerted evolution in *S.* ×*kurkae* (i.e. lacking homogenization of divergent rDNA copies; Zimmer et al. 1980, Hillis et al. 1991, Elder & Turner 1995), an annual species with a short generation time, indicates its young age (cf. Sang et al. 1995, O'Kane et al. 1996, Koch 2003). We hypothesize that *S.* ×*kurkae* formed after *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* came into contact as a result of human-mediated introduction of *S. rubra* into fishponds (e.g. possibly due to grazing of summer-drained fishponds and the sowing of cereals and other culture plants; Šumberová 2003). In Bohemia, such introductions might be associated with fish farming, which began in the 11th century and was most intensive in the 15th and 16th centuries (Šumberová et al. 2006). Before the advent of fish farming, it was likely that the contact between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* was limited as these species were likely ecologically separated at that time based on their contemporary primary habitats along the river banks of the Elbe in Germany (U. Amarell, pers. comm.). Additional insight into the origin of *S.* ×*kurkae* is expected to be provided by an ongoing study based on microsatellite markers (Kúr et al. 2014).

#### Interspecific gene flow

As the origin of the tetraploid *S. rubra* is unknown, the high incidence of the *S. echinosperma* ITS ribotype in some populations of *S. rubra* might be explained in two

ways. First, *S. rubra* might be of allopolyploid origin, with one parental genome from *S. echinosperma* or a species closely related to *S. echinosperma*. In this scenario, the observed intra-individual ITS variation within *S. rubra* would represent the remains of the *S. echinosperma*-like ancestor retained within *S. rubra*. This pathway could also explain the discrepancy between the recorded genome size of *S.* ×*kurkae* and that predicted by combining the genome sizes of its parents (Kúr et al. 2012). If *S. rubra* acted as a segmental allopolyploid, it might produce gametes with a higher genome size than half of that of the *S. rubra* somatic genome size, leading to the apparent genome upsizing in *S.* ×*kurkae*.

Alternatively, the *S. echinosperma* ITS variants within *S. rubra* might be the result of ongoing gene flow between *S.* ×*kurkae* and *S. rubra*. Gene introgression between these two taxa was previously suggested by the existence of morphologically intermediate plants (Kúr et al. 2012). Importantly, in the present study, all five populations of *S. rubra* that had significantly high rates of amplification of the *echinosperma*-specific ITS primers (Table 1) were located near present (Beranov, Chvalovec, Chvalovec-road) or historical (Heinrichsberg, Klieken) localities of *S. echinosperma* or *S.* ×*kurkae*. We consider these findings as a good indicator of interspecific gene flow. However, the two hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and both processes might be involved.

In contrast, we found no reliable evidence of gene flow from *S.* ×*kurkae* to *S. echino-sperma* as the *S. rubra* ITS ribotype (RIr0) was almost never present within *S. echino-sperma*. The several *rubra*-like ribotypes found in *S. echinosperma* (Table 1) were more divergent and are likely a result of an ancestral polymorphism retained within *S. echinosperma*. If there was recent gene flow from *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma*, we would expect the frequent occurrence of the RIr0 ribotype in *S. echinosperma*.

Therefore, our results conflict with Dvořák (1990), who argues that there is a constant gene flow from *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma*. We conclude that *S. echinosperma* is not currently threatened by genetic assimilation. However, even if the ploidy barrier protects this species from assimilation, it might still be threatened by ecological competition from *S.* ×*kurkae* (demographic swamping; Levin et al. 1996), as the latter has a higher fitness than *S. echinosperma* in terms of higher seed set and more rapid growth (P. Kúr, unpubl.). For example, in *Typha* ×*glauca* (Huisman et al. 2012) and *Spartina anglica* (Begon et al. 1991, Ennos & Sheffield 2009), hybrids successfully outcompeted the parental species. Further studies are needed to reliably assess the risks that *S.* ×*kurkae* poses to the rare endemic *S. echinosperma*.

#### Status of Spergularia ×kurkae

Since the description of *Spergularia* ×*kurkae* by Dvořák (1989), this taxon has not been listed in any of the central-European floras or checklists (Fischer et al. 2008, Jäger 2011, Danihelka et al. 2012, Goliašová 2012) except for the Flora of the Czech Republic (Dvořák 1990). Our current data, however, support *S*. ×*kurkae* as an independent taxon that mostly occurs in the absence of the parental species, which is consistent with its distinct morphological separation (Kúr et al. 2012). Although there are some indications of ongoing hybridization between *S*. ×*kurkae* and *S*. *rubra*, it appears to be rare, with little effect on the boundary between the taxa. In addition, according to preliminary data on germination ecology (P. Kúr, unpublished), the percentage germination recorded for

*S.*×*kurkae* is similar to that of *S. echinosperma* and it does not suffer from reduced fertility. We therefore propose that *S. kurkae*, originally described as a primary hybrid, be treated as a separate allopolyploid species, in a similar way to *Bolboschoenus laticarpus* Marhold et al. (Marhold et al. 2004), *Galeopsis tetrahit* L. (Bendiksby et al. 2011) and *Veronica hederifolia* L. (Albach et al. 2008).

#### Acknowledgements

We are indebted to Kateřina Šumberová and the companies Školní rybářství Protivín, Rybářství Hluboká cz. s.r.o., Lesy a rybníky města Českých Budějovic s.r.o., Klatovské rybářství a.s., Rybářství Nové Hrady s.r.o., Blatenská ryba s.r.o., Rybářství Kardašova Řečice s.r.o., Rybářství Třeboň a.s., Rybářství Růžička s.r.o., and Český rybářský svaz for their help with finding localities for our research. We are also much obliged to the curator of the herbarium CB (M. Lepší) for his help with the study of the type material, to Alžběta Manukjanová for her help with field work, to Dieter Frank for providing data on the distribution of *Spergularia echinosperma* in Saxony-Anhalt, and to Hanna Weiss-Schneeweiss (University of Vienna) for providing facilities for chromosome counts. This work was supported by the project 138/2010/P from the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia and the Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic (DKRVO 2016/10, National Museum, 00023272) (P. Kúr) and by project 14-36079G (Centre of Excellence PLADIAS) from the Czech Science Foundation (P. Koutecký, M. Štech).

#### Souhrn

Cílem předkládané práce bylo studium původu taxonu Spergularia ×kurkae, předpokládaného křížence diploidního středoevropského endemita S. echinosperma a široce rozšířeného tetraploidního druhu S. rubra. Celkem bylo analyzováno 516 rostlin z 91 populací z území České republiky a Německa, a to včetně typové položky jména S. × kurkae. Použitými metodami bylo sekvenování jaderného ITS regionu a chloroplastového rpoC1 genu. Spergularia echinosperma a S. rubra se výrazně lišily ve svých ITS sekvencích. Oba ITS ribotypy se rovněž vyskytovaly pohromadě v genomu téměř všech jedinců S. ×kurkae, což přesvědčivě dokazuje hybridní původ tohoto taxonu. Chloroplastová DNA rovněž prokázala, že ve všech případech byl mateřským rodičem druh S. echinosperma. U téměř všech jedinců S. ×kurkae byly oba ITS ribotypy zřetelně patrné na přímých sekvencích, což ukazuje na neúplnou homogenizaci ribozomální DNA (incomplete concerted evolution) a naznačuje, že S. ×kurkae je pravděpodobně relativně mladým taxonem. Je možné, že se taxon S. ×kurkae vyvinul následkem člověkem zapříčiněné introdukce druhu S. rubra na obnažená dna rybníků, pravděpodobně ve spojitosti s rozvojem rybníkářství v Čechách. Reciproká amplifikace druhově specifických ITS primerů rovněž naznačila možnost genového toku na tetraploidní úrovni mezi S. ×kurkae a S. rubra, který je ale poměrně vzácný. Naproti tomu nebyly nalezeny důkazy o ohrožení S. echinosperma genetickou erozí a genovým tokem od S. rubra. Na základě spojení těchto výsledků a předchozích studií (morfologické rozdíly, samostatný výskyt nezávislý na rodičovských druzích) doporučujeme klasifikovat S. kurkae jako samostatný allopolyploidní druh.

#### References

- Albach D. C., Martínez-Ortega M. M., Delgado L., Weiss-Schneeweiss H., Özgökce F. & Fischer M. A. (2008): Chromosome numbers in *Veroniceae (Plantaginaceae)*: review and several new counts. – Ann. Missouri Bot. Gard. 95: 543–566.
- Arnold M. L. (1997): Natural hybridization and evolution. Oxford Univ. Press, New York.
- Begon M., Fitter A. H. & MacFadyen A. (eds) (1991): Advances in ecological research. Vol. 21. Academic Press, London.
- Bendiksby M., Tribsch A., Borgen L., Trávníček P. & Brysting A. K. (2011): Allopolyploid origins of the Galeopsis tetraploids: revisiting Müntzing's classical textbook example using molecular tools. – New Phytol. 191: 1150–1167.
- Bleeker W. & Matthies A. (2005): Hybrid zones between invasive *Rorippa austriaca* and native *R. sylvestris* (*Brassicaceae*) in Germany: ploidy levels and patterns of fitness in the field. – Heredity 94: 664–670.
- Brochmann C., Stedje B. & Borgen L. (1992): Gene flow across ploidal levels in *Draba (Brassicaceae)*. Evol. Trends Plants 6: 125–134.

- Chapman M. A. & Abbott R. J. (2010): Introgression of fitness genes across a ploidy barrier. New Phytol. 186: 63–71.
- Clement M., Posada D. & Crandall K. (2000): TCS: a computer program to estimate gene genealogies. Mol. Ecol. 9: 1657–1659.
- Danihelka J., Chrtek J. Jr. & Kaplan Z. (2012): Checklist of vascular plants of the Czech Republic. Preslia 84: 647–811.
- Dvořák F. (1979): Některé výsledky studia druhu Spergularia echinosperma Čelak. [Some study results of the species Spergularia echinosperma Čelak.]. – Zpr. Čs. Bot. Společ. 14: 109–116.
- Dvořák F. (1989): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.–Biol. 19: 301–322.
- Dvořák F. (1990): Spergularia kuřinka. In: Hejný S. & Slavík B. (eds), Květena České republiky [Flora of the Czech Republic] 2: 81–86, Academia, Praha.
- Dvořák F. & Dadáková B. (1984): Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. – Scr. Fac. Sci. Natur. Univ. Purkyn. Brun.–Biol. 14: 463–468.
- Ebert D. & Peakall R. (2009): A new set of universal de novo sequencing primers for extensive coverage of noncoding chloroplast DNA: new opportunities for phylogenetic studies and cpSSR discovery. – Mol. Ecol. Res. 9: 777–783.
- Elder J. F. Jr. & Turner B. J. (1995): Concerted evolution of repetitive DNA sequences in eukaryotes. Quarter. Rev. Biol. 70: 297–320.
- Ellstrand N. C. & Schierenbeck K. A. (2000): Hybridization as a stimulus for the evolution of invasiveness in plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97: 7043–7050.
- Ellstrand N. C., Whitkus R. & Rieseberg L. H. (1996): Distribution of spontaneous plant hybrids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 5090–5093.
- Ennos R. & Sheffield L. (2009): Plant life. Blackwell Science, Oxford.
- Fernandes A. & Leitao M. T. (1971): Contribution à la connaissance cytotaxonomique des Spermatophyta du Portugal III, Caryophyllaceae. – Bol. Soc. Broteriana 45: 143–176.
- Fischer M. A., Oswald K. & Adler W. (eds) (2008): Exkursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein und Südtirol. Ed. 3. – Biologiezentrum der Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseen, Linz.
- Friedrich H.-C. (1979): Familie Caryophyllaceae. In: Rechinger K. H. (ed.), Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa. Vol. 3 (2): 763–1182, Paul Parey, Berlin/Hamburg.
- Goliašová K. (2012): Spergularia (Pers.) J. Presl et C. Presl. Pakolenec. In: Goliašová K. & Michalková E. (eds), Flóra Slovenska [Flora of Slovakia] 6/3: 88–99, Veda, Bratislava.
- Hall T. A. (1999): BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. – Nucl. Acids Symp. 41: 95–98.
- Hartman R. L. & Rabeler R. K. (2005): Spergularia. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (eds), Flora of North America north of Mexico 5/2: 16–23, Oxford Univ. Press, New York & Oxford.
- Hillis D. M., Moritz C., Porter C. A. & Baker R. J. (1991): Evidence for biased gene conversion in concerted evolution of ribosomal DNA. – Science 251: 308–310.
- Huisman K., Graeff A. & Laureto P. J. (2012): Hybridization dynamics of invasive cattail (*Typhaceae*) stands at Pierce Cedar Creek institute: a molecular analysis. – The Michigan Bot. 51: 89–99.
- Hülber K., Sonnleitner M., Suda J., Krejčíková J., Schönswetter P., Schneeweiss G. M. & Winkler M. (2015): Ecological differentiation, lack of hybrids involving diploids, and asymmetric gene flow between polyploids in narrow contact zones of *Senecio carniolicus* (syn. *Jacobaea carniolica*, *Asteraceae*). – Ecol. Evol. 5: 1224–1234.
- Jage H. (1974): Vorarbeiten zu einer Flora der Dübener Heide und ihrer näheren Umgebung. Verh. Bot. Ver. Prov. Brandenb. 109–111: 3–55.
- Jäger E. J. (ed.) (2011): Exkursionsflora von Deutschland. Gefäßpflanzen: Grundband. Ed. 20. Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Jørgensen M. H., Ehrich D., Schmickl R., Koch M. A. & Brysting A. K. (2011): Interspecific and interploidal gene flow in Central European Arabidopsis (Brassicaceae). – BMC Evol. Biol. 11: 346.
- Koch M. A. (2003): Multiple hybrid formation in natural populations: concerted evolution of the internal transcribed spacer of nuclear ribosomal DNA (ITS) in North American Arabis divaricarpa (Brassicaceae). – Mol. Biol. Evol. 20: 338–350.
- Kolář F., Štech M., Trávníček P., Rauchová J., Urfus T., Vít P., Kubešová M. & Suda J. (2009): Towards resolving the *Knautia arvensis* agg. (*Dipsacaceae*) puzzle: primary and secondary contact zones and ploidy segregation at landscape and microgeographic scales. – Ann. Bot. 103: 963–974.

- Komsta L. (2011): Outliers: tests for outliers. R package version 0.14. URL: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=outliers.
- Koressaar T. & Remm M. (2007): Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3. Bioinformatics 23: 1289–1291.
- Koutecký P., Baďurová T., Štech M., Košnar J. & Karásek J. (2011): Hybridization between diploid *Centaurea pseudophrygia* and tetraploid *C. jacea (Asteraceae)*: the role of mixed pollination, unreduced gametes, and mentor effects. Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 104: 93–106.
- Kúr P., Košnar J. & Štech M. (2014): Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in Spergularia echinosperma (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae). – Conserv. Genet. Res. 6: 571–573.
- Kúr P., Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Morphological and cytological variation in Spergularia echinosperma and S. rubra, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. – Preslia 84: 905–924.
- Laureto P. J. & Barkman T. J. (2011): Nuclear and chloroplast DNA suggest a complex single origin for the threatened allopolyploid *Solidago houghtonii* (*Asteraceae*) involving reticulate evolution and introgression. – Syst. Bot. 36: 209–226.
- Levin D. A., Francisco-Ortega J. & Jansen R. K. (1996): Hybridization and the extinction of rare plant species. - Conserv. Biol. 10: 10–16.
- Marhold K., Hroudová Z., Ducháček M. & Zákravský P. (2004): The *Bolboschoenus maritimus* group (*Cyperaceae*) in Central Europe, including *B. laticarpus*, spec. nova. Phyton 44: 1–21.
- Monnier P. & Ratter J. A. (1993): Spergularia (Pers.) J. & C. Presl. In: Tutin T. G., Burges N. A., Chater A. O., Edmondson J. R., Heywood V. H., Moore D. M., Valentine D. H., Walters S. M. & Webb D. A. (eds), Flora Europaea 1: 186–188, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- Moraes A. P., Chinaglia M., Palma-Silva C. & Pinheiro F. (2013): Interploidy hybridization in sympatric zones: the formation of *Epidendrum fulgens × E. puniceoluteum* hybrids (*Epidendroideae*, *Orchidaceae*). – Ecol. Evol. 3: 3824–3837.
- Neuffer B., Auge H., Mesch H., Amarell U. & Brandl R. (1999): Spread of violets in polluted pine forests: morphological and molecular evidence for the ecological importance of interspecific hybridization. Mol. Ecol. 8: 365–377.
- O'Kane S. L., Schaal B. A. & Al-Shehbaz I. A. (1996): The origins of Arabidopsis suecica (Brassicaceae) as indicated by nuclear rDNA sequences. – Syst. Bot. 21: 559–566.
- Popiela A. (2005): Isoëto-Nanojuncetea species and plant communities in their eastern distribution range (Poland). – Phytocoenologia 35: 283–304.
- Prentis P. J., White E. M., Radford I. J., Lowe A. J. & Clarke A. R. (2007): Can hybridization cause local extinction: a case for demographic swamping of the Australian native *Senecio pinnatifolius* by the invasive *Senecio madagascariensis.* – New Phytol. 176: 902–912.
- R Development Core Team (2015): R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, URL: http://cran.r-project.org.
- Ramsey J. & Schemske D. W. (1998): Pathways, mechanisms, and rates of polyploid formation in flowering plants. – Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29: 467–501.
- Ratter J. A. (1964): Cytogenetic studies in Spergularia I. Cytology of some Old World species. Not. R. Bot. Gard. Edinburgh 25: 293–302.
- Rauscher J. T., Doyle J. J. & Brown A. H. D. (2002): Internal transcribed spacer repeat-specific primers and the analysis of hybridization in the *Glycine tomentella* (*Leguminosae*) polyploid complex. – Mol. Ecol. 11: 2691–2702.
- Rauscher J. T., Doyle J. J. & Brown A. H. D. (2004): Multiple origins and nrDNA internal transcribed spacer homeologue evolution in the *Glycine tomentella* (*Leguminosae*) allopolyploid complex. – Genetics 166: 987–998.
- Rhymer J. M. & Simberloff D. (1996): Extinction by hybridization and introgression. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 27: 83–109.
- Rieseberg L. H. (1997): Hybrid origins of plant species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28: 359-389.
- Rieseberg L. H., Ellstrand N. C. & Arnold M. (1993): What can molecular and morphological markers tell us about plant hybridization. – Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 12: 213–241.
- Roalson E. H. & Friar E. A. (2000): Infrageneric classification of *Eleocharis (Cyperaceae)* revisited: evidence from the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of nuclear ribosomal DNA. – Syst. Bot. 25: 323–336.
- Sang T., Crawford D. J. & Stuessy T. F. (1995): Documentation of reticulate evolution in peonies (*Paeonia*) using internal transcribed spacer sequences of nuclear ribosomal DNA: implications for biogeography and concerted evolution. – Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 6813–6817.

- Schneider I. (1958): Zytogenetische Untersuchungen an Sippen des Polyploid-Komplexes Achillea millefolium L. s. lat. (Zur Phylogenie der Gattung Achillea, I.). – Plant Syst. Evol. 105: 111–158.
- Schönswetter P., Suda J., Popp M., Weiss-Schneeweiss H. & Brochmann C. (2007): Circumpolar phylogeography of *Juncus biglumis (Juncaceae)* inferred from AFLP fingerprints, cpDNA sequences, nuclear DNA content and chromosome numbers. – Mol. Phylogen. Evol. 42: 92–103.

Schwarzacher T. & Heslop-Harrison J. S. (2000): Practical in situ hybridization. - Bios, Oxford.

- Soltis D. E., Mavrodiev E. V., Doyle J. J., Rauscher J. & Soltis P. S. (2008): ITS and ETS sequence data and phylogeny reconstruction in allopolyploids and hybrids. Syst. Bot. 33: 7–20.
- Soltis D. E., Soltis P. S. & Tate J. A. (2004): Advances in the study of polyploidy since plant speciation. New Phytol. 161: 173–191.
- Soltis P. S. (2013): Hybridization, speciation and novelty. J. Evol. Biol. 26: 291-293.
- Soltis P. S. & Soltis D. E. (2009): The role of hybridization in plant speciation. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 60: 561–588.
- Suda J., Krahulcová A., Trávníček P. & Krahulec F. (2006): Ploidy level versus DNA ploidy level: an appeal for consistent terminology. – Taxon 55: 447–450.
- Šumberová K. (2003): Veränderungen in der Teichwirtschaft und ihr Einfluss auf die Vegetation in der Tschechischen Republik: Mit Beispielen von Isoëto-Nanojuncetea-, Littorelletea-und Bidentetea-Arten im Becken von Třeboň (Wittingauer Becken). – Mitt. Bad. Landesver. Naturkunde u. Naturschutz 18: 7–24.
- Šumberová K. (2011): Isoëto-Nano-Juncetea Br.-Bl. et Tüxen ex Br.-Bl. et al. 1952. In: Chytrý M. (ed.), Vegetace České republiky. 3. Vodní a mokřadní vegetace [Vegetation of the Czech Republic 3. Aquatic and wetland vegetation], p. 309–312, Academia, Praha.
- Šumberová K., Horáková V. & Lososová Z. (2005): Vegetation dynamics on exposed pond bottoms in the Českobudějovická basin (Czech Republic). – Phytocoenologia 35: 421–448.
- Šumberová K., Lososová Z., Fabšičová M. & Horáková V. (2006): Variability of vegetation of exposed pond bottoms in relation to management and environmental factors. – Preslia 78: 235–252.
- Thórsson Æ. Th., Pálsson S., Lascoux M. & Anamthawat-Jónsson K. (2010): Introgression and phylogeography of *Betula nana* (diploid), *B. pubescens* (tetraploid) and their triploid hybrids in Iceland inferred from cpDNA haplotype variation. – J. Biogeogr. 37: 2098–2110.
- Werner O., Ros R. M. & Guerra J. (2002): Direct amplification and NaOH extraction: two rapid and simple methods for preparing bryophyte DNA for polymerase chain reaction (PCR). – J. Bryol. 24: 127–131.
- Wisskirchen R. & Haeupler H. (1998): Standardliste der Farn- und Blütenpflanzen Deutschlands. Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart.
- Wolf D. E., Takebayashi N. & Rieseberg L. H. (2001): Predicting the risk of extinction through hybridization. Conserv. Biol. 15: 1039–1053.
- Zimmer E. A., Martin S. L., Beverley S. M., Kan Y. W. & Wilson A. C. (1980): Rapid duplication and loss of genes coding for the alpha chains of hemoglobin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77: 2158–2162.

Received 5 February 2016 Revision received 12 July 2016 Accepted 13 July 2016

# Paper V

# Taxonomy and evolutionary diversification of the Central European endemic *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllaceae).

Kúr P., Amarell U., Jage H. & Štech M., Manuscript.

# Taxonomy and evolutionary diversification of the Central European endemic *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllaceae)

PAVEL KÚR<sup>1,2,3</sup>, UWE AMARELL<sup>4</sup>, HORST JAGE<sup>5</sup> & MILAN ŠTECH<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 31, CZ-370 05 České Budějovice, Czech Republic, e-mail: kur.pavel@gmail.com, stech@prf.jcu.cz

<sup>2</sup> Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Benátská 2, CZ-128 01 Praha, Czech Republic

<sup>3</sup> Department of Botany, National Museum, Cirkusová 1740, CZ-193 00 Praha, Czech Republic

<sup>4</sup> Lange Straße 34a, DE-77652 Offenburg, Germany, e-mail: uwe.amarell@kabelbw.de

<sup>5</sup> Waldsiedlung 15, DE-06901 Kemberg, Germany

#### Abstract

The patterns of morphological variation and distribution of a rare Central European endemic Spergularia echinosperma were investigated. Morphometric analyses revealed the existence of two distinct morphotypes differing mainly in seed color, which was either brown or black. The differences in seed color were also supported by differences in some other morphological characters. Revision of 28 herbarium collections from the Czech Republic and Germany revealed clear geographic separation of the morphotypes. The black-seeded morphotype occurred nearly exclusively in drained fishponds in the southwestern part of the Czech Republic. The brownseeded morphotype was found in drained fishponds in the eastern part of the Czech Republic and in alluvial pools and river deposits of the Elbe in Germany. We hypothesize that the black-seeded morphotype may have been indigenous in former natural lakes which were widespread in the south-western part of the Czech Republic and were frequently transformed into fishponds. The brown-seeded morphotype may have its origin in river alluvia of the Elbe in Germany and possibly also of other rivers in the Czech Republic. As the two morphotypes are morphologically well-delimited and have an almost completely vicariant distribution, we propose their formal taxonomic treatment and describe the brown-seeded morphotype as S. echinosperma subsp. albensis.

#### Introduction

There are relatively few vascular plants endemic to Central Europe outside high mountains. *Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelakovský 1881: 867) Ascherson & Graebner (1893: 517) belongs to the long-recognized ones (Čelakovský 1881, Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990). It is a species confined to the threatened vegetation of annual wetland herbs bound to exposed bottoms of freshwater reservoirs (class Isoëto-Nano-Juncetea). The species has two main centers of distribution—Germany where *S. echinosperma* grows in alluvial pools and river banks along the Elbe (Friedrich 1979, Jäger 2011, Brück et al. 2012), and the Czech Republic where it grows exclusively in secondary habitats, especially drained fishponds (Friedrich 1979, Dvořák 1990, Kaplan et al. 2016). It is also marginally distributed in Austria (Fischer et al. 2008) and Slovakia (Dvořák 1979, Goliašová 2012).

Spergularia echinosperma has been long considered a taxonomically critical species (Jage 1974, Dvořák 1990, Suda et al. 2007). The reasons were its morphological similarity to a

widespread congener *S. rubra* (Linnaeus 1753: 423) Presl & Presl (1819: 94), for which *S. echinosperma* was frequently confused, and the alleged presence of gene flow between these two species. Recent studies (Kúr et al. 2012, Kúr et al. 2016), however, demonstrated that although an interspecific hybrid between *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* exists—*S. kurkae* Dvořák (1989: 320)—it is a stable hybrid species reproductively isolated from the parents. It was also proven that all the three species are morphologically well-delimited.

The main morphological characters discriminating *S. echinosperma* from the other species are those on seeds (Kúr et al. 2012). However, there has been contradictory information in the literature as for the actual values of some seed characters in *S. echinosperma*. The most conspicuous is the difference in the indicated seed color. Czech authors describe *S. echinosperma* as possessing black seeds (Dostál 1989, Dvořák 1990, Kúr et al. 2012), including the description of this taxon by Čelakovský (1881). German plants, on the other hand, are characterized by (dark) brown seed color (Jage 1974, Friedrich 1979). Our study of the herbarium material of *S. echinosperma* indeed confirmed the presence of two groups differing in seed color.

The taxonomic value of this character in *S. echinosperma* remains unknown. In the genus *Spergularia*, seed characters are generally very important, and they are vital for the determination of some species (Monnier & Ratter 1993, Hartman & Rabeler 2005). It is therefore possible the varying seed morphology in *S. echinosperma* may reflect an unrevealed taxonomic structure of this Central European endemic.

In this study we combined an extensive revision of herbarium material and morphometric analyses of selected specimens. Our aims were to investigate correlations of seed color with other morphological characters and to map the distribution of particular morphotypes. Specifically, we asked the following questions: (1) What is the pattern of morphological variation in *S. echinosperma*? (2) Is the morphological variation correlated with different environmental conditions and/or geographical regions?

#### **Materials and Methods**

Plant material from 21 public herbaria (B, BRNM, BRNU, CB, CBFS, DR, GAT, HAL, JE, LIM, LIT, MJ, MNVD, OLM, OP, PL, PR, PRA, PRC, STU, ZMT) and 7 personal herbaria (H. Jage, J. Komárek, J. Zámečník, L. Čech, P. Kúr, R. Paulič, Z. Kaplan) from the Czech Republic and Germany was revised (Electronic Appendix 1). The type of habitat was recorded for each locality based on the description on the herbarium label.

A subset of 114 plants from 15 populations were used for the morphometric analyses (1-19) individuals per population; see Table 1 for the exact localities and acronyms of the populations used in the text). Only mature plants with ripe capsules were used.

In total, 14 quantitative and 7 derived ratio characters were used (Table 2). Diagnostic characters used by Kúr et al. (2012) and other potentially informative characters based on our field experience were included. Seed color was used as a classificatory variable. All the individuals could be unambiguously classified into two groups, one possessing black and the other brown seeds (Fig. 1). Special caution was given to evaluating well-developed seeds only.

The data were processed by multivariate statistical analyses. Quantitative characters that deviated most from a normal distribution in each of the pre-defined groups were log-transformed to improve normality (Table 2). Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to visualize the

Label	Locality	Latitude	Longitude	Number of plants	Date	Collector	Seed color
Bleddin	Distr. Wittenberg, Bleddin: oxbow lake called "Bleddiner Riß", exposed margin	51.79411	12.79542	7	26.6.1982	H. Jage	brown
Gallin	Distr. Wittenberg, Gallin: scour upstream the ferry in the village, the right bank of the Elbe	51.83680	12.75619	4	11.9.1967	H. Jage	brown
Hodemysl	Dist. Příbram, Hoděmyšl: bare bottom of the Velký hoděmyšlský fishpond	49.61600	13.87864	7	21.6.2011	P. Kúr	black
Hrachoviste	Dist. Jindřichův Hradec, Hrachoviště: bare bottom of the Hrachovišťský fishpond	48.92864	14.76408	10	26.6.2011	P. Kúr	black
Kojatin	Dist. Třebíč, Kojatín: bare bottom of the Kojatínský fishpond	49.24172	16.00847	6	6.6.2011	P. Kúr	brown
KWurf	Distr. Roßlau, Klieken: oxbow lake called "Kurzer Wurf" WSW of the town	51.88031	12.32558	7	9.9.1989	H. Jage	brown
Malobor	Dist. Strakonice, Sedlice: bare bottom of the Malobor pond	49.36678	13.97556	7	25.6.2008	P. Kúr	black
Mlynhor	Dist. Strakonice, Drahonice: bare bottom of the Mlýnský horní fishpond	49.19467	14.08694	7	25.6.2011	P. Kúr	black
Parezny	Dist. Žďár Nad Sázavou, Bohdalov: bare bottom of the Pařezný fishpond	49.47744	15.85317	1	4.6.2011	P. Kúr	brown
Pratau	Distr. Wittenberg, Pratau: oxbow lake N of the town, E of the F2 road (near the "Bude 100")	51.85115	12.64539	7	7.10.1963	H. Jage	brown
Priesitz	Distr. Wittenberg, Priesitz: the Old Elbe ca 1 km NE of the town; sandy-muddy margin of the oxbow lake	51.70727	12.83715	7	12.10.1971	H. Jage	brown
Skopec	Dist. Písek, Nová Ves u Protivína: bare bottom of the Skopec fishpond	49.23108	14.25231	10	25.6.2011	P. Kúr	black
Svihov	Dist. Chrudim, Švihov: bare bottom of the Švihov fishpond	49.84264	15.85931	10	5.6.2011	P. Kúr	brown
Tangermunde	Distr. Stendal, Tangermünde: right bank of the Elbe opposite the town, under the road bridge.	52.56491	11.98564	5	14.10.1963	H. Jage	brown
Terlicko	Dist. Karviná, Těrlicko: exposed margin of the Těrlicko water reservoir	49.74336	18.49515	19	25.10.2012	H. Jage	brown

**TABLE 1.** List of the populations of *Spergularia echinosperma* used for the morphometric analyses. The geographic coordinates are presented in the WGS 84 format.

overall pattern of morphological variation in the data (CANOCO 5; Šmilauer & Lepš 2014). To find out which characters significantly separated the seed color groups, canonical discriminant analysis (CDA) was applied. The significance of individual characters was tested using both marginal effects (i.e., when a character is alone in the model) and unique contributions of the characters (i.e., the addition of each character into the model with all other characters) (Koutecký 2015). Forward selection of characters was employed to detect the combination of characters most contributing to the separation of the groups. The threshold significance level was set to  $\alpha = 0.05$  and a Monte-Carlo permutation test (1000 permutations) used. The predictive ability of the selected characters was tested by classificatory discriminant analysis based on the posterior group membership probabilities and cross-validation using whole populations as leave-out units. The percentage of misclassified samples in each group served as a measure of the predictive ability.

**TABLE 2.** Morphological characters used in the morphometric analyses and summary of their values for the blackseeded (41 individuals) and brown-seeded (73 individuals) *S. echinosperma* morphotypes. The numbers denote (minimum–)10th percentile/**mean**/90th percentile(–maximum). Characters log-transformed prior to the multivariate analyses are marked with an asterisk.

Acronym	Character [units]	Seed color group	
		brown	black
Cap-K	capsule-sepal length ratio	(1.00–)1.13/1.26/1.56(–1.41)	(1.07–)1.13/1.21/1.39(–1.33)
CapsLeng	capsule length [mm]	(2.4-)3.0/3.2/4.1(-3.5)	(2.6–)2.8/3.1/3.7(–3.5)
FrPedLen*	length of the fruit pedicel adjacent to the capsule [mm]	(1.7–)2.4/4.1/9.1(–6.7)	(3.8–)4.1/ <b>5.6</b> /11.1(–7.5)
InterLen*	length of the internode adjacent to the measured leaf [mm]	(3.33–)6.47/ <b>11.43</b> /21.27(–16.83)	(5.43–)7.90/ <b>11.94</b> /25.07(–18.97)
Int-Leaf*	internode length/leaf length ratio	(0.43–)0.77/ <b>1.02</b> /1.65(–1.34)	(0.72–)0.91/1.39/3.42(–1.87)
KLength*	sepal length [mm]	(2.1-)2.3/2.6/3.4(-2.8)	(2.1–)2.3/2.6/3.2(–3.0)
LeafLeng*	leaf length [mm]	(5.3-)6.4/11.5/21.0(-17.6)	(5.0-)5.7/9.1/15.6(-12.7)
LeafRat*	leaf length/width ratio	(10.4–)15.6/22.8/38.5(–32.5)	(13.2-)14.8/21.5/62.0(-26.9)
LeafWidt	leaf width [mm]	(0.2-)0.4/0.5/0.8(-0.6)	(0.1-)0.2/0.5/0.8(-0.7)
LengSeed	seed length [µm] (Fig. 7)	(323-)377/ <b>412</b> /507(-467)	(336–)357/ <b>397</b> /473(–448)
РарНеі	papilla height [µm] (Fig. 7)	(12-)15/18/23(-21)	(16-)17/19/24(-21)
PapNum	number of papillae on one quarter of the seed circumference (papillae density)	(5-)8/12/19(-15)	(10-)13/15/20(-18)
PapRat	ratio of the papilla upper part ("head") width and papilla lower part ("neck") width (papilla shape)	(1.01–)1.10/ <b>1.24</b> /1.55(–1.42)	(1.04–)1.08/ <b>1.21</b> /1.50(–1.35)
Ped-Cap*	pedicel/capsule length ratio	(0.57–)0.73/1.27/2.28(–2.10)	(1.21-)1.39/1.80/3.25(-2.34)
PlHeight*	height of the longest stem [cm]	(4-)5/8/16(-12)	(5-)6/8/12(-10)
SeedRat	seed length/width ratio	(1.09–)1.22/1.29/1.51(–1.38)	(1.23–)1.26/1.34/1.48(–1.42)
StemWidth*	stem width [mm]	(0.4-)0.4/0.6/1.3(-0.7)	(0.2-)0.3/0.5/0.8(-0.6)
StpLt	stipule length [mm]	(0.9-)1.1/1.3/1.8(-1.6)	(0.9–)1.1/1.2/1.5(–1.4)
StpRT	stipule length/width ratio	(0.48–)0.60/0.72/1.01(–0.86)	(0.58–)0.63/0.74/0.90(–0.83)
StpWd	stipule width [mm]	(1.3-)1.6/1.9/2.5(-2.2)	(1.3-)1.5/1.7/2.0(-1.8)
WidtSeed	seed width $[\mu m]$ (Fig. 7)	(242–)289/ <b>321</b> /383(–358)	(252–)265/ <b>297</b> /341(–338)

The discriminant analyses were computed using the MorphoTools scripts (Koutecký 2015) in R 3.2.3 (R Development Core Team 2015).

We also reanalyzed the data by classification trees that create a hierarchical classification based on univariate splits that can then be visualized as an easily interpretable tree diagram (Breiman et al. 1984). The function rpart (package rpart) in R 3.2.3 (R Development Core Team 2015) was used. The minimum split parameter (minsplit) was set to 1 and the initial complexity parameter (cp) to 0.001. A cross-validation using the populations as the leave-out subsamples was used to assess the optimal tree complexity, instead of random subsamples as implemented in the original method (Venables & Ripley 2002). The resulting tree was selected on the basis of the 1-SE rule (Venables & Ripley 2002).



**FIGURE 1.** A typical seed of the brown-seeded (A) and black-seeded (B) morphotype of *Spergularia echinosperma*.

#### Results

Using all 21 morphological characters, PCA did not produce any clear and distinct clusters of plants. However, the black-seeded and brown-seeded plants separated slightly along the second ordination axis (Fig. 2).

In spite of this, CDA identified some characters significantly separating the groups (Table 3). The 7 best predictors selected by forward selection were mainly seed characters (papillae



**FIGURE 2.** PCA of individuals of *Spergularia echinosperma*: (A) distribution of individuals in the ordination space (circles – black seeded plants, X-marks – brown-seeded plants), (B) fit of the 21 morphological characters to the ordination axes. The first and the second ordination axes explain 24.3% and 16.4% of the total variation, respectively.

density, papilla head/neck ratio, papilla height, seed width) although there were also some welldiscriminating characters on the vegetative parts (i.e. pedicel/capsule length ratio, stipule width, and internode/leaf length ratio). The predictive ability of the selected characters was 84% of correctly classified samples (Fig. 3, Table 4).

The final classification tree selected had 3 terminal nodes (complexity parameter cp = 0.1). It confirmed the high discrimination power of pedicel/capsule length ratio. The second character selected was leaf length, contrary to the CDA forward selection (Fig. 4). The overall predictive power of this model was lower with 65% of correctly classified samples (Table 4).

The revision of herbarium specimens showed that the black-seeded morphotype is, with two exceptions, restricted to the southwestern part of the Czech Republic (especially the South Bohemian fishpond basins). The exceptions were one locality in Germany (Rathenow) and one locality in the eastern part of the Czech Republic (Kadolecký fishpond near Křižanov). The brown-seeded morphotype, on the other hand, occurs in the eastern part of the Czech Republic (especially in the Bohemian-Moravian Highlands) and Germany (along the Elbe) only (Fig. 5).

The localities of *S. echinosperma* were found in four distinct types of habitats – fishponds, river reservoirs, alluvial pools, and river banks (Table 5). Nearly all localities from the Czech Republic came from drained fishponds. An exception was one population from an exposed

Character	Condit	ional effects	Margir	Marginal effects		contributions	Biplot scores	
Character	F	р	F	р	F	р	Biplot scores	
PapNum	60.8	0.005	60.8	0.005	17.1	0.001	0.426	
Ped-Cap	30.8	0.005	36.9	0.005	7.4	0.005	0.332	
StpWd	19.7	0.005	23.3	0.005	2.3	0.146	-0.263	
PapRat	13.7	0.005	2.0	0.200	12.6	0.001	-0.077	
WidtSeed	8.8	0.005	18.8	0.005	3.4	0.064	-0.237	
РарНеі	6.3	0.015	7.8	0.005	22.3	0.001	0.152	
Int-Leaf	4.9	0.020	30.2	0.005	0.3	0.639	0.300	
FrPedLen	n. s.		25.9	0.005	7.9	0.003	0.278	
StemWidth	n. s.		12.9	0.005	3.2	0.071	-0.196	
SeedRat		n. s.	11.3	0.005	2.2	0.141	0.183	
LeafLeng		n. s.	10.6	0.005	0.0	0.972	-0.178	
StpLt		n. s.	8.0	0.015	0.4	0.539	-0.154	
Сар-К		n. s.	7.5	0.010	0.0	0.920	-0.149	
CapsLeng		n. s.	6.5	0.020	3.4	0.065	-0.139	
LeafWidt		n. s.	5.4	0.030	0.0	0.925	-0.127	
LengSeed		n. s.	4.7	0.035	2.2	0.140	-0.118	
StpRT		n. s.	1.2	0.275	0.8	0.384	0.060	
LeafRat		n. s.	1.0	0.305	0.4	0.568	-0.056	
InterLen		n. s.	0.5	0.505	0.1	0.785	0.038	
PlHeight		n. s.	0.2	0.690	6.3	0.011	-0.023	
KLength		n. s.	0.0	0.940	0.0	1.000	-0.002	

**TABLE 3.** Morphological characters tested in the forward selection with their conditional and marginal effects, unique contributions, and their contributions to the canonical axis (biplot scores).

margin of a river reservoir. In Germany, *S. echinosperma* occurred nearly exclusively in alluvial pools or river banks along the Elbe River. An exception was the only German locality of black-seeded *S. echinosperma* which was located in the vicinity of the river Havel, ca 20 km off the Elbe. The type of habitat was unfortunately not specified on the herbarium label.

**TABLE 4.** Summary of the classification matrices of the black-seeded and brown-seeded morphotypes of *Spergularia echinosperma* resulting from the classificatory discriminant analysis and classification trees.

Classific	atory discrim	inant analysis		Classification trees				
observed	black	brown	Total	observed	black	brown	Total	
predicted				predicted	_			
black	37 (90.2%)	14 (19.2%)		black	24 (58.5%)	23 (31.5%)		
brown	4 (9.8%)	59 (80.8%)		brown	17 (41.5%)	50 (68.5%)		
Percent correct	90.0%	80.8%	84.2%	Percent correct	58.5%	68.5%	64.9%	

**TABLE 5.** Absolute frequencies of habitat types in which *Spergularia echinosperma* was recorded, summarized across morphotypes and countries.

Country	Czec	h Republic	Germany		
Seed color	black	brown	black	brown	
fishpond	47	63			
reservoir		1			
alluvial pool				31	
river bank				34	
unknown			1		



**FIGURE 3.** Distribution of the canonical scores from CDA for the black-seeded (black) and brown-seeded (white) morphotype of *Spergularia echinosperma*.



**FIGURE 4.** Classification tree of the individuals of the black-seeded and brown-seeded morphotype of *Spergularia echinosperma*. If a character value matches the classification rule, the determination continues to the left branch, otherwise to the right branch. Lengths of the branches correspond to the relative discriminatory powers of the respective rules. The group names at the terminal nodes indicate the predicted classification of a particular node, whereas the numbers separated by slashes indicate actual membership of samples classified to a particular node (black/brown).



**FIGURE 5.** Distribution of the herbarium specimen records of the black-seeded (circles) and brown-seeded (crosses) morphotype of *Spergularia echinosperma*. Populations used for morphometric analyses are highlighted in gray. The dashed lines denote the main European drainage divides.

#### Discussion

We confirmed that the observed differences in seed color in *Spergularia echinosperma* are correlated with the differences in some other morphological characters. Most of them are related to seed morphology, but there are also some well-discriminating vegetative characters. Even if the determination of the morphotypes without the information about the seed color is not fully reliable, their morphological separation seems to be well-supported.

The morphotypes display a clearly vicariant distribution. The presence of brown-seeded *S. echinosperma* in Germany is in accordance with the descriptions of this species by German authors (Jage 1974, Friedrich 1979). From the Czech Republic, however, only the black-seeded morphotype has been reported so far (Dostál 1989, Dvořák 1990, Kúr 2012).

In this moment, we can only speculate about the origin and migration history of the different lineages of *S. echinosperma*. The black-seeded morphotype may have its origin in natural lakes which existed in South and South-West Bohemia and were frequently transformed into fishponds during the Middle Ages and the Early Modern Age (Chvojka et al. 2010, Pokorný 2015). The brown-seeded morphotype, on the other hand, may be indigenous to periodically exposed substrates in river alluvia. This is easily conceivable in the case of the Elbe where the species still grows in this type of habitats. The same may hold true for the populations of brown-seeded *S. echinosperma* in the eastern part of the Czech Republic. In this region, natural lakes were nor common (Chlupáč et al. 2002), and alluvial pools seems to be a more probable primary habitat for *S. echinosperma*. Periodically exposed alluvial pools still occur in this region (especially along the Morava River), but they were vastly destroyed in the  $20^{th}$  century. Unfortunately, there are no historical records of *S. echinosperma* from these habitats in this region to corroborate the indigenous status of the species in this region.

Even if the two morphotypes of *S. echinosperma* have probably evolved in different regions, they nearly complete vicariance is surprising. As the Bohemian populations of black-seeded *S. echinosperma* lie within the Elbe river catchment, one would expect their presence at the lower reaches of the Elbe too. This could be explained by different ecological adaptations of the morphotypes. The black-seeded morphotype may be adapted to the management of the South Bohemian fishponds where there is only a relatively short and unpredictable period of substrate exposure during the spring, which makes a strong selection pressure on shortening life cycle and the presence of primary seed dormancy (Šumberová et al. 2005). In contrast, alluvial pools in river floodplains are usually exposed for a longer period in late summer and fall, and their water regime is more predictable probably relaxing existing selection pressures (Šumberová 2011). Differences in seed dormancy may also be the direct cause of different seed morphology. Seeds of the black-seeded morphotype probably have thicker testa than those of the brown-seeded morphotype, which is a trait that is related to increased seed dormancy (Bewley et al. 2012).

The absence of the black-seeded morphotype in the eastern part of the Czech Republic as well as the absence of the brown-seeded morphotype in south-western part of the Czech Republic are harder to explain as it is the same type of habitats, i.e. fishponds. This may be the result of dispersal limitation. As the majority of the populations of the black-seeded morphotype lie within a different drainage basin than do the populations of the brown-seeded morphotype, a limited diaspore exchange between the two regions seems logical. In addition, there may also exist some sort of environmental filtering. As far as we know, fishponds in the Bohemian-Moravian

Highlands, where most of the Czech localities of the brown-seeded morphotype lie, are usually dried for a longer period than the South-Bohemian fishponds (K. Šumberová, pers. comm.). This may create ecological conditions more similar to those of exposed substrates in river alluvia.

Clearly, further studies, including macrofossil analyses and the study of dormancy and germination biology, are needed to elucidate the evolution history of *S. echinosperma*. Partial insight should be provided by an ongoing genetic study (based on published microsatellite markers; Kúr et al. 2014).

Considering the obvious geographic and ecological differentiation of the two morphotypes, their taxonomic treatment as separate entities seems justified. As the morphological differences between the morphotypes are tiny, we propose treating them at the rank of subspecies. As the type of *S. echinosperma* belongs to the black-seeded morphotype (deposited in the herbarium PR, No. 374981; Kúr et al. 2012), we describe the brown-seeded morphotype as the new subspecies.

#### Descriptions of the new subspecies

Spergularia echinosperma subsp. albensis Kúr, Amarell, Jage & Štech, subspec. nova

Diagnosis:—*Spergularia echinosperma* subsp. *albensis* resembles habitually *S. echinosperma* subsp. *echinosperma*, however, it differs in having seeds with brown to dark brown testa. In addition, *S. echinosperma* subsp. *albensis* has, on average, shorter fruit pedicels, lower pedicel length / fruit length ratio and longer leaves than *S. echinosperma* subsp. *echinosperma*.

Type:—Germany, distr. Wittenberg, Priesitz: oxbow lake 1 km East by North of the church in the village; lat.: +51.7047, long.: +12.8393; 12. 10. 1971; leg. H. Jage (holotype: GLM, No. 0168069, Fig. 6; isotype: PR, No. 878041).



FIGURE 6. Holotype of Spergularia echinosperma subsp. albensis deposited in GLM.



**FIGURE 7.** Characters measured on the seeds (A) and surface papillae (B). The black curved line specifies the part of the seed circumference where the density of papillae was determined. The longitudinal border of this part is a plane halving the vector of maximal seed length and perpendicular to it (indicated by a dotted line). The character PapRat was computed by dividing the width of the papilla head by the width of the neck.

#### Acknowledgements

We are indebted to Kateřina Šumberová and the companies Školní rybářství Protivín, Rybářství Hluboká cz. s.r.o., Lesy a rybníky města Českých Budějovic s.r.o., Klatovské rybářství a.s., Rybářství Nové Hrady s.r.o., Blatenská ryba s.r.o., Rybářství Kardašova Řečice s.r.o., Rybářství Třeboň a.s., Rybářství Růžička s.r.o., and Český rybářský svaz for their help with finding localities for our research. We are also much obliged to Jana Piherová for her help with morphological measurements. This work was supported by the project 138/2010/P from the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia and by the Ministry of Culture of the Czech Republic (DKRVO 2016/11, National Museum, 00023272) (P. Kúr) and by the project 14-36079G (Centre of Excellence PLADIAS) from the Czech Science Foundation (M. Štech).

#### References

- Ascherson, P. & Graebner, P. (1893) Beiträge zur Kenntniss der norddeutschen Flora. *Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft* 11: 516–530.
- Bewley, J.D., Bradford, K. & Hilhorst, H. (2012) Seeds: physiology of development, germination and dormancy. Springer, New York, Heidelberg, Dordrecht, London, 392 pp.
- Breiman, L., Friedman, J., Stone, C.J. & Olshen, R.A. (1984). *Classification and regression trees*. Chapman & Hall, Pacific Grove, 368 pp.
- Brück, J., Caspari, S. & Später, A. (2012) Verbreitungsatlas der Farn- und Blütenpflanzen Deutschlands – Konsolidierung heterogener Verbreitungsdaten mittels einer Korrektur-Anwendung im Internet. *Floristische Rundbriefe* 45/46: 37–49.

- Čelakovský, L. (1881) Prodromus der Flora von Böhmen. Vol. 4. Archiv für die Naturwissenschaftliche Landesdurchforschung von Böhmen 4: 693–955.
- Chlupáč, I., Brzobohatý, R., Kovanda, J. & Stráník, Z. (2002) Geologická minulost České republiky. Academia, Praha, 440 pp.
- Chvojka, O., Pokorný, P., Šída, P., Žáčková, P., Kuneš, P., Světlík, I. & Veselý, J. (2010) Palaeoenvironmental research of the Schwarzenberg Lake, southern Bohemia, and exploratory excavations of this key Mesolithic archaeological area. *Památky Archeologické* 101: 5–38.
- Dostál, J. (1989) Nová květena ČSSR. Vol. 1. Academia, Praha, 758 pp.
- Dvořák, F. (1979) Některé výsledky studia druhu Spergularia echinosperma Čelak. Zprávy Československé Botanické Společnosti 14: 109–116.
- Dvořák, F. (1989) Chromosome counts and chromosome morphology of some selected species. Scripta Facultatis Scientiarum Naturalium Universitatis Purkynianae Brunensis, Biologia 19: 301–322.
- Dvořák, F. (1990) Spergularia kuřinka. In: Hejný, S. & Slavík, B. (Eds.) Květena České republiky 2. Academia, Praha, pp. 81–86.
- Fischer, M.A., Oswald, K. & Adler, W. (2008) *Exkursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein und Südtirol. Ed. 3.* Biologiezentrum der Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseen, Linz, 1380 pp.
- Friedrich, H.-C. (1979) Familie Caryophyllaceae. In: Rechinger, K.H. (Ed.) Gustav Hegi, Illustrierte Flora von Mitteleuropa. Vol. 3(2). Paul Parey, Berlin/Hamburg, pp. 763–1182.
- Goliašová, K. (2012) Spergularia (Pers.) J. Presl et C. Presl. Pakolenec. In: Goliašová, K. & Michalková, E. (Eds) Flóra Slovenska 6/3. Veda, Bratislava, pp. 88–99.
- Hartman, R.L. & Rabeler, R.K. (2005) Spergularia. In: Flora of North America Editorial Committee (Eds.) Flora of North America north of Mexico 5/2. Oxford University Press, New York & Oxford, pp. 16–23.
- Jage, H. (1974) Vorarbeiten zu einer Flora der Dübener Heide und ihrer näheren Umgebung. Verhandlungen des Botanischen Vereins der Provinz Brandenburg 109–111: 3–55.
- Jäger, E.J. (2011) *Exkursionsflora von Deutschland. Gefäßpflanzen: Grundband. Ed. 20.* Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Heidelberg, 930 pp.
- Kaplan, Z., Danihelka, J., Štěpánková, J., Ekrt, L., Chrtek Jr., J., Zázvorka, J., Grulich, V., Řepka, R., Prančl, J., Ducháček, M., Kúr, P., Šumberová, K. & Brůna, J. (2016) Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2. *Preslia* 88: 229–322.
- Koutecký, P. (2015) MorphoTools: a set of R functions for morphometric analysis. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 301: 1115–1121.
- Kúr, P., Košnar, J. & Štech, M. (2014) Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae). *Conservation Genetics Resources* 6: 571–573.
- Kúr, P., Košnar, J., Koutecký, P, Tremetsberger, K. & Štech, M. (2016) Origin of Spergularia ×kurkae, a hybrid between the rare endemic S. echinosperma and its widespread congener S. rubra. Preslia 88: 391–407.
- Kúr, P., Štech, M., Koutecký, P. & Trávníček, P. (2012) Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. *Preslia* 84: 905–924.

Linnaeus, C. (1753) Species Plantarum 1. Laurentius Salvius, Stockholm, 560 pp.

- Monnier, P. & Ratter, J.A. (1993) Spergularia (Pers.) J. & C. Presl. In: Tutin, T.G., Burges, N.A., Chater, A.O., Edmondson, J.R., Heywood, V.H., Moore, D.M., Valentine, D.H., Walters, S.M. & Webb, D.A. (Eds) Flora Europaea, ed. 2. Vol. 1. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 186–188.
- Pokorný, J. (2015) Úvod. In: Urbánek, M. (Ed.) České rybníky a rybářství ve 20. století. Typ, České Budějovice, 335 pp.
- Presl, J. & Presl, C. (1819) Flora Čechica. J. G. Calve, Prague, 224 pp.
- R Development Core Team (2015) *R: a language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. Available from <u>http://cran.r-project.org</u> (accessed: 28 May 2015)
- Šmilauer, P. & Lepš, J. (2014) *Multivariate analysis of ecological data using CANOCO 5*. *Second edition*. Cambridge university press, Cambridge, 376 pp.
- Suda, J., Kron, P., Husband, B.C. & Trávníček, P. (2007) Flow Cytometry and Ploidy: Applications in Plant Systematics, Ecology and Evolutionary Biology. *In*: Doležel, J., Greilhuber, J. & Suda, J. (Eds.) *Flow Cytometry with Plant Cells: Analysis of Genes, Chromosomes and Genomes*. Wiley-Vch, Weinheim, pp. 103–130.
- Šumberová, K. (2011) MA Isoëto-Nano-Juncetea Br.-Bl. et Tüxen ex Br.-Bl. et al. 1952. *In*: Chytrý, M. (Ed.) *Vegetace České republiky. 3 Vodní a mokřadní vegetace*. Academia, Praha, pp. 309–312.
- Šumberová, K., Horáková, V. & Lososová, Z. (2005) Vegetation dynamics on exposed pond bottoms in the Českobudějovická basin (Czech Republic). *Phytocoenologia* 35: 421–448.
- Venables, W.N. & Ripley, B.D. (2002) Modern applied statistics with S. Ed. 4. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 495 pp.

# **General conclusions**

The thesis extends significantly the current knowledge of the Central-European endemic *Spergularia echinosperma*. Conclusive evidence of the existence of *S. kurkae*, an allotetraploid hybrid between diploid *S. echinosperma* and tetraploid *S. rubra*, has been presented. Our data support *S. kurkae* as an independent taxon that mostly occurs in the absence of the parental species, which is consistent with its distinct morphological separation from the both parents. Although there are some indications of ongoing gene flow between *S. kurkae* and *S. rubra*, it appears to be rare, with little effect on the boundary between the taxa. In contrast, no evidence of gene flow from *S. rubra* to *S. echinosperma* was found, providing, despite concerns, no support for the threat of the genetic assimilation of *S. echinosperma*. We hypothesize that *S. kurkae* formed after *S. echinosperma* and *S. rubra* came into contact as a result of human-mediated introduction of *S. rubra* into fishponds

The distributions of *S. echinosperma*, *S. kurkae* and *S. rubra* in the Czech Republic have been mapped based on a large revision of herbarium specimens. The data shows that the distribution ranges of *S. echinosperma* and *S. kurkae* in the Czech Republic largely overlaps. The both species are most frequent in areas with many fishponds, i.e. Southern, South-Western and Eastern Bohemia, but *S. kurkae* is roughly twice as more abundant as *S. echinosperma*. *Spergularia rubra* is widespread thorough the country. The obtained data on morphology and distribution of the species have been applied in the *Spergularia* treatment for the upcoming new Key to the flora of the Czech Republic.

In addition, the taxonomic structure of *S. echinosperma* has been clarified. The existence of two infraspecific taxa, described at the subspecific rank, has been documented. *Spergularia echinosperma* (Čelak) A. et Gr. subsp. *echinosperma* is characterized by black seeds and is nearly exclusively distributed in South, South-West and West Bohemia. It grows exclusively in the bottoms of drained fishponds and may have its origin in natural lakes that were frequently transformed into fishponds in the past. *Spergularia echinosperma* subsp. *albensis* Kúr, Amarell, Jage & Štech differs from the nominal subspecies mainly by brown seed color and is distributed in the eastern part of the Czech Republic (Eastern Bohemia, Moravia and Silesia) and Germany. In the Czech Republic, it occurs in bottoms of drained fishponds and rarely in exposed margins of river reservoirs. In Germany, this subspecies is found exclusively in primary habitats, i.e. alluvial pools and river banks of the Elbe River.

Despite the considerable contribution of this work towards understanding the biology of *S. echinosperma* and its newly recognized congener *S. kurkae*, many unanswered questions remain. The global distributions of the both species needs to be mapped and the dubious reports of *S. echinosperma* from countries out of Central Europe examined. The unexpected vicariance of the two *S. echinosperma* subspecies also calls for further studies. Better insight into the evolutionary history and migration patterns of *S. echinosperma* will be hopefully provided with the aid of the microsatellite markers developed as a part of this thesis.

# **Curriculum vitae**

# Pavel Kúr

Date of birth: 28. 5. 1985 Nationality: Czech E-mail: kur.pavel@gmail.com

# Education

2004–2007	Bachelor's degree in Biology, Faculty of Biological Science, University of
	South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic
2007-2010	Master's degree in Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia,
	České Budějovice, Czech Republic
2010-present	Ph.D. study, specialization Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice

# Employment

2014-2016	laboratory technician at the Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague,
	Czech Republic

# Publications

### Journals with impact factor

**Kúr P.**, Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2012): Morphological and cytological variation in *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*, and notes on potential hybridization of these two species. – Preslia 84: 905–924.

**Kúr P.**, Košnar J. & Štech M. (2014): Characterization and cross-species amplification of 16 microsatellite loci in *Spergularia echinosperma* (Caryophyllales: Caryophyllaceae). – Conservation Genetics Resources 6: 571–573.

Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Štěpánková J., Ekrt L., Chrtek J., Zázvorka J., Grulich V., Řepka R., Prančl J., Ducháček M., **Kúr P.**, Šumberová K. & Brůna J. (2016): Distributions of vascular plants in the Czech Republic. Part 2. – Preslia 88: 229–322.

**Kúr P.**, Košnar J., Koutecký P., Tremetsberger K. & Štech M. (2016): Origin of *Spergularia*  $\times kurkae$ , a hybrid between the rare endemic *S. echinosperma* and its widespread congener *S. rubra*. – Preslia 88: 391–407.

Reviewed journals without impact factor and book chapters (in Czech)

Kocián P., Danihelka J., Lengyel A., Chrtek jun. J., Ducháček M. & **Kúr P.** (2016): Limonka Gmelinova (*Limonium gmelinii*) na dálnicích České republiky [*Limonium gmelinii* on the motorways in the Czech Republic]. – Acta rerum naturalium 19: 1–6.

**Kúr P.** & Ducháček M. (2016): Rod kuřinka (*Spergularia*) – výzva ke sledování [Genus *Spergularia* – an appeal for monitoring]. – Zprávy Moravskoslezské pobočky ČBS 5: 47–54.

Šumberová K. & **Kúr P.** (2013): *Spergularia echinosperma* agg. – okruh kuřinky ostnosemenné. – In: Lepší P., Lepší M., Boublík K., Štech M. & Hans V. (eds.), Červená kniha květeny jižní části Čech [Red data book of the flora of the southern part of Bohemia]: 390–392, Jihočeské muzeum v Českých Budějovicích, České Budějovice.

# **Research fellowships**

August 2013 – November 2013 University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, participation in the project "Polyploidy, ecological niche and demographic development of the wetland annual plant species *Cyperus fuscus*", supervised by Dr. Karin Tremetsberger.

# Conferences

**Kúr P.**, Štech M., Koutecký P. & Trávníček P. (2011): Species delimitation and potential hybridization between *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra*. – BioSystematics Berlin 2011, 21. – 27. 2. 2011.

**Kúr P.**, Košnar J. & Štech M. (2012): Molecular evidence for hybridization and introgression across a ploidy barrier between *Spergularia echinosperma* and *S. rubra* (Caryophyllaceae). – International Conference on Polyploidy, Hybridization, and Biodiversity, Průhonice, 7. – 10. 5. 2012.

# Membership in organizations

2008-present Czech botanical society

© for non-published parts Pavel Kúr

kur.pavel@gmail.com

Biosystematic revision of the *Spergularia echinosperma* complex Ph.D. Thesis Series, 2017, No. 1

All rights reserved For non-commercial use only

Printed in the Czech Republic by Typodesign Edition of 20 copies

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science Branišovská 1760 CZ-37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic

Phone: +420 387 776 201 www.prf.jcu.cz, e-mail: sekret-fpr@prf.jcu.cz